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Almost three million Norwegians use the 
Internet. A few years ago, very few people paid 
much attention to this medium. This is just one 
example of the fundamental changes that have 
drastically changed the media landscape over 
the past decade. We expect these changes to be at 
least as profound in the years to come. 

The changes have created some challenges and 
many opportunities for Schibsted. Our strategy 
has been to use our established positions as 
platforms for further growth. 

Schibsted aims to become the most attractive 
media company in Europe. This means that we 
have to change just as radically and quickly as 
the market in which we are operating. Only then 
can we live up to our promise of shaping the 
media of tomorrow – today.
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Schibsted Forlagene A
diaries are the core o
operations. This is No
publishing company.

Over the past decade,
number of online suc
aftonbladet.se, vg.no, 

Schibsted Forlagene is a leader in
yearbooks, biographies, history bo
mentaries, humorous books, book
drink and travel guides. It also pub
for children and young people, tra
and language courses. Schibsted 
one of Norway’s largest and oldes
of light reading, detective novels a
books.

the core of Schibsted’s
860 when Aftenposten

ed acquired VG in 1966
ed Aftonbladet in 1996.

hibsted’s newspapers are leaders not
Norway but also in Sweden, Estonia,

d Spain. More than 9.5 million people
of Schibsted’s newspapers each day.
operations are based on a publishing
n built on editorial independence and

integrity.

nd Sweden, Schibsted owns stakes
commercial TV channels, TV 2 and
ome Film & Television is the largest
m and TV producer in Scandinavia.
mpany has subsidiaries in Sweden,
mark and Finland. Sandrew Metro-
ding Nordic company in the field of
d distributing them to cinemas, on

DVD and to TV stations.

e leading players in the
or in Scandinavia. TV 2,
nd Sandrew Metronome

are key companies.
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Aftonbladet is by far Scandinavia’s
web site, while VG is number two.
largest online marketplace while B
same position in Sweden. Our stro
in the newspaper sector have esta
positions in their markets over the
a number of new web sites, such a
Sesam, have been launched.
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The combination of these two elements has
also led us to alter our group structure and re-
place the Newspaper and TV, Film & Publishing
business areas with a geographical model in
which Norway, Sweden and International are
new units.

This structure makes it natural for Schibsted to
play a more active group role than before. Our
subsidiaries are to keep their distinctive nature
and their freedom. This is necessary in order to
maintain and strengthen the internal diversity,
power to act and involvement that ensure new
growth. We must also develop and utilise the
advantages of being a large, international media
group.

This is why efficient collaboration is a key ph-
rase for us when developing the new Schibsted.

Kjell Aamot / President and CEO

”“Schibsted has outgrown its former vision, which had a 
Scandinavian perspective. W
tual situation and establish n
for Europe!”
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Kjell Aamot / President and CEO

are using the Internet. The print newspapers
circulation figures are declining. Schibsted’s
large subscription newspapers in Norway and
Sweden, Aftenposten and Svenska Dagbladet,
on the other hand, are increasing their circu-
lation figures but they are probably just the
exceptions that prove the rule.

are being developed faster than we have
nnovation and the growth opportunities crea-
aking place that it is important to demonstrate

eveloping existing operations and in relation to
ed in 2005.

ka Dagbladet and Aftonbladet, was launched
est web site in its segment. A corresponding
g Aftenposten and VG as joint venture partners.

ough its successful changeover to a tabloid
ine, A-magasinet. VG launched a new weekend
ska Dagbladet carries out a continuous pro-
and Aftonbladet is constantly developing new
g operations.

a, an online classified ads service, and Calle20,
paper was published in Russian, and willhaben.
ses and sales. These are only some of many
t of day in 2006.

ets. This is where we develop most of our pro-
r further international growth will come from
tise from Norway and Sweden to countries
e future media ownership, restrictions limit

This is one of the reasons for us raising our sights and looking beyond our previous geographically
defined boundaries. Most of the growth will take place in the international arena. This may often be
due to a Norwegian idea or Swedish concept that is exported to Europe. Schibsted’s media houses
are where most business development takes place.

Changes in people’s use of the media have meant that we have long had a focus on developing the
newspaper houses into media houses, with publishing operations in several channels.

Schibsted’s media companies

This provides clear competitive advant
when contents are to be offered in new
nels, whether these are mobile phones
pictures on the Internet. Schibsted ha
media companies on this level: Aftonb
Aftenposten, Svenska Dagbladet, Eest
and the free newspaper 20 Minutes.

Schibsted’s media companies are invo
both the traditional and digital media: 
pers, the Internet, TV, radio, magazine
phones and publishing operations. Aft
VG, Aftenposten and Svenska Dagblad
all expanded their operations from tra
newspaper production to providing ne
consumer articles and entertainment i
channels. The contact surface with us
expanded, providing both opportunitie
challenges. In many cases, these chan
complement one another, but they are
challenged to cultivate their product a
ges in the strong competition for read
and advertisers.

The media sector is undergoing a revolution,
perhaps especially in the Scandinavian market
where changes are taking place rapidly and new
user habits are being created at the same pace.
Technological innovations are constantly provi-
ding new opportunities. Media consumption has
increased both in scope and complexity.

The power centres in Schibsted’s development
lie in our media companies. Based on sound
newspaper positions, these companies have
developed strong
their users.
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Aftonbladet in Sweden is one of our foremost media companies. This brand is to be found
on a number of magazines, the Internet, TV, radio, mobile phones and newspapers. This
media house is far advanced, even by European standards, when it comes to product
development. Each month, Aftonbladet publishes 12-15 magazines and theme inserts, in
addition to being the Nordic region’s leading supplier of online news and services. The
Aftonbladet newspaper house was actually nominated as the publishing house of the
year in Sweden. Viktklubben.se, an online slimming guide, has 35 000 paying members
and around 100 000 people visit the media house’s IP-TV each day. In March 2006,
Aftonbladet was awarded a licence to broadcast TV using the new digital terrestrial
network.

Established views on the media picture’s composition are about to be proved wrong.
Newspapers are experiencing the challenges of falling circulation figures. Aftenposten
and Svenska Dagbladet, the two newspapers that have seen the greatest changes to
their products, are the exceptions to this. Developments are characterised by advertise-
ments being transferred to the Internet and by online versions constantly gaining ground.
At the same time, mobile phones have become a natural part of everyday life. Norway’s
largest newspaper, VG, lost 22 000 readers in 2005 but managed to establish a new
weekend magazine and launch a sports section on pink paper. VG TV saw growth of 70
per cent during the year while VG Nett had more than one million readers each day.

The free newspaper 20 Minutes is a leader in both Spain and France. Both 20 Minutos
and 20 Minutes have rapidly expanding online newspapers. Other products follow in their
wake, such as CompraVenta, a classified ads service for online purchases and sales in
Spain.

Eesti Media is Estonia’s largest media company, with operations relating to newspapers,
magazines, the Internet and radio in both Estonia and Lithuania.

By improving and further developing established products and through innovation under
the umbrellas of the media companies, we aim to turn our valuable knowledge into new
growth for Schibsted. In this way we will fulfil our promise of shaping the media of tomor-
row. Today.
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The power cen

Schibsted’s development and on the culture
within the Group. Many former trainees now
hold key positions in Schibsted.

Schibsted’s Sales Trainee Programme was
launched in 2006 with the goal of developing
future key personnel in the field of strategic
media sales. The candidates are recruited both
from within Schibsted and externally.
This programme is also a two-year one.

We compete in an international market and with
other sectors. In order to attract skilled employ-
ees, it is important to be able to offer the whole
of Schibsted as a development and career
platform. This was the reason for Schibsted’s
management programmes being established in
2003. The programmes create meeting places
where ideas are created and experiences are
shared. By the end of 2005, 60 managers and
middlemanagers from our companies had com-
pleted Schibsted’s management programmes.

Many of Schibsted’s subsidiaries have also
focused on organisational and expertise de-
velopment over the past few years. Aftonbladet
has this year conluded the fifth round of its
management programme and is planning the
sixth.  70 managers have completed the pro-
gramme, which started in 2001. In Aftenposten,
100 people have completed a 360-degree
manager-evaluation scheme involving individual
follow-up. In Svenska Dagbladet, 50 managers
have taken part in its management programme,
which started in 2004. This programme is fol-
lowed up by guidance groups which meet every
six months and in which the managers “coach”
each other. VG continuously arranges internal
programmes for new managers and makes
great use of the management programmes of-
fered by the industry in general.

Finn.no is the place where the employees most
enjoy working. Under the heading “Norway’s
happiest employees”, the winners of the “Great

Place to Work” survey were announced in
March 2006. In third place came Schibsted
company Finn.no, with its 110 employees.  This
organisation has grown constantly since it was
formed, both in revenue and number of employ-
ees. Its basic values, characterised by a liberal
attitude, good humour, precision and hunger, as
well as evaluation, follow-up, the Finn school,
management development and sales training,
are key to the spirit of this company.

In a media market that is changing more and
more rapidly and where the competition is
tougher, and in an employment market where
there is greater competition for the most skilled
people, we need organisations that have the
ability to do much more than before. This is why
organisational and expertise development is
one of the cornerstones of Schibsted’s strategy.

Continuous
development is
necessary for success

p

A flexible organisation:

Established market positions are no guarantee for future success. 
Schibsted is being challenged more strongly and more rapidly than 
before. This puts great demands on our employees, their expertise 
an
Sc

laboration, and establish new channels under
already strong brands.

Näringsliv24 is a successful example of how we
create new traffic and meet new users through 
a combination of our existing products. This 
Swedish web site was established in October 
2005 and quickly became the second most visi-
ted site in its segment. n24.se is a collaboration 
between Svenska Dagbladet and Aftonbladet. 
n24.no will be launched by Aftenposten and VG
in the first half of 2006.

News and media content no longer come from 
editorial environments alone. The user-genera-
ted content on the Internet has exploded and 
bloggers are increasing in number. An example 
of this is Aftenposten’s youth pages. Si;D has
become a brave, successful debate forum, for 
and by young people, online and in the print
edition.  Each day, Aftenposten’s editorial staff 
receives text messages, letters and e-mails
from young people who want to be heard or to 
reply to the ideas sent in by other people. The 
issues discussed range from politics to broken
hearts, religion, sex and equal opportunities. 
Si;D has been formed on young people’s terms,
on a platform that has traditionally belonged to 
the older generation.

Schibsted’s commitment to free newspapers is 
also aimed at a young, urban public. 20 Minutes
is published in Spain and France, where these
are leading newspapers. The editorial content
is locally adapted to the towns in which the

newspapers are published, and the newspapers 
are distributed in the morning rush hour. In this 
way, we meet new, young readers and establish
reading habits in an attractive target group that
formerly did not read newspapers. 20 Minutes 
has around six million readers each day and is 
published in 27 towns in three countries.

The news picture over the past year has also 
shown us that it is people out there, not 
journalists, who are often the first on site and 
can report what is happening. The first pictures 
and comments from the tsunami disaster 
came from people who were there when this 
happened, using their mobile phones, and not 
from journalists. A dialogue with our public as 
potential news suppliers is therefore becoming 
more and more important and a prerequisite for
being the first to publish the news.

Schibsted’s companies are well equipped to 
face the challenges posed by these radical 
changes. We have strong brands that are
developing positively and have a huge potential.
International comparisons show that our 
companies are very advanced when it comes to 
understanding the new framework conditions 
provided by new technology and new media 
usage. However, for a group like Schibsted that 
is aiming to influence how the media develop in
the future, it is crucial to become even better at
understanding how user habits change and use 
this to create better and better products. 

Will we gradually watch most TV on our mobile

phones or read the newspaper in an electronic
format? Will the large search engines take over
the traffic on the Internet? Or will the estab-
lished brands and niche offers be successful?
How can we understand our users so wellthat 
we could have predicted a few years ago that 
many people today would pay NOK 20 for a 
ringing tone but not NOK 10 for a whole song…

It’s difficult to know how the media market will 
develop in future, but Schibsted is putting eve-
rything into making its products as attractive as
possible. We will do everything we can
stand the media users of the future so 
can shape the media of tomorrow. Tod

Few sectors change as quickly as the media 
industry. Technological developments challenge the
existing state of affairs and provide us with new 
opportunities all the time. Innovation and prod-
uct development are key areas of commitment for
Schibsted.

Insight and innovation:

medium. We see that new media are helping to
strengthen the traditional media while also chal-
lenging each other and establishing powerful 
positions alone.

Young people are a group that sets new stan-
dards for media consumption and challenges
established products. The members of this
target group use media to a large extent in a 
social framework, such as msn, mobile phones 
and communities, and are looking for services 
that can build and strengthen their identities. 
The explosive increase in mobile phone usage 
will give contents suppliers considerable oppor-
tunities in the years to come. The developments 
in usage, functionality and bandwidth will open 
up completely new opportunities for contents
suppliers.  VG is Norway’s biggest media 
company in the mobile phone sector and is 
continuing to grow. 

For Schibsted, there are several aspects
involved in aggressive product development. 
We must further develop our newspapers, 
export successful concepts, utilise the power in 
the various subsidiaries through increased col-

Media users are becoming more and more ad-
vanced and less homogenous, helped by more 
channels and new technology.  While traditional 
media channels were mainly based on one-way 
communication, our relationship with our users 
is more and more characterised by greater in-
teractiveness through user-generated content, 
feedback and discussions on the Internet.

More and more people watch TV online and 
receive live pictures on their mobile phones. 
Although newspaper circulation figures in
Europe are declining, the total media con-
sumption figures are rising. The way in which 
we use media is more varied than before. This 
gives Schibsted exciting opportunities but also 
means that we have to be innovative and make 
considerable investments in order to be ahead 
of the furious pace of developments. This is why 
an understanding and knowledge of changed 
media habits is crucial to Schibsted.

Our media companies must work in a coordi-
nated fashion across channel boundaries and 
utilise the strengths that lie in each individual
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In 1995, Schibsted’s ambition was to be a leading Scandinavian
media company. A decade later, this ambition has been raised
to a European level, One  the reasons is the fact that a good
idea knows no national boundaries.

One example of the export of successful
concepts over national boundaries is the rapidly
growing Spanish web site CompraVenta.com.
CompraVenta.com is blocket.se’s Spanish
twin and was launched in March 2005. It has
become the second-largest classified ads web
site in the Spanish market. This web site is
visited by more than 100 000 users each day
and has more than 100 million page showings
each month.

The growth in Europe is based on two pillars.
The first has been mentioned: the export of
established concepts from the Scandinavian

markets. The other is just as important: the ex-
port of expertise and the development of crea-
tive, flexible organisations. In order to succeed
in Europe, we must build expertise and develop
organisations and ways of collaborating that
will make us one of the leading companies in
Europe. This is why Europe is not only a growth
area for Schibsted, it also signals our raised
level of ambition.  It indicates our ambition to
be equal to the leading companies in Europe in
critical areas such as sales, marketing, organi-
sation and innovation.

Unless we understand changed media habits

better than our competitors and can use such
knowledge to develop both traditional and new
media, we will not succeed in realising our
“European dream”. Nor will we succeed with
our high ambitions if we are not equal to the
leading companies with regard to the develop-
ment of managers and organisations.

Such development of expertise, organisations
and our Group is long-term work. We have just
begun - but we are serious. That’s the only way
in which we will in time succeed in becoming
the most attractive media group in Europe and
shape the media of tomorrow. Today.

A good idea knows
no boundaries

A European ambition:

Schibsted now has operations in 11 European
countries and wishes to further expand in
Europe. The Group is currently a leading media
company in Scandinavia. Our domestic markets
are Norway and Sweden, but we also have
operations in Denmark, Finland, Estonia, Latvia,
Lithuania, France, Spain, Austria and Russia.
Schibsted had 5 360 employees at year-end, 2
880 of whom worked outside Norway.

Schibsted is a company that is changing – in
a sector that is being radically transformed.
We are a media group with Scandinavian roots
and European ambitions. Our history stretches
back to 1839, but we are nonetheless a young
company in a sector where major changes are
taking place. Up to 1995, Schibsted’s opera-
tions were in Norway. The Group then started
its internationalisation process by acquiring
companies in Sweden and Estonia and gradu-
ally establishing companies in other European
countries.

Thorough work on Schibsted’s vision was
carried out in 2005 and new ambitions were de-
fined. Our new ambitions mean that Schibsted

now defines itself as a European group. That
means that we are in the process of intensify-
ing our hunt for new market opportunities in
Europe. It also means that we intend in time to
be equal to the leading companies in Europe
when it comes to sales, innovation, organisatio-
nal development and marketing.

When Schibsted bought Aftonbladet in 1996,
this was a major newspaper in Sweden.
Today, Aftonbladet is one of Europe’s leading
online newspapers and a pioneer in the field of
Internet-based TV and online payment services.
It is a media company with a great ability to
think in new ways and create new products.
The knowledge built by Aftonbladet, VG and
our other media companies of the interaction
between established positions and new media
forms much of the basis for our ambitions to
achieve further growth. In addition, Scandinavia
is a laboratory for future media developments,
especially those relating to the Internet and
mobile telephony. Being among the foremost in
Scandinavia provides us with unique opportu-
nities to export our concepts and expertise to
other markets in and outside Europe.
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Schibsted entered into a strategic partnership with Grupo 

Zeta in Spain, which bought 20 per cent of 20 Minutos 

España. VG launched a daily sports news section printed 

on pink paper. FINN.no recorded its best quarterly result 

ever and achieved an operating margin of 50 per cent. 

Aftonbladet achieved historically high advertising revenues.  

The online activities’ revenues grew by 52 per cent 

compared to the 2nd quarter of 2004. The online activities 

accounted for 20 per cent of the Group’s operating profit 

(EBITA). 

Q2.05Q1.05

CIRCULATION 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Aftenposten morning edition, weekdays  252 746    249 861   256 600  263 000 262 632
Aftenposten Aften - afternoon edition weekdays  141 609  148 067   155 400  163 900 167 671
Aftenposten - Sunday 223 212    220 149   232 900  234 700 229 857

Verdens Gang - weekdays 343 702     365 266   380 190   390 510 387 508
Verdens Gang - Sunday  298 736    315 103   314 730   314 422 317 051

Aftonbladet - weekdays 428 422    444 100   442 100   435 900 401 500
Aftonbladet - Sunday 501 428 504 300 489 400  489 800 468 000

Svenska Dagbladet - weekdays  187 200   179 200    184 600   184 600 172 945
Svenska Dagbladet - Sunday 197 100   190 800    194 600   194 300 185 8164
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Aftenposten successfully converted to tabloid format.

Aftonbladet bought Hitta and Teleadress and thus 

established a presence in the growing market for online 

directories. Schibsted Mobile merged with Sweden’s 

Aspiro. Schibsted became the largest owner of this company 

and recorded a profit of NOK 88 million. 20 Minuten in 

Switzerland was sold to tamedia, a Swiss media house. The 

sale gave Schibsted a profit of NOK 200 million. Schibsted 

signed a contract to buy additional shares in Sweden’s TV4.

CompraVenta, an online classified ads service like 

Sweden’s Blocket, was established in Spain.



 Growth in circulation for Aftenposten’s morning edition 

and Svenska Dagbladet.  20 Minutes launched in Spain in 

Vigo, Coruna, Bilbao, Valladolid and Cordoba. The news-

paper is thus represented in 14 Spanish towns.  20 Minutes 

France was launched in Strasbourg and is thus represented 

in eight French towns.  Calle20 – a free monthly magazine 

based on 20 Minutes was launched in Spain.  Sandrew 

Metronome sold its cinemas in Sweden.  The best third 

quarter ever for Svenska Dagbladet. 

Q3.05Q4.05
The acquisition of Internettkatalogen, an internet service 

for search in Norwegian companies, goods and services. 

Aftenposten and VG launched their respective weekend 

magazines, A-magasinet and VG Helg. Both magazines were 

well received in the market. Aftonbladet and Svenska 

Dagbladet launched Näringsliv24 (n24.se) which immedi-

ately became the second-largest web site for business news 

in Sweden. Schibsted Søk launched Sesam, a search serv-

ice, as ”a new Norwegian search engine that helps you find 

just what you want and not all other kinds of things”. 20

Minutos became the most read general newspaper in Spain 

with 2 289 000 readers, an increase of 13 per cent since the 

previous readership survey. Schibsted launched a Russian 

version of the largest Estonian AM newspaper, Postimees in 

Tallinn.

highlights

ADVERTISING VOLUMES (COLUMN METERS) 2005  2004  2003 2002 2001
Aftenposten 77 160 70 588   66 152     60 366  60 735 
Verdens Gang  8 411  7 203   7 489  7 186   7 416 
Aftonbladet 14 871 14 633   11 281   9 638  9 930 
Svenska Dagbladet 22 240 18 366  19 891    20 271   19 965 
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Schibsted implemented a new Group structure based on 

a geographical model, with Norway, Sweden and Inter-

national as units. Gunnar Strömblad was appointed new 

executive vice president with responsibility for Sweden. 

Willhaben.at was launched in Austria. The FINN concept for 

buying and selling online was established in collaboration 

with Styria, a local media house. Jobb24, a recruitment 

advertisement web site, was launched in a joint venture 

between Svenska Dagbladet and Näringsliv24. Dine 

Penger launched a new online personal finances service 

in a strategic joint venture with VG Nett. FINN Reise, a 

marketplace for tourism-related services, was launched.

VG and Aftenposten joined forces to establish n24.no, a 

new web site for financial and business news. Schibsted 

bought 50 per cent of the company that publishes ”Moi 

Rajon” (My District), a weekly free newspaper in 

St. Petersburg that is published in 11 local editions.

Q1.06
65%

17%
11%

4%
4%

OPERATIONS NEWSPAPERS
Aftenposten AS 100 %
Verdens Gang AS 100 %
Schibsted Trykk AS 100 %
European Media Ventures AS 100 % 
Aftonbladet Hierta AB*  100 %
20 Minutos Spania 80 %
 Svenska Dagbladet Holding AB 99 %
Scanpix Scandinavia AB 88 %
Blocket AB 69 %
FINN.no 62 %
Harstad Tidende Gruppen AS 51 %
20 Minutes Frankrike 50 %
Avisa Norland 38 %
Adresseavisen ASA 36 %
Stavanger Aftenblad ASA 31 %
Tidningarnas Telegrambyrå AB 30 %

Andøyposten 28 %
Fædrelandsvennen AS 25 %
Bergens Tidende AS 24 %
NTB AS 22 %

OPERATIONS BALTICS
AS Schibsted Baltics 100 %
AS Kanal 2 100 %
AS Eesti Meedia 93 %
UAB Zurnalu Leidybos Grupe (ZLG) 67 % 
Laikastis Tau (LT) 51 %

OPERATIONS TV/FILM
Metronome Film & Television AB 65 %
Sandrew Metronome AB 50 %
TV 2 Gruppen AS 33 %
TV4 AB 27 %

OPERATIONS PUBLISHING
Schibsted Forlagene AS 100 %
Schibsted Förlagen AB 100 %
Svenska Förlaget AB 100 %
Manga Media AB 50 %
Dagens Medisin AS 50 %

OTHER OPERATIONS
Schibsted Søk AS 100 %
Internettkatalogen 100 %
Aspiro 44 %

OPERATING PROFIT (EBITA)

PER BUSINESS AREA

(Excl. Other areas) 

Operating profit (EBITA) per business area

(Excl. Other areas) 

*Aftonbladet Hierta AB is owned by Schibsted and the Swedish Federation of Trade Unions. The Swedish Federation of Trade Unions owns 50.1% of the voting shares through preference 
shares with a fixed annual yield (SEK 3.6 million). Schibsted owns 49.9% of the voting shares and is the owner responsible for Aftonbladet’s industrial and financial development.

OPERATING PROFIL (EBIT) NOK MILLION OPERATING REVENUES NOK BILLION
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IFRS NGAAP 
(NOK million) 2005 2004 2004 2003 2002 2001

Operating revenues 9 832 9 690 9 690 8 555 7 872 7 972
Operating expenses -8 709  -8 458 (8 432) (7 422) (6 948) (7 309)
Income from associated companies 198 84    
Operating profit (loss) (EBITDA) 1 321 1 316 1 258 1 133 924 663
Depreciation and amortisation -344  -376 (374) (354) (375) (391)
Operating profit (loss) before goodwill       
and other revenues and expenses (EBITA) 977 940 884 779 549 272
Operating profit (loss) (EBIT) 1 161 514 326 701 494 56
Profit (loss) before taxes 1 177 476 412 681 271 (387)

      
Operating margin:       
EBITDA margin (%) 13.4 13.6 13.0 13.2 11.7 8.3
EBITA margin (%) 9.9 9.7 9.1 9.1 7.0 3.4
EBIT margin (%) 11.8 5.3 3.4 8.2 6.3 0.7  
Profit ratio (%) 8.9 2.5 1.8 5.5 2.0 (5.4)
Equity ratio (%) 40.6 32.8 32.7 36.6 34.1 32.0
Return on equity (%) 33.5 10.5 7.5 21.5 7.6 (18.1)
Return on total assets (%) 16.2 7.7 6.9 11.3 5.8 (3.4)
Net interest bearing debt / EBITDA 0.6 0.9 1.0 0.7 1.1 2.1
EPS (NOK) 12.91 3.55 2.55 6.92 2.26 (6.28)
EPS diluted (NOK) 12.89 3.55 2.55 6.92 2.26 (6.28)
Cash flow per share (NOK) 18.53 15.39 15.40 14.53 9.25 5.44
RISK per share   1.21 3.27 1.19 4.79

      
NEWSPAPERS       
Operating revenues 7 819 7 487 7 487 6 511 6 082 6 263
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) 909 868 858 628 474 239
Operating profit (loss) (EBIT) 1 002 475 405 587 379 91
Operating margin (EBITA) (%) 11.6 11.6 11.5 9.6 7.8 3.8

      
BALTICS       
Operating revenues 388 327 327 288 242 220
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) 41 26 26 28 16 0
Operating profit (loss) (EBIT) 41 26 13 15 (2) (25)
Operating margin (EBITA) (%) 10.7 8.0 7.8 9.7 6.6 0.2

      
TV/FILM       
Operating revenues 1 168 1 282 1 282 1 258 1 131 1 107
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) 111 67 23 66 26 52
Operating profit (loss) (EBIT) 103 -11 (59) 50 10 26
Operating margin (EBITA) (%) 9.5 5.2 1.8 5.2 2.3 4.7

      
PUBLISHING       
Operating revenues 356 344 344 349 339 320
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) 44 34 34 35 34 19
Operating profit (loss) (EBIT) 44 33 24 26 25 5
Operating margin (EBITA) (%) 12.3 9.9 9.9 10.1 10.1 5.9

Accounting principles
As from 2005, Schibsted reports its consolidated accounts
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), pursuant to the requirements that apply to
listed companies. In addition, comparable figures have been
prepared for 2004. The figures shown for years prior to 2004
are in accordance with previously used accounting principles
(NGAAP).

DEFINITIONS
Operating margin: 
EBITDA margin : Operating profit (loss) before depreciation
and amortisation, goodwill and other revenues and expenses
/Operating revenues
EBITA margin: Operating profit (loss) before goodwill and
other revenues and expenses/Operating revenues
EBIT margin: Operating profit (loss)/Operating revenues
Profit ratio: Net income (loss) attributable to majority inte-
rests/Operating revenues
Equity ratio: Equity/Total assets

Return on equity: Net income (loss) attributable to majority
interests/Average equity excl. minority interests
Return on total assets: (Profit (loss) before taxes + interest
expenses)/Average total assets
EPS: Net income (loss) attributable to majority interests/
Average number of shares
Cash flow per share: (Profit (loss) before taxes + depreciati-
on and amortisation +/- net changes in pensions +/- income
from associated companies – taxes payable)/Average
number of shares

key figures
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online

publishing

Schibsted Forlagene AS and its Swedish subsi-
diaries are the core of Schibsted’s publishing 
operations. This is Norway’s fifth largest 
publishing company.

Over the past decade, Schibsted has created a 
number of online success stories, such as 
aftonbladet.se, vg.no, finn.no and blocket.se.

Schibsted Forlagene is a leader in the field of
yearbooks, biographies, history books, docu-
mentaries, humorous books, books on food and
drink and travel guides. It also publishes books
for children and young people, translated fiction
and language courses. Schibsted Forlagene is
one of Norway’s largest and oldest publishers
of light reading, detective novels and comic
books.
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Aftonbladet is by far Scandinavia’s largest media
web site, while VG is number two. FINN is Norway’s
largest online marketplace while Blocket holds the
same position in Sweden. Our strong brand names
in the newspaper sector have established dominant
positions in their markets over the past decade and
a number of new web sites, such as Hitta, N24 and
Sesam, have been launched.
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newspapers

tv/film

Newspapers have been the core of Schibsted’s 
operations ever since 1860 when Aftenposten 

was established. Schibsted acquired VG in 1966 
and purchased Aftonbladet in 1996.

Today, Schibsted’s newspapers are leaders not
only in Norway but also in Sweden, Estonia,

France and Spain. More than 9.5 million people
read one of Schibsted’s newspapers each day.

Schibsted’s operations are based on a publishing
tradition built on editorial independence and

integrity.

In Norway and Sweden, Schibsted owns stakes
in the largest commercial TV channels, TV 2 and
TV4. Metronome Film & Television is the largest

independent film and TV producer in Scandinavia.
This company has subsidiaries in Sweden,

Norway, Denmark and Finland. Sandrew Metro-
nome is a leading Nordic company in the field of

buying films and distributing them to cinemas, on
DVD and to TV stations.

Schibsted is one of the leading players in the 
TV and film sector in Scandinavia. TV 2, 

TV 4, Metronome and Sandrew Metronome 
are key companies. 
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Resolve 
when everyt h

“Schibsted has outgrown its former vision, which had a 
Scandinavian perspective. We had reason to adjust to the 
actual situation and establish new ambitions. Now we’re 
going for Europe!”

Schibsted has outgrown its former vision – now 
we’re going for Europe! The vision established 
in 1995 had a Scandinavian perspective – it has 
served its purpose and is becoming out-of-date. 
We have come to a point where we have to 
adjust to the current situation and establish our 
new ambition – to be the most attractive media 
group in Europe. 

2005 was a wonderful year for Schibsted. We 
achieved our best results ever, with revenues 
of NOK 9.8 billion and a profit of almost NOK 
1 billion. Our core activity produced excellent 
results, well helped by the period of strong 
economic expansion and buoyant advertising 
markets. 2005 was also a very important year 
for Schibsted in other ways.

Our financial position is the best ever and our 
market position is stronger than it has ever 
been. Our organisation has undergone major 
improvements and, after a long, thorough 
process, we are facing the future with new 
strategies and high ambitions. 

This has been necessary because the media 
revolution is continuing. The number of chan-
nels is increasing and more and more people 
are using the Internet. The print newspapers’ 
circulation figures are declining. Schibsted’s 
large subscription newspapers in Norway and 
Sweden, Aftenposten and Svenska Dagbladet, 
on the other hand, are increasing their circu-
lation figures but they are probably just the 
exceptions that prove the rule. S
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The combination of these two elements 
has also led us to alter our group structure 
and replace the Newspaper and TV, Film & 
Publishing business areas with a geogra-
phical model in which Norway, Sweden and 
International are new units. 

This structure makes it natural for Schibsted to 
play a more active group role than before. Our 
subsidiaries are to keep their distinctive nature 
and their freedom. This is necessary in order to 
maintain and strengthen the internal diversity, 
power to act and involvement that ensure new 
growth. We must also develop and utilise the 
advantages of being a large, international media 
group.

This is why efficient collaboration is a key 
phrase for us when developing the new 
Schibsted. 

hing is changing
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Kjell Aamot / President and CEO

Changes are taking place more quickly and products are being developed faster than we have 
hitherto been used to. So it is important to focus on innovation and the growth opportunities crea-
ted by the media revolution. It is when changes are taking place that it is important to demonstrate 
resolve.

Schibsted has played an active role both in further developing existing operations and in relation to 
new projects. Several new companies were established in 2005.

Näringsliv24 (n24.se), a joint venture between Svenska Dagbladet and Aftonbladet, was launched 
in Sweden and immediately became the second-largest web site in its segment. A corresponding 
project will be launched in Norway (n24.no), involving Aftenposten and VG as joint venture partners.

Aftenposten strengthened its newspaper version through its successful changeover to a tabloid 
format and subsequent launch of its weekend magazine, A-magasinet. VG launched a new weekend 
insert as well as a sports section on pink paper. Svenska Dagbladet carries out a continuous pro-
cess that produces frequent product improvements, and Aftonbladet is constantly developing new 
products to supplement its traditional news publishing operations. 

In Spain, 20 Minutos has launched both CompraVenta, an online classified ads service, and Calle20, 
a monthly magazine. In Estonia, the Postimees newspaper was published in Russian, and willhaben.
at was established in Austria as a web site for purchases and sales. These are only some of many 
examples, and several new initiatives will see the light of day in 2006.

Norway and Sweden are Schibsted’s domestic markets. This is where we develop most of our 
products. Many of the ideas that are to form the basis for further international growth will come 
from here. Succeeding with this export of ideas and expertise from Norway and Sweden to coun-
tries outside Scandinavia will be especially important in the future media ownership, as restrictions 
limit Schibsted’s opportunities for growth in Norway. 

This is one of the reasons for us raising our sights and looking beyond our previous geographically 
defined boundaries. Most of the growth will take place in the international arena. This may often be 
due to a Norwegian idea or Swedish concept that is exported to Europe. Schibsted’s media houses 
are where most business development takes place. 

Changes in people’s use of the media have meant that we have long had a focus on developing the 
newspaper houses into media houses, with publishing operations in several channels. 



In 1995, Schibsted’s ambition was to be a leading Scandinavian 
media company. A decade later, this ambition has been raised 
to a European level. One reason is the fact that a good idea 
knows no national boundaries.

A good idea knows 
no boundaries

A European ambition:

Schibsted now has operations in 11 European 
countries and wishes to further expand in 
Europe. The Group is currently a leading media 
company in Scandinavia. Our domestic markets 
are Norway and Sweden, but we also have 
operations in Denmark, Finland, Estonia, Latvia, 
Lithuania, France, Spain, Austria and Russia. 
Schibsted had 5 360 employees at year-end, 
2 880 of whom worked outside Norway.

Schibsted is a company that is changing – in 
a sector that is being radically transformed. 
We are a media group with Scandinavian roots 
and European ambitions. Our history stretches 
back to 1839, but we are nonetheless a young 
company in a sector where major changes are 
taking place. Up to 1995, Schibsted’s opera-
tions were in Norway. The Group then started 
its internationalisation process by acquiring 
companies in Sweden and Estonia and gradu-
ally establishing companies in other European 
countries.

Thorough work on Schibsted’s vision was car-
ried out in 2005 and new ambitions were 
defined. Our new ambitions mean that 

Schibsted now defines itself as a European 
group. That means that we are in the process of 
intensifying our hunt for new market opportu-
nities in Europe. It also means that we intend 
in time to be equal to the leading companies 
in Europe when it comes to sales, innovation, 
organisational development and marketing. 

When Schibsted bought Aftonbladet in 1996, 
this was a major newspaper in Sweden. 
Today, Aftonbladet is one of Europe’s leading 
online newspapers and a pioneer in the field of 
Internet-based TV and online payment services. 
It is a media company with a great ability to 
think in new ways and create new products. 
The knowledge built by Aftonbladet, VG and 
our other media companies of the interaction 
between established positions and new media 
forms much of the basis for our ambitions to 
achieve further growth. In addition, Scandinavia 
is a laboratory for future media developments, 
especially those relating to the Internet and 
mobile telephony. Being among the foremost in 
Scandinavia provides us with unique opportu-
nities to export our concepts and expertise to 
other markets in and outside Europe.
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One example of the export of successful 
concepts over national boundaries is the rapidly 
growing Spanish web site CompraVenta.com.
CompraVenta.com is blocket.se’s Spanish 
twin and was launched in March 2005. It has 
become the second-largest classified ads web 
site in the Spanish market. This web site is 
visited by more than 100 000 users each day 
and has more than 100 million page showings 
each month.

The growth in Europe is based on two pillars. 
The first has been mentioned: the export of 
established concepts from the Scandinavian 

markets. The other is just as important: the ex-
port of expertise and the development of crea-
tive, flexible organisations. In order to succeed 
in Europe, we must build expertise and develop 
organisations and ways of collaborating that 
will make us one of the leading companies in 
Europe. This is why Europe is not only a growth 
area for Schibsted, it also signals our raised 
level of ambition.  It indicates our ambition to 
be equal to the leading companies in Europe in 
critical areas such as sales, marketing, organi-
sation and innovation. 

Unless we understand changed media habits 

better than our competitors and can use such 
knowledge to develop both traditional and new 
media, we will not succeed in realising our 
“European dream”. Nor will we succeed with 
our high ambitions if we are not equal to the 
leading companies with regard to the develop-
ment of managers and organisations.

Such development of expertise, organisations 
and our Group is long-term work. We have just 
begun - but we are serious. That’s the only way 
in which we will in time succeed in becoming 
the most attractive media group in Europe and 
shape the media of tomorrow. Today.
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Schibsted’s media companies:

This provides clear competitive advantages
when contents are to be offered in new chan-
nels, whether these are mobile phones or live
pictures on the Internet. Schibsted has six
media companies on this level: Aftonbladet, VG,
Aftenposten, Svenska Dagbladet, Eesti Media
and the free newspaper 20 Minutes.

Schibsted’s media companies are involved in
both the traditional and digital media: news-
papers, the Internet, TV, radio, magazines,
mobile phones and publishing operations.
Aftonbladet, VG, Aftenposten and Svenska
Dagbladet have all expanded their operations
from traditional newspaper production to pro-
viding news, consumer articles and entertain-
ment in several channels. The contact surface
with users has expanded, providing both
opportunities and challenges. In many
cases, these channels complement one
another, but they are also challenged to
cultivate their product advantages in the strong
competition for readers, users and advertisers.

The media sector is undergoing a revolution,
perhaps especially in the Scandinavian market
where changes are taking place rapidly and new
user habits are being created at the same pace.
Technological innovations are constantly pro-
 viding new opportunities. Media consumption
has increased both in scope and complexity.

The power centres in Schibsted’s development 
lie in our media companies. Based on sound 
newspaper positions, these companies have 
developed strong brands and close ties with 
their users. 
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Aftonbladet in Sweden is one of our foremost media companies. This brand is to be found
on a number of magazines, the Internet, TV, radio, mobile phones and newspapers. This
media house is far advanced, even by European standards, when it comes to product
development. Each month, Aftonbladet publishes 12-15 magazines and theme inserts, in
addition to being the Nordic region’s leading supplier of online news and services. The
Aftonbladet newspaper house was actually nominated as the publishing house of the
year in Sweden. Viktklubben.se, an online slimming guide, has 35 000 paying members
and around 100 000 people visit the media house’s IP-TV each day. In March 2006,
Aftonbladet was awarded a licence to broadcast TV using the new digital terrestrial
network.

Established views on the media picture’s composition are about to be proved wrong.
Newspapers are experiencing the challenges of falling circulation figures. Aftenposten
and Svenska Dagbladet, the two newspapers that have seen the greatest changes to
their products, are the exceptions to this. Developments are characterised by advertise-
ments being transferred to the Internet and by online versions constantly gaining ground.
At the same time, mobile phones have become a natural part of everyday life. Norway’s
largest newspaper, VG, lost 22 000 readers in 2005 but managed to establish a new
weekend magazine and launch a sports section on pink paper. VG TV saw growth of 70
per cent during the year while VG Nett had more than one million readers each day.

The free newspaper 20 Minutes is a leader in both Spain and France. Both 20 Minutos
and 20 Minutes have rapidly expanding online newspapers. Other products follow in their
wake, such as CompraVenta, a classified ads service for online purchases and sales in
Spain.

Eesti Media is Estonia’s largest media company, with operations relating to newspapers,
magazines, the Internet and radio in both Estonia and Lithuania.

By improving and further developing established products and through innovation under
the umbrellas of the media companies, we aim to turn our valuable knowledge into new
growth for Schibsted. In this way we will fulfil our promise of shaping the media of tomor-
row. Today.

S
ch

ib
sted

’s m
ed

ia
 com

p
a
n
ies  // 

S
ch

ib
sted

 A
n
n
u
a
l R

ep
ort 2

0
0
5

1
9

our development



We are creating 
the new arena

Few sectors change as quickly as the media industry. 
Technological developments challenge the existing 
state of affairs and provide us with new opportunities 
all the time. Innovation and product development are 
key areas of commitment for Schibsted. 

Insight and innovation:

medium. We see that new media are helping to 
strengthen the traditional media while also 
challenging each other and establishing 
powerful positions alone.  

Young people are a group that sets new stan-
dards for media consumption and challenges 
established products. The members of this 
target group use media to a large extent in a 
social framework, such as msn, mobile phones 
and communities, and are looking for services 
that can build and strengthen their identities. 
The explosive increase in mobile phone usage 
will give contents suppliers considerable oppor-
tunities in the years to come. The developments 
in usage, functionality and bandwidth will open 
up completely new opportunities for contents 
suppliers. VG is Norway’s biggest media 
company in the mobile phone sector and is 
continuing to grow. 

For Schibsted, there are several aspects invol-
ved in aggressive product development. We 
must further develop our newspapers, export 
successful concepts, utilise the power in the 
various subsidiaries through increased 

Media users are becoming more and more ad-
vanced and less homogenous, helped by more 
channels and new technology.  While traditional 
media channels were mainly based on one-way 
communication, our relationship with our users 
is more and more characterised by greater in-
teractiveness through user-generated content, 
feedback and discussions on the Internet. 

More and more people watch TV online and 
receive live pictures on their mobile phones. 
Although newspaper circulation figures in 
Europe are declining, the total media consum-
ption figures are rising. The way in which we 
use media is more varied than before. This 
gives Schibsted exciting opportunities but also 
means that we have to be innovative and make 
considerable investments in order to be ahead 
of the furious pace of developments. This is why 
an understanding and knowledge of changed 
media habits is crucial to Schibsted. 

Our media companies must work in a coordi-
nated fashion across channel boundaries and 
utilise the strengths that lie in each individual 
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collaboration, and establish new channels 
under already strong brands. 

Näringsliv24 is a successful example of how we 
create new traffic and meet new users through 
a combination of our existing products. This 
Swedish web site was established in October 
2005 and quickly became the second most visi-
ted site in its segment. n24.se is a collaboration 
between Svenska Dagbladet and Aftonbladet. 
n24.no will be launched by Aftenposten and VG
in the first half of 2006. 

News and media content no longer come from 
editorial environments alone. The user-genera-
ted content on the Internet has exploded and 
bloggers are increasing in number. An example 
of this is Aftenposten’s youth pages. Si;D has 
become a brave, successful debate forum, for 
and by young people, online and in the print 
edition.  Each day, Aftenposten’s editorial staff 
receives text messages, letters and e-mails 
from young people who want to be heard or to 
reply to the ideas sent in by other people. The 
issues discussed range from politics to broken 
hearts, religion, sex and equal opportunities. 
Si;D has been formed on young people’s terms, 
on a platform that has traditionally belonged to 
the older generation.

Schibsted’s commitment to free newspapers is 
also aimed at a young, urban public. 20 Minutes 

is published in Spain and France, where these 
are leading newspapers. The editorial content 
is locally adapted to the towns in which the 
newspapers are published, and the newspapers 
are distributed in the morning rush hour. In this 
way, we meet new, young readers and establish 
reading habits in an attractive target group that 
formerly did not read newspapers. 20 Minutes 
has around six million readers each day and is 
published in 27 towns in three countries.

The news picture over the past year has also 
shown us that it is people out there, not 
journalists, who are often the first on site and 
can report what is happening. The first pictures 
and comments from the tsunami disaster 
came from people who were there when this 
happened, using their mobile phones, and not 
from journalists. A dialogue with our public as 
potential news suppliers is therefore becoming 
more and more important and a prerequisite for 
being the first to publish the news. 

Schibsted’s companies are well equipped to 
face the challenges posed by these radical 
changes. We have strong brands that are 
developing positively and have a huge potential. 
International comparisons show that our 
companies are very advanced when it comes to 
understanding the new framework conditions 
provided by new technology and new media 
usage. However, for a group like Schibsted that 

is aiming to influence how the media develop in 
the future, it is crucial to become even better at 
understanding how user habits change and use 
this to create better and better products. 

Will we gradually watch most TV on our mobile 
phones or read the newspaper in an electronic 
format? Will the large search engines take over 
the traffic on the Internet? Or will the estab-
lished brands and niche offers be successful? 
How can we understand our users so well that 
we could have predicted a few years ago that 
many people today would pay NOK 20 for a 
ringing tone but not NOK 10 for a whole song.

It’s difficult to know how the media market will 
develop in future, but Schibsted is putting eve-
rything into making its products as attractive as 
possible. We will do everything we can to under-
stand the media users of the future so that we 
can shape the media of tomorrow. Today.
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Continuous
development is
necessary for success

p

A flexible organisation:

Established market positions are no guarantee for future success. 
Schibsted is being challenged more strongly and more rapidly than 
before. This puts great demands on our employees, their expertise 
and their willingness to change, and also puts great demands on 
Schibsted as a group.

organisations. As a group, such a goal will not
be achieved until far into the future, but without
flexible, competent organisations we will not
succeed in achieving other ambitions – financial
and industrial ones. This is why we have such
high ambitions for our organisations.

Over the past few years, the Group has taken
a number of initiatives to support its expertise
and organisational development ambitions.
Schibsted’s Management Trainee Programme
was launched in 1997 with the aim of develo-
ping the managers of the future. 76 trainees
have completed this two-year programme. The
trainee programme has had a positive effect on

Attracting, keeping and further developing skil-
led employees are some of our most important
tasks. Schibsted’s managers and employees
are our most important resource and are crucial
for the Group’s further growth and develop-
ment. This is why developing expertise and our
organisation is one of the cornerstones of our
ambitions for the new Schibsted.

In Schibsted, organisational development is an
area that takes time and resources and which
is prioritised by the senior management of the
Group and its subsidiaries. We have ambitions
to be, in time, one of the leading companies in
Europe in the field of developing expertise and



Schibsted’s development and on the culture
within the Group. Many former trainees now
hold key positions in Schibsted.

Schibsted’s Sales Trainee Programme was
launched in 2006 with the goal of developing
future key personnel in the field of strategic
media sales. The candidates are recruited both
from within Schibsted and externally.
This programme is also a two-year one.

We compete in an international market and with
other sectors. In order to attract skilled employees,
it is important to be able to offer the whole
of Schibsted as a development and career
platform. This was the reason for Schibsted’s
management programmes being established in
2003. The programmes create meeting places
where ideas are created and experiences are
shared. By the end of 2005, 60 managers and
middlemanagers from our companies had com-
pleted Schibsted’s management programmes.

Many of Schibsted’s subsidiaries have also
focused on organisational and expertise devel-
opment over the past few years. Aftonbladet
has this year concluded the fifth round of its
management programme and is planning the
sixth. 70 managers have completed the pro-
gramme, which started in 2001. In Aftenposten,
100 people have completed a 360-degree
manager-evaluation scheme involving individual
follow-up. In Svenska Dagbladet, 50 managers
have taken part in its management programme,
which started in 2004. This programme is fol-
lowed up by guidance groups which meet every
six months and in which the managers “coach”
each other. VG continuously arranges internal
programmes for new managers and makes
great use of the management programmes
offered by the industry in general.

Finn.no is the place where the employees most
enjoy working. Under the heading “Norway’s
happiest employees”, the winners of the

“Best Companies in Norway” survey were
announced in March 2006. In third place came
Schibsted company Finn.no, with its 110 em-
ployees.  This organisation has grown constantly
since it was formed, both in revenue and number
of employees. Its basic values, characterised
by a liberal attitude, good humour, precision
and hunger, as well as evaluation, follow-up,
the Finn school, management development
and sales training, are key to the spirit of this
company.

In a media market that is changing more and
more rapidly and where the competition is
tougher, and in an employment market where
there is greater competition for the most skilled
people, we need organisations that have the
ability to do much more than before. This is why
organisational and expertise development is
one of the cornerstones of Schibsted’s strategy,
to make us able to shape the media of tomor-
row. Today.
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The Group sees that there are few attractive 
acquisition opportunities in the segments that 
have the greatest potential for growth.  Since the 
early 1990s, Schibsted has had a strong focus 
on developing online services and has developed 
unique expertise in product developments within 
this field, particularly expertise in the development 
of online products and understanding of how 
consumers behave on the Internet. The Group’s 
experience of creating the right online products is 
a strong reason for focusing on organic growth in 
the electronic media field. 

The development of the Internet as a medium 
has not come as far in the rest of Europe as it 
has in Scandinavia. This is linked to the fact that 
the level of broadband penetration is less in the 
rest of Europe than it is in Scandinavia. More 
than 70 per cent of all households in Norway and 
Sweden have installed broadband. In France and 
Spain, the corresponding figure is just over 40 
per cent. At the same time, the amount spent 
on online advertising per capita in Spain and 
France is a fraction of the figure in Norway. In 
Scandinavia, Internet usage and online advertising 
have increased in line with the level of broadband 
penetration. It is likely that the same thing will 
happen in the rest of Europe. Schibsted therefore 
believes that the market for online advertising will 
grow in these countries, creating space for new 
companies and opportunities for new players. 

Areas of focus
The commitment to organic growth can be divided 
into different categories.  The further development 
of existing products in existing markets is the least 
risky type of expansion. However, the traditional 
development of existing products is not included 
in the Group’s reported costs relating to new 
operations. New operations are aimed at new 
geographical areas or involve the development 
of products in which the Group does not already 
have a position. 

The Group’s established products and brands 
considerably improved their results compared to 
2004. The strong advertising markets, both for 
the paper and online versions, have contributed 
to this growth. Several of the Group’s established 
products also experienced both increased popula-
rity and greater usage in 2005. 

Schibsted’s established online activities achieved 
significantly increased revenues and profitabi-
lity in 2005. This led to the profit contributed 
by Schibsted’s online activities making up a 
considerable share of the Group’s operating profit 
in 2005. After adjusting for costs relating to new 
operations, the online activities contributed 35 
per cent of the Group’s operating profit (EBITA) 
in 2005. 

In 2005, Schibsted made a greater commitment 
to expansion through organic growth. It particu-
larly increased its investments in online activities. 
The total costs relating to new operations came to 
around NOK 165 million, of which some NOK 145 
million were related to new online activities. The 
costs relating to new operations have been debi-
ted to Schibsted’s profit and loss account. At the 
same time, costs relating to new operations are 
an investment in new activities and future growth. 
The new operations are intended to strengthen 
the Group’s position in a rapidly changing media 
world.  

Online products
Schibsted is now in a more expansive phase 
following several years of consolidation. 
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2005 was a record year for Schibsted’s core 
activities. At the same time, the Group made 
more of a commitment to expansion through 
organic growth and particularly increased its 
investments in online activities.  

Strong expansion 
through organic growth

Business area analysis



In its domestic market, which is Norway and 
Sweden, Schibsted will develop new concepts and 
services based on established online positions. 
Examples of the development of new concepts in 
the domestic market are the search and directory 
services Sesam and Hitta. Another example of the 
development of new products in existing markets 
is the launch of n24, a business news web site, in 
Sweden. 

In Europe, Schibsted will grow by exporting 
successful products from Norway and Sweden. 
Examples of the export of successful concepts 
are the launch of CompraVenta.com, a Blocket 
copy, in Spain and of Willhaben.at, a Finn copy, 
in Austria.  The Group will focus less on launching 
new products in new markets, since this involves 
a higher level of risk.

Type of projects
In 2005, Schibsted invested around NOK 165 mil-
lion in organic growth. Around NOK 50 million was 
spent on the Sesam search service. New projects 
in Aftenposten and Finn amounted to NOK 38 
million. The Hitta directory service cost NOK 31 
million, while NOK 21 million was spent on new 
projects based on 20 Minutes and Blocket. The 
remainder of the investments during the year 
were in Aftonbladet’s Web-TV, the development of 
n24, a business services web site in Sweden, and 
other minor projects. 

In 2006, Schibsted will spend NOK 300-400 
million on new operations. Around 45 per cent 
of these costs will relate to the development of 
search and directory services in Norway and 
Sweden. Approximately 25 per cent will be spent 
on exporting classified ads services in Spain, 
France, Austria, Croatia and Slovenia, while 
some 15 per cent of the costs will relate to the 
development of n24 in Norway and Sweden and 
web-TV and IP-TV. About 15 per cent will be spent 
on further developing editorial concepts on paper, 
while the remainder of the costs will relate to 
several minor online projects. 

TRENDS IN THE SCANDINAVIAN MEDIA
Growth in the use of the Internet
There was a dramatic increase in the use of the 
Internet in 2005.  The Group’s online products 
achieved an increased number of users during the 
year. In addition, users are spending more time 
on the Internet and are visiting the same services 
several times. This growth has particularly been 
experienced by the Group’s online newspapers.   
The usage takes place all day, both while people 
are at work and in the evenings. 

The growth of the online media is one part of the 
ongoing revolution in the media world. On the 
other hand, we are experiencing a fall in circula-
tion figures, especially those of the single copy 
sales newspapers. 

Worldwide, newspaper circulation figures are 
actually increasing now, especially in South 
America and Asia.  The same trend can in part be 
seen in some south European countries, where 
newspaper reading has traditionally not been 
very popular. The trend is for more newspapers 
to be read in areas where the level of education 
is rising.  In that way, a kind of class distinction 
can be seen in media usage. The intellectual elite 
reads newspapers, while others watch TV and use 
the Internet to update themselves on the news.

In the Scandinavian countries, where people 
have traditionally read more newspapers than 
anywhere else in the world and where the level 
of education is high, the decline in the circulation 
figures of some of the single copy sales newspa-
pers must be characterised as a landslide. 

In Sweden, Aftonbladet’s circulation figures fell by 
around four per cent in February but this news-
paper increased its advertising revenues from 
both its paper version and, especially, its online 
version. More than 100 000 people also visited 
this media house’s IP-TV each day.

VG’s weekday circulation figures fell by more than 
20 000 copies in 2005. These figures continued 
to decline at the beginning of 2006, with weekday 
circulation figures down by around 30 000. The 
advertising revenues from the paper version fell by 
10 per cent, while equivalent revenues from the 
online activities continued to rise sharply. 

These examples illustrate the radical changes 
which characterise the Norwegian media lands-
cape, and show why a willingness to change and 
innovation will be crucial to Schibsted in the years 
to come.

Online advertising
The Internet’s share of brand advertising in 
Norway is continuing to rise. In 2005, around six 
per cent of all brand advertising in Norway was on 
the Internet, an increase of around four per cent 
compared to 2004. Online advertising increased 
by around 60 per cent during the same period. 
Several independent players in the market believe 
there will be continued strong growth in online 
advertising in Norway and Sweden in 2006. 

Along with the strong growth in online advertising, 
it can be seen that the online advertising models 
are becoming more and more sophisticated. 
Traditional online advertising involves exposure on 
a web site for a certain period of time. A possible 
future development in online advertising may be 
that the advertiser pays for a certain number of 
exposures to consumers. Such a development 
would make it easier for the online newspapers 
to capitalise on the increasing usage. At the 
same time, we will see more online advertising as 
payment for a number of clicks and payment for 
the transaction value generated for the 

Business area analysis

B
u
sin

ess a
rea

 a
n
a
ly

sis  //
S
ch

ib
sted

 A
n
n
u
a
l R

ep
ort 2

0
0
5
   

   2
7

-10

0

10

20

30

40

Q
4

Q
3

Q
2

Q
1

Q
4

Q
3

Q
2

Q
1

Q
4

Q
3

Q
2

Q
1

Q
4

Q
3

Q
2

Q
1

2002 2003 2004 2005

ONLINE ACTIVITIES’ SHARE OF SCHIBSTED’S
OPERATING PROFIT (EBITA) PER CENT.

2

4

6

8

10

12

Q
4

Q
3

Q
2

Q
1

Q
4

Q
3

Q
2

Q
1

Q
4

Q
3

Q
2

Q
1

Q
4

Q
3

Q
2

Q
1

2002 2003 2004 2005

ONLINE ACTIVITIES’ SHARE OF SCHIBSTED’S
OPERATING REVENUES PER CENT.

 Share of reported operating profit
 Share of operating profit adjusted for new initiatives

0

35

70

105

140

175

To
ta
l 2

00
5

Ot
he

r 
pr

oj
ec
ts

n2
4

W
eb

-T
V

Af
to
nb

la
de

t

Pr
oj
ec
t b

as
ed

 o
n

20
 M

in
ut
te
r 
an

d 
Bl
oc
ke

t

Hi
tta

.s
e

Ne
w
 p
ro

je
ct
s 
in

Af
te
np

os
te
n 
an

dF
IN

N
Se

sa
m

COSTS RELATED TO NEW INITIATIVES 2005
NOK MILLION



The Aftonbladet media company produced its 
best result ever in its 175-year history, primarily 
due to higher revenues. The Aftenposten media 
company’s results improved sharply, due 
to both a strong advertising market and an 
increase in circulation. The VG media company 
continued to deliver strong results despite the 
loss in circulation, while the Svenska Dagbladet 
media company was profitable and achieved 
its best result ever, mainly due to increased 
revenues.

The 20 Minutes media company increased its 
revenues in Spain and France by 24 per cent. 
At the same time, its costs have increased due 
to its investment in publishing newspapers in a 
total of 10 new towns – eight in Spain and two 
in France. These newspapers are continuing to 
grow at a tremendous rate and are the most 
read newspapers in Spain and the second most 
read newspapers in France. 

The Eesti Meedia media company in Estonia 
continues to be successful in a country whose 
economy is growing at the extremely high rate 
of nine per cent. Eesti Meedia has strengthened 
its position as Estonia’s largest media company, 
with operations in the fields of newspapers, 
magazines, the Internet, radio and printing. 

More people are reading online
More and more people are reading newspapers 
online. The single copy newspaper circulation 
figures, in particular, are falling and the number 

of online readers is almost that of the traditional 
print editions. This is also the dominant trend 
for printed newspapers in most other media 
markets. 

In contrast to this trend, the subscription-
based newspapers Aftenposten and Svenska 
Dagbladet both increased their circulation 
figures in 2005. These are also the two news-
papers that have implemented the most radical 
product changes over the past few years. 
Both have changed to tabloid format, both 
have made a strong commitment to creating 
something new in their printed product and 
both have fully revised and restructured their 
organisations.

However, the transition to get information 
online is the dominant trend. Towards the end 
of 2005, VG had a combined total of more 
than 1.8 million daily readers of its print edition 
and the online edition, VG Nett. In addition, 
57 000 people read this newspaper on their 
mobile phones each day. Almost 48 per cent of 
Norway’s population read VG each day using 
one or more channels. 

53 per cent of VG’s readers only read the prin-
ted version, 20 per cent read both the paper 
and online editions and 27 per cent only read 
VG online. In other words, a total of 47 per cent 
of VG’s readers used the Internet to read the 
newspaper, compared to 24 per cent only five 
years’ ago. 

Aftonbladet is read by 2.5 million people daily 
via its print and online editions. Its readership 
increased by nine per cent in 2005 despite the 
print edition’s circulation figures decreasing by 
just over 13 000 copies. The online newspaper, 
aftonbladet.se, had an average of 7.7 million 
unique visitors per month in 2005 and is the 
Nordic region’s biggest online news provider. 

In line with this, the operating revenues of 
Schibsted’s online activities’ increased by 
50 per cent in 2005. After adjusting for the 
costs relating to new investments, Schibsted’s 
online activities contributed 35 per cent of the 

Newspapers

Schibsted’s newspapers have put yet another 
record year behind them and this business 
area achieved its highest ever operating 
profit. More people read the online news-
paper and the web sites’ financial results 
improved in line with this. The year was 
also characterised by new investments 
in the media companies. 
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Group’s operating profit (EBITA) for 2005. Five 
years ago, they made a negative contribution. 

The largest contributor of them all, FINN.no, 
has increased its revenues by an average of 44 
per cent over the past five years and achieved 
an operating profit of NOK 114 million in 2005. 

New investments
A number of new, exciting investments were 
made in 2005. These were made in both the 
online and print editions and in several geo-
graphical areas. They involve the creation 
of new newspapers, collaboration between 
Schibsted’s media companies and acquisitions. 

Through Aftonbladet’s acquisition of Teleadress 
AB, which includes the directory search service 
hitta.se, Schibsted entered the growing market 
for directory services. Later, Schibsted Søk 
(Search), which launched the search engine 
Sesam, bought Internettkatalogen, a commer-
cial search engine. 

Svenska Dagbladet and Aftonbladet jointly 
formed Näringsliv24 – n.24.se – which 
immediately became the second largest web 
site for business news and services in Sweden. 
Aftenposten and VG are ready to launch a 
corresponding concept in Norway in the first 
half of 2006. In Sweden, SvD and n24 launched 
Jobb24, online recruitment advertisements, 
in January 2006 while in Norway Dine Penger 
is collaborating online with VG on personal 
finances. These are examples of collaborations 
where one party’s editorial strength is combi-
ned with the other party’s strength in the form 
of a large volume of online traffic. 

In Spain, Schibsted has launched the blocket 
concept, which involves online purchases and 
sales through a web site, CompraVenta.com,
owned by 20 Minutes in Spain. 160 000 ads are 
currently published on this web site. 
A new classified ads web site – willhaben.
at – was also launched in Austria in January 
2006 when the FINN concept was established 
in collaboration with Styria, a major Austrian 
media player. 

New magazines have been launched in both 
Norway and Spain. Aftenposten’s A-magasinet 
is back. VG has launched a weekend magazine 
as well as publishing a daily sports news section 
printed on pink paper. In Spain, 20 Minutes 
has started to publish a monthly magazine, 
Calle20, and also expanded in other ways. The 
Zmones magazine continues to be successful 
and has become the largest weekly magazine 
in Lithuania. 

We believe that the market will welcome these 
new magazines. So far, the signals from both 
readers and advertisers have been positive.

SCHIBSTED’S ONLINE ACTIVITIES
OPERATING PROFIT     IFRS            NGAAP
(NOK million) 2005 2004 2004 2003
Advertising revenues  729 471 471 269
Other revenues  127 97 97 83
Operating revenues  856 568 568 352
Operating expenses 1)  (667) (409) (409) (301)
Operating profit (EBITA)  189 159 159 51

These figures are also included in the individual newspaper’s results
1) Includes all the expenses apart from those relating to editorial content

Exchange rates 2005 2004 2003

SEK/NOK  86,3 91,74 87,69
EUR/NOK  8,01 8,37 7,99

AVIS SUBSCRIPTION REVENUES IFRS NGAAP
(NOK million)  2005 2004 2004 2003
Subscription revenues  964 909 909 865
Single copy sales revenues  2 552 2 665 2 665 2 677
Advertising revenues  3 577 3 272 3 272 2 456
Other revenues  726 641 641 513
Operating revenues  7 819 7 487 7 487 6 511
Operating expenses  (7 009) (6 655) (6 629) (5 900)
Income from associated companies 99 36
Operating profit (EBITA)  909 868 858 611
Amortisation and write-down of goodwill   (60) (24)
Other revenues and expenses  93 (393) (393)
Operating profit (EBIT)  1 002 475 405 587
Operating margin (EBITA) (%) 11,6 11,6 11,5 9,4
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Aftenposten is one of Norway’s largest media 
companies and holds strong positions in both 
the print newspaper and online newspaper 
markets. Aftenposten’s morning and evening 
editions are the 2nd and 4th largest news-
papers in Norway respectively. These news-
papers have a total of more than one mil-
lion daily readers. In addition, Aftenposten 
Multimedia has 641 000 unique readers each 
week, while FINN, Norway’s largest classified 
ads web site, has 590 000. The Aftenposten 
Group’s total revenues in 2005 came to NOK 
2.4 billion. 

Market situation
2005 was an extremely good year, with very 
positive developments in both the paper and 
online activities. The AM edition was converted 
into tabloid format and the negative circulation 
trend that had existed for several years was 
turned around. Aftenposten is thus a circulation 
winner in the newspaper market. Aftenposten’s 
magazine, A-magasinet, was relaunched on 
21 October, and this has further reinforced 
Aftenposten’s success. 

The fall in advertising revenues was turned 
around. The recruitment market was an 
important contributor to this, in addition to 
the fact that most of Aftenposten’s remaining 
market areas have improved. In addition to 
positive economic developments, this is due to 
marketing and the implementation of necessary 
measures to face the competitive situation. 
Aftenposten achieved advertising revenues of 
NOK 1 220 million, a growth of NOK 115 million. 
The negative trend from the 2000-2004 period 
has thus been turned around. This growth is 
due to the generally positive developments in 
the advertising market and to successful invest-
ments in several areas. 

The conversion to a tabloid format has been 
a huge success with the readers. Readership 
figures (Consumer & Media) show that 
Aftenposten’s readership (the morning edition, 
daily) increased by 4.2 per cent to 764 396 in 
2004/2005. This means that there are more 
people reading each copy than when the news-
paper was in broad sheet. 

After several years of declining revenues and 
major profitability programmes, 2005 represen-
ted a new trend with both increased revenues 
and a sound operating profit. The Aftenposten 

Group achieved total revenues of NOK 2.4 bil-
lion and an operating profit of NOK 266 million. 

Improvements in 2006
2005 was a year of major changes. The AM 
edition’s transition to a tabloid format as from 
2 January was the most important change to the 
product. The weekend magazine, A-magasinet, 
has helped to strengthen Aftenposten’s position 
among readers and advertisers. In cooperation 
with Orkla Dagspresse and A-pressen, home 
delivery distribution has been further developed 
as a separate business area. As part of this, 
home delivery distribution has been spun off to 
form a separate business unit. 

Aftenposten is continually making efforts to 
improve in all areas. On 1 February 2006, the 
PM edition was given a new editorial and visual 
profile. An improved effort was also put into the 
editorial content and the Wednesday edition 
is now fully distributed with zoned advertising 
pages in Oslo and Akershus. On Thursdays, 
readers receive both zoned editorial and adver-
tising pages.

Aftenposten is optimistic about developments 
in 2006. The AM edition’s circulation was rising 
towards the end of 2005 and there is reason to 
believe it will continue to grow. In relation to the 
evening edition, the goal is to slow the negative 
trend. There are great expectations and ambi-
tions regarding growth in all advertising markets 
in 2006, especially in recruitment, brand and 
retail advertising.

The FINN Group has reinforced its position as 
Norway’s largest online marketplace for real 
estate, recruitment, automotive and other clas-
sified ads. In 2005, FINN had at the most more 
than two million unique users monthly. This puts 
FINN in seventh place on the list of Norway’s 
largest web sites. 

AFTENPOSTEN GROUP OPERATING PROFIT IFRS NGAAP
(NOK million) 2005 2004 2004 2003
Circulation revenues 1) 659 623 623 653
Advertising revenues 1 531 1 303 1 303 1 277
Other revenues 231 200 200 151
Operating revenues 2 421 2 126 2 126 2 081
Operating expenses (2 155) (1 990) (1 976) (2 015)
Income from associated companies
Operating profit (EBITA)  266 136 150 66
Operating margin (EBITA) (%) 11,0 6,4 7,1 3,2

1) Circulation revenues consist of subscription and single copy sales revenues 

Number of employees 903 863 863 877

Circulation figures for the past three years: 2005 2004 2003
Aftenposten morning edition, weekdays 252 746 249 861 256 600
Aftenposten Aften, evening edition, weekdays 141 609 148 067 155 400
Aftenposten, Sunday edition 223 212 220 149 232 900
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Its revenue has grown annually by an average 
of 44 per cent over the past five years, and its 
annual operating result has improved from an 
operating loss of NOK 17 million to an operating 
profit of NOK 114 million in the same period. In 
2005, it had more than one million advertise-
ments for the first time ever – 78 per cent more 
than in 2004. FINN achieved a total revenue 
of NOK 267.3 million and an operating profit 
of NOK 114.4 million in 2005. Its three main 
markets, automotive, recruitment and Real 
Estate, have market shares of 80, 51 and 90 per 
cent respectively. 

In addition to a major focus on existing markets, 
FINN is establishing new marketplaces. As 
from January 2006, FINN, together with VG and 
Aftonbladet, is offering an online dating service. 
It has launched a travel service and, in collabora-
tion with Schibsted, has established a new com-
pany, SFI Holding, to create international growth 
for FINN. This company has initially entered a 
joint venture to start willhaben.at, a classified 
ads service in Austria modelled on FINN.no.

Aftenposten Multimedia
Aftenposten Multimedia grew rapidly in terms 
of users, product development and revenue in 
2005. Its revenues increased by 74 per cent, its 
number of unique users per week rose by more 
than 30 per cent, it almost doubled its staff and 
a number of new products were launched. The 
company achieved an operating profit of NOK 
2.6 million, which is excellent compared to the 
resources spent on new investments during 
the year.

Aftenposten.no is the fourth largest online 
newspaper in Norway. Since its launch at the 
end of February 2005, Aftenposten Forbruker 
(Consumer) – forbruker.no – has become 
Norway’s second largest editorial web site for 
consumer and utility content. This web site 
has been growing and developing continuously 
throughout the year. 

Aftenposten Multimedia’s new wap solution was 
launched in the summer of 2005. The number 

of users that read Aftenposten Multimedia’s 
contents on their mobile phones rose dramati-
cally during the autumn. 

Aftenposten Multimedia is in a market that is 
growing rapidly and is expected to continue 
growing for the next few years. One chal-
lenge in the future will be to use Aftenposten 
Multimedia’s position to strengthen its standing 
in relation to new platforms, especially mobile 
technologies and audio and live pictures. 

Other subsidiaries
Retriever is the Nordic region’s leading supplier 
of media monitoring, media archive and media 
analysis services on a digital platform. This 
company achieved revenues of NOK 46.3 mil-
lion in 2005. 

Aftenposten Distribusjon AS is Norway’s largest 
distribution company apart from the Postal 
System. This company’s main objective is to ef-
ficiently provide home delivery for newspapers, 
advertising materials and other media products 
and provide distribution services in Oslo, Follo, 
Asker and Bærum. 2005 was its first year of 
operation and the company achieved revenues 
of NOK 373.6 million. 

Distribution Innovation (DI) develops and 
operates tomorrow’s modern, comprehensive 
technological solutions for distributing newspa-
pers, magazines and book-club products to the 
subscribers. This company’s best known pro-
duct is its electronic carrier PDA.  DI achieved 
revenues of NOK 9.2 million in 2005. 

Verdens Gang is one of Norway’s leading media 
companies and reaches more than 1.9 million 
readers/users daily through several channels. 
This gives it a nationwide coverage of 48 per 
cent. Verdens Gang AS publishes VG, which is 
Norway’s largest newspaper and has a circula-
tion that is twice that of its closest competitor. 
VG Multimedia is a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Verdens Gang AS and publishes VG Nett and 
VG Mobil. VG Nett is Norway’s leading online 
news service. VG Mobil is a leading supplier of 
news and entertainment to mobile phones. 

Market situation 
Norwegians read more newspapers than 
anyone else in the world. VG has a strong 
position in this market as Norway’s absolutely 
largest newspaper, with a 12.4 per cent share 
of the total market and a 68 per cent share 
of the single copy sales market. In a declining 
single copy sales market, VG has increased its 
market share by 1.4 percentage points compa-
red to 2004. 

VG has 1 337 000 readers  on an average day. 
This produces a readership coverage of 34.4 
per cent. VG Nett’s traffic continued to increase 
in 2005 and, in the 4th quarter, this online 
newspaper had more than one million readers 
each day – 1 027 000 – for the first time ever. 
VG Nett had an average of 950 000 readers 
each day in 2005, compared to 724 000 the 
year before – a growth of 31.2 per cent. 

The company’s status
The VG Group continued to produce sound re-
sults in 2005 and achieved an operating margin 
of 17 per cent. VG AS, the print edition version, 
increased its revenues by 0.6 per cent compa-
red to 2004. The weekday circulation ended at 
343 702, a reduction of 21 564. The Sunday 
circulation ended at 298 736, a reduction of 16 
367. There were more newspaper days in 2005 
than in 2004 due to the strike in 2004. This, 
together with the launch of the weekend 
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magazine VG HELG and a good advertising 
market, led to the decline in circulation not 
resulting in reduced revenues. 

VG AS’s operating profit of NOK 249 million 
produced an operating margin of 15.3 per cent, 
which is good but much lower than in 2004. In 
a declining circulation market, more emphasis 
must be placed on product development, which 
increases costs. The pension costs are also 
increasing significantly due to a change in 
the pensionable income for several groups of 
employees.

Important events/products
Rolv Erik Ryssdal took over as CEO of Verdens
Gang AS on 1 April. He succeeded Aslak Ona, 
who had held this position since 1989. 
VG launched a separate daily sports insert on 
pink paper on 1 June. At the same time, areas 
such as comments/opinions, foreign news and 
consumer news were strengthened. VG Helg 
was launched on 22 October. This is a weekend 
magazine that places emphasis on news and 
lifestyle articles that, through exclusive pictu-
res, intrepid measures and excellent writing, 
uncover, surprise, entertain and inspire readers. 

The main newspaper is also characterised by 
product development and renewal. 

In the autumn of 2005, 32 employees were 
offered voluntary early retirement and 16 of 
these accepted. The decline in circulation has 
led to a further focus on costs.

The media world is changing rapidly. The decline 
in circulation has accelerated over the past 
few years, but VG’s readership figures, for the 
print and online versions combined, have never 
been higher. The channels compete with each 
other and complement each other. The decline 
in circulation is a major challenge but VG is in a 
good position to right this. Continuous product 
development and innovation must be improved. 
At the same time, changes must be made to 
the cost level and structure. The organisation 
must be further developed in order to be able 
to cope with the rapid changes taking place in 
the market. 

VG Multimedia AS
VG Multimedia AS developed very positively in 
2005 and achieved an operating profit of NOK 
51 million, giving it an operating margin of 42.3 

per cent. Both the advertising revenues and 
other revenues grew substantially during the 
year. 

In addition to its main product, VG Nett, and 
its mobile service, VG Mobil, this company also 
runs VG Radio, an interactive, web-based music 
radio, and increased its focus on IPTV in 2005. 
VG’s online service now provides news with live 
video each day. This service is being developed 
under the name of VG TV.

Surveys of the daily reading of news services 
on mobile phones were carried out for the first 
time in 2005. VG Mobil took the pole position
with 57 000 daily readers of its mobile edition  
during the 4th quarter. 

The operating revenues increased by 82 per 
cent in 2005. Other revenues now comprise 
12 per cent of the revenues. An important 
contributor to the growth in other revenues was 
the launch of vektklubb.no. From May 2005 to 
mid-January 2006, 35 000 people had enrolled 
in this slimming club. Another successful inno-
vation was the launch of reader blogs. During 
the first quarter that this service was in use, 
18 000 blog entries were posted and received 
90 000 comments. This makes it undoubtedly 
Norway’s most active blogging community.

In 2006, VG Multimedia will continue to further 
develop VG TV. This service now has around 
120 000 daily viewers on major news days and 
its reception by the advertising market has 
been promising. Greater focus on consumers 
and continued development of user-generated 
services will be other areas of commitment in 
2006.

1) All readership figures stated for VG and VG Nett are provi-

ded by TSN Gallup’s Consumer and Media division.

VG GROUP OPERATING PROFIT
(incl. VG AS, VG Multimedia AS and Avisretur AS)
  IFRS NGAAP
(NOK million) 2005 2004 2004 2003
Circulation revenues 1)  1 208 1 230 1 230 1 300 
Advertising revenues  510 434 434 426
Other revenues  45 31 31 27 
Operating revenues  1 763 1 695 1 695 1 753 
Operating expenses (1 463) (1 344) (1 339) (1 398)
Operating profit (EBITA) 300 351 356 355
Operating margin (EBITA) (%)  17,0 20,7 21,0 20,3

1) Circulation revenues consist of subscription and single copy sales revenues   

Number of employees 532 529 529 521

Circulation figures last three years: 2005 2004 2003
Weekdays  343 702 365 266 380 190
Sundays  298 736  315 103 314 730
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The Aftonbladet Group operates in the media 
industry and its main activities are in two 
business areas: Newspaper Publication and 
New Media. Aftonbladet is also the major owner 
of blocket.se, a leading online classified ads 
web site. A new Group company is hitta.se, a 
directory search service. 

The Aftonbladet media company currently 
reaches more than 2.5 million people daily 
via its print and online editions. Its readership 
increased by nine per cent in 2005. Aftonbladet 
has retained its clear position as a market 
leader in both the print and online newspaper 
industries in Sweden. The print edition achieved 
circulation figures of 439 000 copies per 
publication date in 2005, a reduction of 13 200 
copies. This is mainly due to a reduction in the 
TV insert circulation figures and to the higher 
level of competition in Stockholm. Aftonbladet’s 
share of the afternoon newspaper market was 
53 per cent. 

Aftonbladet achieved the best result in its 
175-year history in 2005. It made a profit after 
net financial items of SEK 337 million, SEK 23 
million more than in 2004. This result is particu-
larly strong since the company also invested a 
lot during the year to further develop a number 
of areas. Its main projects have been related to 
TV and to the hitta.se subsidiary. 

Important events 
Aftonbladet Hierta AB acquired TA Teleadress 
Information Holding AB on 2 February. This 
includes hitta.se, a directory search service. 
This purchase means that Aftonbladet has 
become established in the growing online 
directories market. Aftonbladet has directly 
and indirectly bought Björns Bostadsbytare, 
a service for swapping leases, and Alltom AB, 
which runs alltomstockholm.se, a local service 
and entertainment portal with around 180 000 
monthly users. 

Carl Gyllfors took over as CEO on 7 March 
2005. During the year, Mats Eriksson was 
appointed deputy CEO. 

Apart from the TV insert, the inserts’ circulation 
increased in 2005. This mainly applies to Klick, 
whose circulation has increased dramatically 
due to an increase from a one-day to a two-day 
sales period. In addition, a new system of bet-
ter quality inserts on specific themes has had 
positive effect on the results. 

The price of the main newspaper has remained 
unchanged at SEK 8, apart from during holiday 
weekends when the price has been increased 
to SEK 10. The price of the inserts has remained 
unchanged at SEK 5, apart from the inserts on  
specific themes  which have cost SEK 10.
The total growth in the advertising market in 
2005 is calculated to be 7 per cent, while for 
the afternoon newspapers it is estimated to be 
9.4 per cent (according to IRM). Aftonbladet’s 
advertising revenues increased by 20.6 per 
cent in 2005. 

In July, Aftonbladet moved its printing 
operations for the Stockholm area from the 
Schibsted-owned printing works at Akalla to 

printing works in Södertälje and Norrtälje. This 
has provided an opportunity to have four 
colours on all pages and to increase the number 
of pages to 96. 

Future prospects
The Aftonbladet newspaper will remain the 
Group’s core activity within the foreseeable 
future. It is important that the newspaper’s 
editorial content and the way in which the 
newspaper is sold are constantly improved. The 
sales organisation is working intensely on tests 
to improve availability. Faced with the extremely 
stiff competition from other afternoon news-
papers as well as the free newspapers Metro 
and Stockholm City, all of Aftonbladet’s 
operations must do their utmost to compete for 
readers.
The new media operations are of crucial 
importance. They also show that the company 
will have solid financial foundation in the future. 
Here too, the constant development work that 
is the key to Aftonbladet’s success must be 
carried out in the best possible way.
Continuous, strong business development is 
essential for a company like Aftonbladet, which 
is facing intense competition from various parts 
of the Swedish media market. 

AFTONBLADET HIERTA GROUP OPERATING PROFIT IFRS NGAAP
(SEK million) 2005 2004 2004 2003
Circulation revenues 1) 1 420 1 463 1 463 1 457 
Advertising revenues  766 622 622 380
Other revenues  191 66 66 55
Operating revenues  2 377 2 151 2 151 1 892 
Operating expenses  (2 065) (1 828) (1 828) (1 681)
Revenue from associated companies  2 0
Operating profit (EBITA)  314 323 323 211 
Operating margin (EBITA) (%)  13,2 15,0 15,0 11,2 

1) Circulation revenues consist of subscription and single sale copy revenues  

Number of employees 699 567 567 504

Last three years circulation figures 2005 2004 2003
Weekdays  428 422 444 100 442 100
Sundays  501 428 504 300 489 400
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The fight for people’s time and advertisers’ 
money is going on throughout this media com-
pany. Thanks to several successful acquisitions 
and a focus on live pictures, together with the 
good work done in its traditional operations, 
Aftonbladet is well equipped to win new victo-
ries in this fight in the future.

Aftonbladet is a knowledgebased company, 
a fact which must also affect its view of its 
employees. During the year, work has been 
carried out on a number of issues in order to 
improve its competitive ability and ensure that 
the organisation forges ties with the best 
employees. One of its prioritised internal 
goals is to become Sweden’s most attractive 
workplace in the media sector. The Group has 
a number of development programmes for 
managers and staff. 

Personal development programmes and exper-
tise–development systems are further efforts. 
Measures of a different type – but nonetheless 
important – are the creation of an ultra-modern 
exercise facility in separate premises and a 
restaurant – Restaurang Wendela – right at 
the top of the Aftonbladet building next to the 
Globe in Stockholm. 

SUBSIDIARIES
Aftonbladet Nya Medier AB
Aftonbladet Nya Medier AB has operations 
within three business areas. Its core activity, 
with aftonbladet.se at the forefront, is mainly 
financed by advertisements. This company 
is the basis of Nya Medier’s (New Media’s) 
multi-channel strategy. On average for the year, 
aftonbladet.se has 7.7 million unique visitors 
per month and more than 56 million hits. 

The business development area carries out both 
internal and external projects. Its internal pro-
jects include in-house developed pay services, 
such as Viktklubben.se (a slimming club) and 
the sale of editorial content, primarily through 
subscriptions.

The third business area is TV. This currently 
involves TV production work and the publica-
tion of live pictures on the Internet and mobile 
phones. These operations are primarily funded 
by advertisements. 

Blocket is Sweden’s largest online market for 
buying and selling objects. Blocket.se has 1.5 
million unique visitors each month. Goods 
for SEK 100 billion are sold each year via this 
web site. Under the blocket.se trademark, this 
company aims to operate Sweden’s biggest and 
broadest online market portal for classified ads. 
Blocket.se was established in 1996 in 
Fjälkringe, outside Kristianstad in southern 
Sweden. It was originally a local advertising 
market for the southern part of Sweden, but 
gradually expanded to offer purchases and 
sales to online users throughout Sweden. 
In 2004, Aftonbladet became the majority 
owner and blocket.se was merged with this 
newspaper’s own classified ads service, 
FinnMer.se. At the end of 2005, blocket.se had 
just over 1.5 million unique users and more 
than 350 000 advertisements in its database. 
According to blocket.se’s own calculations, 
Swedes advertised goods worth around SEK 
100 billion on blocket.se in 2005. This is equiva-
lent to around four per cent of Sweden’s GDP. 

Byt Bil is Sweden’s leading used-car sales web 
site. This company was started in 1997 as one 
of the first of its kind in Sweden. 

Hitta.se is an online directory search service. 
It simply and quickly ensures that people and 
companies come into contact with each other. 
Its revenues are created by companies paying 

for an improved exposure to those searching in 
the directory so that they can more easily come 
into contact with their customers.

Teleadress
Teleadress provides information and marketing 
services. Through its high level of accessibility 
and flexibility, it provides the correct infor-
mation for its customer’s requirements. Its 
customers are primarily sales personnel and 
direct customers in the field of direct marketing 
as well as suppliers or direct customers of 
information services. 

The Svenska Dagbladet media company 
publishes Stockholm’s second-largest AM 
newspaper, mainly based on home delivery 
subscriptions. It has undergone major changes 
over the past few years and is now in a tabloid 
format with a number of editorial improve-
ments. Further changes were made in 2005. 
SvD is a newspaper that appeals to the curious, 
well-educated urban population. 

Svenska Dagbladet achieved its best results 
ever in 2005. The Group made an operating 
profit of SEK 13 million, compared to an opera-
ting loss of SEK 19 million the year before. The 
print edition alone made an operating profit of 
SEK 18 million. The improvement in results is 
primarily a result of increased revenues. 

SvD was chosen as the “Daily Newspaper of the 
Year” in Sweden, in a competition arranged by 
Pressens Tidning. 

Circulation
SvD’s circulation revenues increased by seven 
per cent to SEK 411 million. During the year, 
the newspaper’s circulation rose dramatically 
as a result of continuous product development 
and increased marketing. The “Challenge” 
campaign was chosen as the best newspaper 
campaign of the year in Sweden. The average 
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total circulation for the year came to 188 500 
copies (181 800). In Stockholm, the circulation 
was 124 700 copies (124 300). 

Advertisements
The improvement in the advertising market, 
which started towards the end of 2004, conti-
nued in 2005. Sales have increased in all media 
categories. The competition between the news-
papers in Stockholm is now even stiffer, resul-
ting in a certain pressure on prices. Despite 
this, SvD has increased its market shares in 
almost all segments thanks to the efforts of its 
advertising department’s employees. SvD has 
recaptured some of its share of the real estate 
advertising market that it lost in 2004. The 
newspaper’s advertising revenues increased by 
17 per cent to SEK 394 million. 

Editorially
Based on the newspaper that was launched in 
November 2004, SvD has continued to focus on 
improving the competitive ability of both the paper 
and online newspapers. It has particularly focused 
on business journalism as well as on articles on 
food and beverages. Although the tsunami disas-
ter occurred at the end of 2004, its human and 
political consequences affected the 2005 news 
year. SvD put a lot of resources into covering this 
and had many reporting teams in place in Thailand 
during the year. In connection with the first anni-
versary of the disaster, the newspaper published a 
memorial insert that was widely appreciated. 
In September, SvD was chosen as the “Daily 
Newspaper of the Year” and in October it won the 
international “Best Designed Newspaper” award. 

Printing
In 2005, SvD sold its stake in Tidningstryckarna 
AB. The printing of the Stockholm edition was 
moved to Tabloidtryck AB in Södertälje. This 
transfer led to lower printing costs and meant 
that SvD did not have to make new major invest-
ments in the old printing works. 

Events in 2006 
Gunnar Strömblad has resigned as CEO and 
taken up other tasks within the Group. A revised 

Sunday newspaper was launched in February. 
The quality of parts of its Business and Culture 
sections has been considerably improved. 

Future prospects
The advertising market is expected to continue 
to be strong in 2006. This is a particular advan-
tage for SvD, which is a good channel for adver-
tisers that want to reach readers with a high level 
of education and a high income. The circulation 
figures are also expected to increase slightly. 
SvD’s finances are well balanced for the first 
time. With the strong strategic investments made 
in new media, SvD has good future prospects. 

SvD.se AB
At the end of 2005, SvD.se had almost 400 
000 unique visitors per week, compared with 
250 000 visitors at the same time in 2004. This 
increase was much stronger than those of its 
competitors. Its revenues increased in line with 
this. In a strong market, its revenues increased 
by all of 80 per cent. 

As part of the continued focus on new media, 
the operations in SvD.se were spun off into a 
separate limited company at the start of 2006, 
with Näringsliv 24 AB and Tasteline AB as 
subsidiaries.

Näringsliv24 was launched in October and 
immediately became the second largest 
business web site in Sweden. Its operations are 
run by a company in which Svenska Dagbladet 
owns a 60 per cent share while Aftonbladet 
owns a 40 per cent share. n24 has been very 
well received by both readers and advertisers. 

In January 2006, SvD.se and n24.se launched a 
new recruitment web site, Jobb24.se. This aims 
to become the leading web site in Sweden for 
helping companies, organisations and recruit-
ment firms to find qualified staff. 

Tasteline AB was bought in March. This web 
site is the largest independent web site in its 
field in Sweden. Since its acquisition, it has 
developed positively and achieved good growth 
in traffic and advertising revenues. 

SVENSKA DAGBLADET GROUP OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS)
IFRS NGAAP

(SEK million)   2005 2004 2004 2003
Circulation revenues 1)  411 384 384 359
Advertising revenues  425 348 340 424
Other revenues  72 73 73 72
Operating revenues  908 805 797 855
Operating expenses  (895) (824) (816) (843)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA)  13 (19) (19) 12 
Operating margin (EBITA) (%)  1,4 (2,4) (2,4) 1,4 

1) Circulation revenues consist of subscription and single copy sales revenues  

Number of employees 388 355 355 367

Circulation figures for the past three years: 2005 2004 2003
Weekdays  187 200 179 200 184 600
Sundays  197 100 190 800 194 600
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20 Minutes is Schibsted’s free newspaper 
concept. It was launched in December 1999 and 
has later experienced huge growth. In total, 20 
Minutes is one of the 10 largest newspapers in 
Europe. The newspapers are distributed five days 
a week to people going to work in the morning 
rush hour. They provide a quick update and 
service focusing on the following areas: news, 
entertainment, consumer articles/guides and 
interactive services. 

20 Minuten in Switzerland was sold in the first 
quarter to tamedia, a Swiss media company. This 
sale gave Schibsted a profit of NOK 200 million 
and the newspaper, which is the most-read one in 
Switzerland, is still being published in Zurich, Bern, 
Basel, Lucerne and St. Gallen. 

In addition, 20 Minutes is published in eight towns 
in France – Paris, Lille, Lyon, Marseille, Toulouse, 
Strasbourg, Bordeaux and Nantes, and 14 towns 
in Spain - Madrid, Barcelona, Alicante, Bilbao, 
Cordoba, Coruña, Granada, Malaga, Murcia, 
Seville, Valencia, Valladolid, Vigo and Saragossa. 

20 Minutes’ revenues in France and Spain rose by 
24 per cent in 2005. At the same time, its costs 
have increased by 35 per cent due to the strong 
expansion during the past year. The number 
of towns in which 20 Minutes is published has 
increased by two in France and eight in Spain. The 
newspaper’s circulation has also increased from 
745 000 to 805 000 in France and from 
660 000 to 1 100 000 in Spain. In addition to 
higher circulation expenses and more staff to deal 

with the new editions, the online commitment is 
also being increased in both countries. 

20 Minutos, Spain
20 Minutos is published in 14 local editions, eight 
of which were launched in 2005. In December, 
20 Minutos had more readers than El Pais for the 
first time and is thus the most read newspaper 
in Spain, with 2 298 000 readers each day. Most 
of the newspaper’s readers are young, urban 
people with an active lifestyle. 20 Minutos has 
taken a clear lead over the other two national free 
newspapers Qué! and Metro. In Barcelona and 
Madrid alone, 20 Minutos has 1 659 000 readers, 
255 000 and 479 000 more than Metro and Qué 
respectively!

20 Minutos’ strong readership in the main target 
group makes this newspaper the preferred 
advertising medium for major brand advertisers. 
Despite the steadily increasing competition, 
20 Minutos has increased its revenues by 19 per 
cent since 2004. This increase is expected to 
continue in 2006, greatly helped by 20 Minutos’ 
newly won position as the clear number one 
newspaper in Spain. The rise in circulation and 
expansion into new towns will not fully pay off 
until 2006 because the Spanish readership survey 
rules require newspapers to participate in three 
survey rounds before obtaining official figures. 

20 Minutos’ leading position has been won in a 
tough Spanish newspaper market. In addition to 
20 Minutos, Metro and Qué!, a fourth national 
daily free newspaper is planned to be launched in 
12 Spanish towns in the first half of 2006. 
The relaunch of the web sites in April 2005 has 
contributed to very positive developments for 
www.20minutos.es. Based on this, 20 Minutos will 
intensify its work of further developing its online 
activities in 2006. 

20 Minutos also owns CompraVenta.com, a 
Spanish version of the successful classified ads 
service Blocket.se. Since its launch in March 
2005, this has grown to become one of the top 
three Spanish general classified ads services. 
CompraVenta.com has 75 000 users each day 
and its database contained 120 000 advertise-
ments at the end of 2005. 

20 MINUTES, PRO FORMA
  IFRS NGAAP
(EUR million)  2005 2004 2004 2003
Operating revenues  47 78 78 50
Operating expenses  (54) (70) (70) (59)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA)  (7) 8 8 (9)
Operating margin (EBITA) (%)  (14,3) 10,5 10,5 (18,9)

Number of employees 260 279 279 250

NB: The operations in Switzerland have been sold. If Switzerland is removed from the 2004 accounts for the sake of com-
parison, the operating revenues would be reduced from EUR 78 million to EUR 38 million, and the operating result would be 
reduced from an operating profit of EUR 8 million to an operating loss of EUR 2 million. 
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A monthly magazine, Calle20, was launched in 
December 2005 and is distributed in Madrid, 
Barcelona and Valencia. This magazine has a cir-
culation of 150 000 and is targeted at urban youth 
who are interested in culture, fashion and trends. 
The magazine has been very well received by both 
readers and advertisers. 

20 Minutes, France
In France, the eight editions of 20 Minutes have 
a total circulation of 805 000 and 2 339 000 rea-
ders. It is a clear leader in the target group, which 
is 15-34 year olds, and also has a strong position 
among young, urban, female readers compared 
with the traditional newspapers in France. 

EuroPQN, the official readership survey in France, 
has so far refused to allow free newspapers to 
participate in its surveys. However, when the last 
survey was presented in Mars 2006, the free 
newspapers were included. With the sports news-
paper L’Equipe, 2,4 million readers, excluded, 
there was a close race between le Monde and 20 
Minutes to be the most generally read newspaper 
in France. Le Monde had 1.89 million readers, 20 
Minutes 1.88 million. Le Parisien in third place had 
1.7 million readers and the competitor Metro was 
half a million readers behind 20 Minutos.

20 Minutes’ advertising sales have increased 
strongly in 2005 and are developing as expected. 
Further growth is anticipated in 2006. 

In 2006, 20 Minutes will put more focus on its 
web site in France too. Both the French and 
Spanish web solutions will be developed using 
separate web organisations based in Paris and 
Madrid, but 20 Minutes will to a large extent make 
use of the expertise and experience gained by 
Schibsted’s online activities in Scandinavia. 
The progress in both Spain and France has been 
helped by stable, skilled local management teams 
whose members have remained the same during 
the past few years.

SCHIBSTED BALTICS

Schibsted Baltics consists of Estonia’s largest 
media company, Eesti Meedia (92.5%), the 
second-largest commercial TV channel in 
Estonia, Kanal 2 (100%), Lithuania’s largest 
magazine publisher ZLG (66.7%) and UAB Extra 
Zinios (51 %).

2005 ended with good results for all the 
Group’s companies in the Baltic countries. 
Estonia’s gross domestic product increased by 
around nine per cent in 2005 while Lithuania’s 
gross domestic product increased by almost 
seven per cent. This had a positive effect on 
all the publications and media channels, a fact 
which is reflected in the increase in advertising 
revenues.

Circulation
Eesti Meedia is Estonia’s largest media com-
pany and has newspaper, magazine, printing, 
online and radio operations. 

Postimees is the largest AM newspaper in 
Estonia and the Eesti Meedia Group’s most 
important publication. In addition to the 
subscription-based AM edition, Postimees 

also publishes a Russian edition and an online 
edition, postimees.ee.

The launch of two new reader-oriented projects 
in 2005, separate Tallinn pages and a Russian-
language edition of Postimees resulted in 
positive feedback from readers and advertisers. 
Based on the latest readership survey in 2005, 
the newspaper is the most read newspaper 
in the Tallinn area and the most read quality 
newspaper in Estonia. Its advertising revenues 
increased by 28 per cent in 2005 and the 
company achieved its best result ever. 
Other newspapers, the popular tabloid SL
Õhtuleht and five local newspapers, also be-
nefited from the good advertising marked and 
their circulation figures and circulation revenues 
continued to grow. 

The magazine company Ajakirjade Kirjastus
managed to maintain its profitability in a tough-
er market in 2005. The loss of market shares 
in the traditional magazine market due to new 
publications was compensated for by success 
in the book market and by other publications. 
Kroonpress is a leading newspaper and com-
mercial printing plant in Estonia. It has special-
ised in printing large volumes of newspapers, 
magazines and advertising materials. In ad-
dition to the two largest Estonian newspapers, 
Postimees and SL Õhtuleht, Kroonpress prints 
around 30 different periodicals. The company’s 

BALTICS OPERATING PROFIT IFRS NGAAP
(EEK million) 2005 2004 2004 2003
Operating revenues  758 611 611 562
Operating expenses  (678) (563) (563) (507)
Income from associated companies  1
Operating profit (EBITA)  81 48 48   55 
GW and other revenues and expenses 0 0 (24) (25)
Operating profit (EBIT) 81 48 24  30 
Operating margin EBITA (%)  10,7 8,0 7,8 9,8

Advertising revenues 307,1 236,5
Number of employees 931 860

Exchange retes
EEK / NOK   51,18 53,50 53,50 51,13
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magazine customers consist of many different 
publications in Estonia, the EU and Norway. 

Kroonpress has ISO 9001 quality certification 
(2000) and ISO 14001 environmental manage-
ment certification (1996). Production was very 
stable at the end of 2005 and the company 
produced its best results ever. 

The main challenges facing Eesti Meedia in 
2006 will be the further development of projects 
in Postimees, especially the Russian edition 
and the online edition, www.postimees.ee. Last 
year, Eesti Meedia bought Soov, a classified 
ads newspaper with a web site, soov.ee. A new 
business model based on FINN technology will 
be developed in 2006. The goal is to make soov.
ee and the group’s newspaper into the largest 
classified ads marketplace in Estonia. 

Kanal 2 is Estonia’s second-largest commercial 
TV channel. The strategic decisions and invest-
ments made over a period of time produced 
results as  expected in 2005. The revenues 
increased by 27 per cent and the company 
once more made a profit after many years of 
losses.

The year’s viewer figures were also good. Kanal 
2 was especially successful during prime time 
slots. In July, the channel for the first time 
achieved the highest viewer ratings in Estonia. 
At the end of the year, Kanal 2 was the only 
channel in Estonia whose viewer figures were 
increasing.

The positive trend in the advertising market 
and its strong programme structure puts Kanal 
2 in a good position for 2006. Its goals are 
to increase the share of original programmes 
and improve their quality, further develop the 
collaboration with TV channels in Latvia and 
Lithuania and make further progress in the 
interactive project that has been started. 

ZLG, Zurnalu Leidybos Grupe, is Lithuania’s lar-
gest magazine publisher. The company’s most 
important products are the weekly magazines 
Zmones and Ji and the monthly magazines 
Laima and Edita. 

Zmones continued to be successful in 2005 
and became the largest magazine in both 
Lithuania and the Baltic countries. Its circula-
tion almost tripled during the year. After being 

redesigned, the circulation figures for Ji (She 
– a weekly women’s magazine) also started to 
increase.

Schibsted Baltics has established a cooperation 
with Lietuvas Rytas, Lithmanias largest media 
group, and has aquired 51 per cent of the sha-
res in Extra Zinos. The paper was redesigned 
and Launched in March 2006 under the name 
LT.

EESTI MEEDIA GROUP OPERATING PROFIT IFRS NGAAP
(EEK million)  2005 2004 2004 2003
Operating revenues 579 499 499 474 
Operating expenses (510) (443) (443) (417)
Operating profit (EBITA) 69 56  56  57 
Operating margin EBITA (%)  11,9 11,2 11,2 12,0 

Number of employees 790 729 729 732
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KANAL 2 OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) IFRS NGAAP
(EEK million)  2005 2004 2004 2003
Operating revenues  122 97 97 91 
Operating expenses  (114) (103) (103) (94)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA)  8 (6) (6)  (3)
Operating margin EBITA (%)  6,4 (6,6) (6,6) (3,0)

Number of employees 57 57 57 59



Scanpix is Scandinavia’s leading picture agency 
and also has operations in the Baltic coun-
tries. This company’s operations include the 
production and sale of pictures. Most important 
customer groups are newspapers, online publi-
cations, the weekly press, publishing houses, 
the trade press, companies and advertising/PR 
agencies. Scanpix provides pictures for editorial 
use, such as news pictures and historical 
pictures, as well as illustration pictures for 
advertising and other purposes. 

The market situation
Scanpix’s largest market is print newspapers, 
despite the general decline in circulation figu-
res. The growth in reading online publications 
produces an increasing focus on pictures for 
this segment. 

The weekly press has grown in 2005. This has 
resulted in positive developments in picture 
sales to this segment. The growth in volume is 
in part counteracted by a strong pressure on 
prices. The market for sales to other segments, 
such as advertising and publishing, is relatively 
stable. A general increase in advertising volume 
has not produced a corresponding growth in the 
market for pictures for the advertising segment. 
Continued growth is expected in the online 
advertising market. 

Merger
Scanpix Sverige (Sweden) merged with Pressens 
Bild in Sweden in 2005. This merger will help 
create a competitive picture agency that is well 
equipped to face competition from other players 
in the market. The name of the new company is 
Scanpix. Scanpix sold its shareholding in Scanpix 
Danmark (Denmark) in 2005. It still has a close, 
operational collaboration with this company 
on the production, sale and export of pictures. 
Results have improved in the Baltic area and the 
company has become established in all three 
Baltic countries. 

The company’s operations produced a sound 
profit primarily as a result of strong results in 
Norway. Scanpix has continued its efforts to 
develop its own database of illustration pictures 
with a Scandinavian profile. This contributes to 
the development of a product portfolio that 
covers all the picture requirements of profes-
sional users of pictures. 

Another important contribution towards this 
goal is the work of digitising historical pictures. 
More than 30 000 historical pictures have now 
been digitised – a representative selection from 
the 2nd World War up to the present day. This is 
important from a preservation perspective and 
makes these pictures much more accessible to 
customers.

Future prospects
Scanpix will continue to be a Scandinavian 
picture agency. This involves being in a leading 
position for all types of Scandinavian pictures. 

At the same time, the company will, through 
its business partners such as Reuters, AP, EPA, 
AFP and Corbis, offer all types of international 
pictures.

An important part of future developments 
will therefore be to maintain good business 
relationships with our partners while continuing 
to make major investments in the production of 
our own pictures. 

SCANPIX GROUP OPERATING PROFIT IFRS NGAAP
(SEK million)  2005 2004 2004 2003
Operating revenues  155 138 138 139 
Operating expenses  (142) (129) (129) (130)
Revenue from associated companies  3 (1)
Operating profit (EBITA)  16 8 9 9
Operating margin (EBITA) (%)  10,5 5,6 6,5 6,3

Number of employees 128 96 96 98

Exchange rates
SEK / NOK   86,3 91,7 91,7 87,7

ZLG OPERATING PROFIT IFRS NGAAP
(EEK million)  2005 2004 2004
Operating revenues 58 20 20
Operating expenses  (53) (22) (22)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) 5 (2) (2)
Operating margin EBITA (%) 8,5 (9,2) (9,2)

Number of employees  84 74 74

Exchange rates
EEK / NOK   51,18 53,50 53,50
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Schibsted Trykk AS has a new, modern pro-
duction facility at Nydalen in Oslo and is 
Norway’s biggest printing plant. The company 
produces Aftenposten’s AM and PM editions, 
VG, avis1 (closed down in December 2005) and 
Dagsavisen. A total of around 275 million copies 
are printed yearly. The company also prints 
advertising inserts and had considerable reve-
nues from this segment in 2005. A significant 
part of its operations is also linked to inserts and 
to packing enclosures, mainly for Aftenposten. 

There is generally strong competition on 
printing assignments. Schibsted Trykk must 
constantly improve its productivity in order to 
remain competitive. 

Schibsted Trykk is continuing its work of 
constant improvement and enhanced its results 
by around NOK 16 million compared to 2004, 
excluding extraordinary costs related to the 
introduction of IFRS. The number of employees 
has been reduced by natural wastage and con-
tractually agreed early retirements (AFP). Due 
to VG’s new weekend magazine and increased 
requirements as to expertise, there was a need 
for 14 new employees in the mailroom. Seven of 
these were hired in 2005. In general, Schibsted 
Trykk is well positioned for future challenges 
related to both production and markets. 

2005 has been characterised by major changes 
to the products. Aftenposten’s morning edition 
changed to a tabloid format. VG started to 
publish its sports news in a separate section 

SCHIBSTED TRYKK OPERATING PROFIT IFRS NGAAP
(NOK million) 2005 2004 2004 2003
Operating revenues 722 668 668 662
Operating expenses (716) (663) (657) (649)
Operating profit (EBITA) 6 5 11 13 
Operating margin (EBITA) (%) 0,8 0,8 1,6 2,0

Number of employees 282 290 290 295
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on pink paper. Aftenposten relaunched its 
weekend magazine, A-magasinet. VG launched 
a weekend magazine. Schibsted Trykk has put 
a great deal of effort into both the design and 
implementation phases. 

During the local wage settlement nego-
tiations, no agreement was reached with the 
Verkstedklubben (STVK – works’) union and 
Aftenposten’s Grafiske Klubb (AGK – graphic 
workers’) union. The wage increase was there-
fore set by the company. This triggered a great 
deal of dissatisfaction, reduced the amount 
of overtime that could be worked and led to 
production problems in the printing works. A 
settlement with AGK was reached on 27 May 
in which one of the main conclusions was that 
employees cannot refuse to work overtime as a 
tool in a conflict situation. 

2006 will be a year with a high level of activity, 
investments in both buildings and plants and 
the hiring of new employees. This year, we 
will therefore concentrate on carrying out our 
projects and optimising our productivity and 
ability to deliver. 

In addition to producing newspapers for its 
owners, the commercial printing area should 
be evaluated on the basis of the general market 
situation, the balance between supply and 
demand, the relationship between commercial 
printing and inserts, and manning and invest-
ment requirements. The demand for printing 
services is increasing and it looks as if this 
trend will continue in the future. 

In any case, we must carry on implementing 
continuous improvement processes so that 
Schibsted Trykk is at all times the natural
choice for our customers, owners and 
employees.



The company
The Harstad Tidende Group (HTG) publishes 
four local newspapers in the north of Norway, 
all with their own online editions, and holds TV
and radio broadcasting licences. The Group 
owns and operates this region’s biggest rotary 
printing works.

The market situation
HTG controls 21 per cent of the newspaper 
market in the north of Norway, and 27 per cent 
of its revenues come from the MediaNor joint 
venture. The printing works in Harstad has 
contracts with four local newspapers and two 
national newspapers. 

The Group’s results have improved since 2000. 
This media group is now fully established at the 
centre of the north of Norway region, and is 
well positioned for further growth. It established 
its own distribution company in 2005. 

Outlook
All of HTG’s newspapers increased their 
circulation figures in 2005, while those of most 
of the other newspapers in the north of Norway 
fell. A multimediality restructuring programme 
has been started. Heavy investments are being 
made in upgrading and expanding the printing 
works at Harstad. 

Troms Folkeblad, Harstad Tidende and HTG-
Trykk achieved their best results ever in 2005. 
Bladet Tromsø is the second largest news-
paper in Tromsø and the gap between this 
newspaper’s circulation figures and those of the 
Nordlys newspaper grows less each year. 

   

The free newspaper avis1 was published for 
the first time on 16 April 1999 to counteract 
Osloposten. It was published every Wednesday 
and Friday and was distributed to around 
200 000 households in Oslo and the surround-
ing area. After two years, the fight against 
Osloposten ended with the latter newspaper 
being closed down and avis1 adjusted its publi-
cation dates to one day a week. avis1 had 
235 000 readers at the most. 

The board of directors of Gratisavisen avis1 
AS decided to close down operations in the 
autumn of 2005. The final edition of avis1 was 
published on 15 December of that year. As from 
January 2006, Aftenposten Aften (evening 
edition) is instead distributed to all the 
households in its area of distribution every 
Wednesday - a total of 400 000 copies. 
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TIDNINGSTRYCKARNA

Tidningstryckarna Aftonbladet Svenska 
Dagbladet AB was one of the largest newspaper 
printing plants in Sweden and had a consider-
able number of commercial printing assign-
ments in addition to printing Aftonbladet and 
Svenska Dagbladet. 

This printing plant was sold to Tabloidtrykk AB 
and the printing of Aftonbladet’s and Svenska 
Dagbladet’s Stockholm newspapers were 
transferred to printing plants in Södertälje and 
Norrtälje as from July 2005. This has enabled 
four colours to be printed on all pages and the 
number of pages to be increased to 96. 

HARSTAD TIDENDE GRUPPEN AS OPERATING PROFIT IFRS
(NOK million) 2005
Operating revenue 251 
Operating expenses (235)
Income from associated companies 4
Operating profit (EBITA) 20
Operating margin (EBITA) (%) 8,0

Number of employees 214
The Harstad Tidende Group was incorporated in Schibsted’s consolidated accounts as at 1 August 2004.

Exchange rates  2005 2004 2003
SEK/NOK 86.3 91.74 87.69
EUR/NOK 8.01 8.37 7.99
EEK / NOK 53,50 53,50 51,13



The Metronome Film & Television Group, the 
Nordic region’s largest independent TV-pro-
duction group, reorganised its operations, 
terminated unprofitable productions, increased 
its revenues by 27 per cent and achieved a 
better result than the year before. 

Distribution and rights company Sandrew 
Metronome was greatly affected by extensive 
changes to the market for videos/DVDs, the 
reorganisation of its own video/DVD distri-
bution and the sale of Sweden’s second-largest 
chain of cinemas. 

The major national TV channel companies in 
which Schibsted owns a stake, TV 2 in Norway 
and TV 4 in Sweden, both produced good 
results for the year. TV 4 initiated a consider-
able change process that made great demands 
on both the management and employees, but 
which has also improved the company’s compe-
titive ability and ability to invest in new areas.

Schibsted Forlagene, which following a merger 
in 2004 includes all Schibsted’s Norwegian and 
Swedish book and magazine publishing houses, 
experienced considerable changes in the 
market in the form of a new, freer Norwegian 
book agreement between publishers and 
booksellers. The work of turning a number of 
small publishing houses into one of Norway’s 
major publishing houses necessitates an ability 
to make changes. As regards revenue and 
results, 2005 was a record year for Schibsted’s 
publishing company. 

TV, Film & Publishing

Schibsted’s TV, film and publishing subsi-
diaries have faced major challenges and 
reorganisational processes in 2005. Both 
internal and external changes affected their 
operations. Schibsted Forlagene ended a 
good year with record results. 

TV/FILM OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) IFRS NGAAP
(NOK million) 2005 2004 2004 2003
Operating revenues 1 168 1 282 1 282 1 258 
Operating expenses (1 151) (1 259) (1 259) (1 192)
Income from associated companies 94 44
Operating profit (EBITA) 111 67 23 66
GW and other revenues and expenses 0 (78) (82) (16)
Operating profit (loss) 111 (11) (59) 50
Operating margin EBITA (%) 9,5 5,2 1,8 5,2

PUBLISHING OPERATING PROFIT IFRS NGAAP
(NOK million)  2005 2004 2004 2003
Operating revenues  356 344 344 349
Operating expenses  (312) (310) (310) (314)
Operating profit (EBITA)  44 34 34 35
GW and other revenues and expenses 0  (1) (10) (9)
Operating profit (EBIT)  44 33 24 26
Operating margin EBITA (%)  12,3 9,9 9,9 10,1 
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Metronome Film & Television is the Nordic 
region’s largest producer of TV programmes, 
drama series, feature films and advertising 
films. This production work takes place through 
subsidiaries in Sweden, Norway, Denmark, 
Finland and Estonia. 

The market in which Metronome operates is 
growing. The volume of TV and online adverti-
sing is increasing, analogue TV networks are 
being wound up in favour of digital terrestrial 
television (DTT) and IPTV is growing rapidly and 
constantly improving its broadcasting quality. 
The opportunities for interactivity are greater 
with DTT but are unlimited with IPTV. New 
companies are entering the market and new bu-
siness models are arising. Metronome has good 
prerequisites and expertise for utilising the 
opportunities created by these developments.

The digitisation of the TV network in Sweden 
has led to more intense competition between 
the TV companies and to an increase in the 
number of TV channels, which again has led to 
greater demand for TV programmes. 

At the same time, the market has been cha-
racterised by a strong pressure on production 
prices, since the demand for programmes 
has risen more quickly than the advertising 
revenues. This necessitates alternative ways 
of financing TV programmes and increases the 
need for new sources of income to produce 
films and programmes. 

With this trend, the competition on intellectual 
property rights has hardened since the impor-
tance of owning rights has increased in line with 
the opportunity to utilise these rights in more 
and more windows. Metronome has increased 
its investments in developing its own program-
mes, formats and concepts. 

Revenues rose by 27 per cent in 2005 com-
pared to the previous year and ended at SEK 
946 million. The rise in volume was primarily 

due to more TV production work in Norway and 
Sweden. The results were an improvement on 
the previous year but were to a large extent 
affected by the high costs of winding up unpro-
fitable drama projects, mainly in Norway. 
The Metronome Group was organised in six 
business areas during the year: Television, 
Interactive, Drama, Commercials, Studios & 
Facilities and New Business.

The Hotel Caesar drama series had another 
good year in Norway. More than 1 300 episodes 
have now been produced since it started in 
2000. A Norwegian-Swedish Big Brother series 
was produced in 2005 and broadcast in both 
countries. Big Brother was also produced in 
Finland for the first time and this was extremely 
successful. Work on producing a new series 
of the Commissarie (Captain) Beck films also 
started in the autumn.

The advertising film operations have developed 
positively in Norway, Sweden and Denmark. A 
closer collaboration with several major adver-
tisers has also been initiated in Denmark. 

Metronome’s Danish technical company, 
Studios, was also established in the Swedish 
and Norwegian markets during the year. 

The order situation at the beginning of 2006 is 
regarded as being satisfactory. Several large TV
productions have been sold to the Nordic TV
channels. 

METRONOME FILM & TELEVISION OPERATING PROFIT IFRS NGAAP
(SEK million)  2005 2004  2004  2003
Operating revenues  946 746   746   801 
Operating expenses  (921) (730)  (730)  (745)
Operating profit (EBITA)  25 16   16   56
Operating margin EBITA (%)  2,7 1,8  1,8   7,0
Number of employees  606 507  507   488
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Sandrew Metronome’s business concept is 
to create, buy and manage film rights for all 
current and future forms of distribution in the 
Nordic market. The company has offices in 
Stockholm, Oslo, Copenhagen and Helsinki and 
is owned in equal shares by Schibsted ASA and 
Sweden’s Anders Sandrews Stiftelse. 

Sandrew Metronome operates in all the 
“windows” of the film industry’s value chain: 
the distribution of films to cinemas, DVD, video 
on demand and TV, and participation in film 
productions and cinema operations. 

The Swedish cinema operations were sold 
in 2005 due to weak financial results over a 
long period of time. The cinema operations in 
Denmark and Finland have a stable, profitable 
position in their respective markets but efforts 
are being made to sell these cinema opera-
tions too as part of the work of strengthening 
Sandrew Metronome’s strategic focus on film 
and video distribution. 

The operating result was affected by the fact 
that 2005 was a year involving major organisa-
tional changes due to the adaptation to a new 
joint venture agreement with Warner Bros. and 
the sale of the company’s cinema operations in 
Sweden. The value of the company’s film library 
was written down. 

Sandrew Metronome’s largest commercial 
successes in the Nordic region in 2005 were 
the Harry Potter, Charlie and the Chocolate 
Factory and Der Untergang feature films. 

The Nordic cinema-film distribution market 
shrank by around 10 per cent in 2005. The 
video market improved by around 10 per cent, 
and is currently characterised by a strong 
growth in volume and falling prices. The strong 
growth of the past few years is expected to 
flatten out now. The introduction of new video 
formats is assumed to have a positive effect 
on the market in 2006. As sales prices have 
gradually fallen, supermarkets have become an 
increasingly important distribution channel for 
the film industry. 

2006 will be the year when the film industry 
will seriously start to utilise the opportunities 
provided by the digital distribution of contents. 
Sandrew Metronome has strengthened its focus 
on developing and making adaptations to new 
digital distribution formats and several projects 
are being developed, some in cooperation with 
other Schibsted companies. 

The market for the distribution and sale of 
DVD films is expected to continue developing 
positively. The market for films distributed to 
cinemas is assumed to remain stable. In the 
digital IP-based distribution formats area, the 
trend looks positive. Sandrew Metronome is 
positioning itself to be able to exploit future 
growth in these markets. 

SANDREW METRONOME GROUP OPERATING PROFIT IFRS NGAAP
(SEK million) 2005 2004 2004 2003
Operating revenues 808 1 305 1 305 1 272 
Operating expenses (825) (1 287) (1 287) (1 231)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) (17) 18 18 41 
Operating margin EBITA (%) (2,1) 1,4 1,4 3,2

Number of employees 223 439 439 437 
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Measured in daily viewers, the TV 2 Group is 
established as Norway’s largest commercial 
media company. On an average day, 71.9 
per cent of the population use the Group’s 
products, which are distributed on TV, radio, 
the Internet and mobile phones (TNS Gallup 
Forbruker & Media 4Q 2005).

The significant growth in the advertising market 
helped to strengthen the operations of the TV 2 
Group in 2005, while the revenues from various 
forms of user payment products increased con-
siderably. The Group made an operating profit 
of NOK 233 million, up from NOK 175 million in 
2004. TV2 Interactive, TV 2 Nettavisen (Online 
Newspaper), Storm Weather Center and the 
technical TV company OB-Team all improved 
their results in 2005. Kanal 24 made a loss that 
was significantly less than in 2004. 

TV 2 succeeded with a number of major 
programmes in 2005, and especially the 
handball World Championships for men and 
the entertainment programmes Idol, Jakten på 
kjærligheten (The Hunt for Love), Rikets Røst 
(The Voice of the Nation) and Senkveld (Late 
Evening) attracted many viewers. The selection 
of this year’s Idol winner was watched by 
almost 1.5 million viewers and was thus the pro-
gramme that attracted both the highest number 
of viewers ever to TV 2 and the highest number 
of viewers in Norway in 2005. 

However, TV 2 had fewer viewers than expected 
for a couple of its most important new program-
mes in the autumn of 2005 and therefore did 
not manage to capture its relative share of the 
growth in the TV advertising market. For the 
year as a whole, TV 2’s share of Norwegian 
viewers fell marginally to 29.4 per cent, while 
it achieved a commercial market share of 63.2 
per cent. Competition led to a need for extra 
new programmes on TV 2 in the autumn of 
2005 and considerable investments were made 
in the new TV channel, TV 2 Zebra. 

In the summer of 2005, the TV 2 Group and 
Telenor acquired the rights to all Norwegian 
premier football over the next few years. This 
contract has a financial framework of NOK 
1 billion and provides the exclusive rights to 
league football for three years and for cup 
matches and international matches for four 
years. This is of great strategic value to TV 2 
and the Group as a whole, and reinforced TV
2’s position as Norway’s number one football 
channel. Together with the rights to the football 
World Championships in Germany and the 
continuation of a number of well-established 
entertainment successes, this will help make 
TV 2 equipped to strengthen its position in the 
viewer market in 2006. 

TV 2 Nettavisen (online newspaper) is Norway’s 
third largest editorially based web site and 
achieved its relative share of the growth in 
revenue in 2005. The advertisers’ demands 
as to the Internet medium are increasing as 
regards both coverage and a focus on the 
target groups. TV 2 Nettavisen therefore made 
considerable investments in editorial products 
in 2005, including launching the new enter-tain-
ment portal ”Side2” and an online newspaper 
NA24.

TV 2 Interaktiv (Interactive) achieved its best re-
sults ever in 2005. This company has extensive 
operations relating to such things as tele-servi-
ces, web TV/IP TV and mobile phone contents 
services. The tele-area in particular contributed 
to the growth in revenues and profits in 2005. 

TV 2’s web TV service has become a market 
leader and considerable investments have been 
made and strategic joint venture agreements 
have been entered into to try to maintain the 

Group’s leading position as a contents supplier 
in this area, where increasingly stiff competition 
is expected. 

In January 2006, TV 2 Nettavisen merged with 
TV 2 Interaktiv to become one of Norway’s 
leading provider of online products and 
interactive services. 

The launch of TV 2 Zebra in the autumn of 2005 
was an important step in strengthening the 
company’s position in a pay-TV market that, 
measured in revenue, is now larger than the TV
advertising market. In October, a contract was 
signed with Canal Digital that ensures signi-
ficant payments for the satellite distribution of 
TV 2 and TV 2 Zebra over the next two years. 

Major investments were made in TV production 
digitisation in 2005, and further investments 
will follow in 2006. TV 2 is in the process of 
converting into a fully digitised media company 
based on modern, future-oriented solutions. 

The Norwegian parliament agreed to the 
development of a digital terrestrial network 
in February 2004 and Norges Televisjon 
(NTV), which is owned in equal shares by the 
TV 2 Group, Telenor and NRK (Norwegian 
Broadcasting Corporation), was the only 
applicant when licence applications were invi-
ted for the second time in the spring of 2005. 
The Ministry of Culture and Church Affairs and 
Ministry of Transport and Communications are 
expected to award the licence to NTV.

In November, the three NTV owners formed 
a company called NTV Pluss, which will take 
care of the pay-TV operations in the terrestrial 
network. 

TV 2 GRUPPEN OPERATING PROFIT NGAAP
(NOK million) 2005 2004 2003
Operating revenues 1 944 1 776 1 618 
Operating expenses (1 711) (1 601) (1 423)
Operating profit (EBIT) 233 175 195 
Operating margin EBIT (%) 12,0 9,9 12,1 
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The TV4 Group increased its operating profit 
considerably in 2005 compared to the previous 
year. Extensive efficiency enhancement efforts 
with the goal of reducing costs by SEK 230 
million has been carried out in order to improve 
profitability and enable further investments in 
new programmes. 

In 2005, TV4 retained its position as Sweden’s 
most popular channel with 12-59 year olds, 
achieving a viewer rating of 23.6 per cent. 
Successes like Idol 2005, Lost and the broad-
casts of the European Athletics Championships 
strengthened TV4’s position as a channel for 
all Swedes. TV4 also arranged two extremely 
successful TV fund-raisers in cooperation 
with the Red Cross, of which the largest one, 
in support of the tsunami victims, raised an 
impressive SEK 370 million. 

In November, TV4 journalists Sven Bergman, 
Joachim Dyfvermark and Fredrik Laurin were 
awarded the prestigious Stora Journalist (Best 
Journalist) Prize in the category ”Revelation of 
the Year”. They won this prize for a series of 
articles on how two Egyptian terrorist suspects 
were taken out of Sweden by masked American 
agents, a revelation that aroused considerable 
international attention. 

On 22 December 2004, the Swedish govern-
ment finally confirmed that TV4 was to have 
its licence for the analogue terrestrial network 
extended to 1 January 2008, when the analogue 
terrestrial network will be terminated. 

Since its start in 1991, TV4 has paid a licence fee 
for its exclusive right to broadcast advertising in 
the analogue terrestrial network. During these 
years, however, the TV landscape has changed 
dramatically. The number of competing com-
mercial channels has increased and the number 
of viewers that can watch commercial channels 
other than TV4 has risen from 30 per cent in 
1991 to 75 per cent in 2005. Despite these 
changes, the size of the licence fee has remai-
ned unchanged. TV4 has argued for a long time 
that the licence conditions must be changed in 
order to better reflect the changes in the market. 
In November 2005, the Swedish parliament 
decided that TV4’s licence fee is to be reduced 
over the period leading up to the termination of 
the analogue terrestrial network in 2008. 

The increasing competition in the commercial TV
market is creating a tougher fight for viewers and 
advertisers. TV4 has faced up to this competition 
with an aggressive multi-channel strategy that 
has proven to be successful.

TV4 Plus, a channel aimed at a wide public with 
a focus on popular programmes and sport, was 
launched in March 2003. After only three years 
in existence, Plus is watched by all of 65 per cent 
of the Swedish population, is the fastest growing 
Swedish TV channel and has a viewer share that 
increased to 29 per cent in 2005. 

TV4 Film was established in April 2004 and star-
ted to make a profit after only eight months. This 
is a subscription based TV channel that receives 
its revenues from subscriptions. TV4 Film is now 
watched by 28 per cent of Swedish households 
and is thus Sweden’s largest film channel. 

TV3
27,5%

TV4
45,9%

Kanal5
26,6%

SHARES VIEWERS COMMERCIAL TV CHANNELS
SWEDEN PER CENT.
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TV4 OPERATING PROFIT IFRS
(SEK million)  2005 2004
Operating revenues  2 606 2 330
Operating expenses  (2 349) (2 289)
Operating profit (EBIT) 257 41
Driftsmargin EBIT (%) 9,9 1,8

Number of employees  901 935

Exchanges rates
SEK / NOK 86,3 91,7
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TV400 started broadcasting in January 2005. 
TV400 is aimed at young adults and broad-
casts entertainment, action and comedies. It 
is broadcast to more than one million Swedish 
households and receives its revenue from both 
subscriptions and advertising. 

TV4 Fakta, a channel focusing on modern 
documentaries, factual series and news, was 
launched on 15 September 2005. TV4 Fakta 
has so far developed at record speed: it had 
247 000 viewers each week at the end of the 
year and is still growing. This channel primarily 
attracts viewers in the commercially attractive 
target group – the 25-49 year olds. 

TV4 also has Sweden’s most comprehensive 
local TV network, organised in the TV4 Sverige 
company. TV4 Sverige owns 16 local TV stations 
that broadcast news from all over Sweden 
several times a day. 

Major ownership changes towards the end of 
2004 resulted in TV4 no longer meeting the 
Stockholm Stock Exchange’s requirements re-
garding the spread of ownership. The TV4 share 
was therefore delisted from the Stockholm 
Stock Exchange’s A list in July 2005 and was 
instead quoted on the New Markets list. 

Schibsted Forlagene is a result of the merger of 
all of Schibsted’s publishing activities to form 
one company in the spring of 2004. Schibsted 
Forlagene is currently one of Norway’s largest 
publishing houses and bases its operations 
on the publication of the following product 
categories:
• Comics
• Light reading and detective novels
•  Books of facts, language courses, 

translated fiction and children’s books
• The publication of specialised magazines. 

In addition, Schibsted Forlagene imports and 
stocks international books in original language, 
owns 50 per cent of the magazine called 
Dagens Medisin and carries out publishing 
operations in Sweden through its Swedish 
subsidiaries.

2005 was the best year ever for Schibsted’s 
publishing operations. The Schibsted Forlagene 
Group achieved an operating margin of 12.3 per 
cent, while Schibsted Forlagene AS achieved 
an operating margin of 13.7 per cent. The latter 
makes Schibsted Forlagene one of the most 
profitable of the major publishing houses in 
Norway.

2005 was a good year for Schibsted Forlagene’s 
book trade sales and its portfolio has on the 
whole been popular. The most important con-
tributors were the Guinness Book of Records, 
Who What Where, the Sports Book and Herman 
Lindqvist’s book on Napoleon. Other important 

books were ”Stemmer fra Jernalderen” (Voices
from the Iron Age) by Hansen, Haagensen and 
Berntsen, ”Alvheim” by Møller and Alvheim, 
”Staff” by Håvard Rem, ”Verdenshistorien”
(World History), and ”Auschwitz - Nazistene og 
den endelige løsningen” (Auschwitz – the Nazis 
and the final solution). 

The Smart language course series was sold to 
all the bookseller chains during the year and 
has sold well. The publishing house also publis-
hed all of 16 main books in various book clubs 
in the DnB and Cappelen systems in addition to 
10 extra books in 2005.

Schibsted Forlagene increased its market share 
for comics in Norway and set a sales record 
in this segment in relation to both book shops 
and Bladcentralen. A total of 187 comic book 
products were published, with the Pondus book 
“fem rette” as the clear winner. At year-end, 
more than 60 000 copies of this had been sold. 
The Pondus monthly magazine continues to be 
successful and had an average circulation of 
almost 75 000 copies at year-end. 

182 books were published in the field of light 
reading and detective novels. The competition 
in this area is more intense than ever, with all 
of 28 Norwegian light-reading series from three 
of Bladcentralen’s publishing houses on the 
market. The launch of Margit Sandemo’s book, 
“Trollruner”, helped to strengthen Schibsted 
Forlagene’s position towards the end of the 
year and Schibsted Forlagene now publishes 
three of Bladcentralen’s eight most sold book 
series.

SCHIBSTED FORLAGENE OPERATING PROFIT IFRS NGAAP
(NOK mill.)  2005 2004 2004 2003
Operating revenues  293 285 285 286
Operating expenses  (253) (253) (253) (254)
Operating profit (EBITA) 40 32 32 32
Operating margin EBITA (%) 13,7 11,1 11,2 11,2 

Number of employees 121 123 123 120
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Schibsted Forlagene’s book importing opera-
tions had a stable year of operation in 2005 
after considerable warehousing and logistics 
problems reduced its revenues strongly in 
the second half of 2004. The focus in 2005 
has been on restoring market confidence and 
recapturing market positions. This work is going 
in the right direction and revenues increased in 
2005 compared to 2004, greatly helped by the 
sale of more than 60 000 copies of the English 
version of Harry Potter. 

2005 was a good year for the magazines too. 
Dine Penger’s single copy sales declined but 
this appeared to stabilise towards the end 
of the year. Dine Penger has carried out a 
considerable amount of work on a branding 
and strategy process and this has led to an 
improved editorial product which appeared for 
sale in March 2006. The number of subscribers 
is stable and the volume of new advertisements 
is good, with a 12 per cent increase in revenue 
compared to 2004. In 2005, Dine Penger 
entered into a joint venture with VG regarding 
a joint personal finances web service that was 
launched in February 2006. 

Tique’s circulation figures remained stable and 
ended at approximately 17 500. The volume of 
new advertisements also remained stable com-
pared to 2004 and this is regarded as positive 
with the steadily increasing competition this 
magazine is facing.

Maison also had a good year, with a stable 
circulation and increased volume of advertise-
ments compared to 2004, both for the main 
product, Maison, and for Maison Mat & Vin
(Food & Wine). Maison had a circulation of 
more than 27 000 and Maison Mat & Vin had 
a circulation of more than 17 000. The success 
of the latter will be followed up by an increase 
in the publishing frequency from two editions in 
2005 to four in 2006. 

Schibsted Forlagene started to publish a 
magazine called Sudoku Spesial in the autumn 
of 2005. This rapidly achieved a circulation of 
more than 20 000. This magazine has achieved 
extremely good contribution margins.

Schibsted Forlagene has been successful in 
the interior design magazine market. In order 
to further strengthen the publishing house’s 
position, a magazine called Design: Interiør was 
acquired as at 31 December 2005.

DAGENS MEDISIN OPERATING PROFIT IFRS NGAAP
(NOK million)  2005 2004 2004 2003
Operating revenues 16 14 14 11 
Operating expenses (12) (11) (11) (11)
Operating profit (EBITA) 4 3 3  -   
Operating margin EBITA (%) 23,3 18,9 19,5 3,2

Number of employees 10 10 10 9
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SUBSIDIA

Dagens Medisin is an advertising-financed 
newspaper for the health sector that targets 
physicians, pharmacists and other decision-
makers. Schibsted Forlagene and Sweden’s 
Medicin Today International each own a 50 per 
cent share of this newspaper. It has a circula-
tion of 20 500 and is published every second 
week. The printed newspaper is supplemented 
by an online one. (www.dagensmedisin.no)

Dagens Medisin achieved its best ever result 
in 2005, with an operating margin of 23.3 
per cent. This newspaper has confirmed and 
strengthened its position in the advertising mar-
ket and now has a market share of 67 per cent. 
Tidsskriftet for Den norske lægeforening, a 
periodical published by the Norwegian Medical 
Association, has a share of 33 per cent.

Svenska Förlaget is a Swedish fact book pub-
lishing house that publishes business literature 
and books on management. In addition to sales 
via book shops, books are also sold through this 
publishing house’s own book club, Liv & ledar-
skap (Life and Management) and through direct 
sales to companies. 

After several years of reorganisation and weak 
results, Svenska Förlaget improved its results 
in 2005 although it continued to make an ope-
rating loss. The book shop sales increased by 
28 per cent and the book club Liv & ledarskap 
(Life and Management) increased its revenues 
by 21 per cent. 

Schibsted Förlagen AB is Sweden’s second-lar-
gest publisher of comics. The company focuses 
on co-production and joint development 
projects with Schibsted Forlagene AS and these 
produce a considerable synergy effect. It publis-
hed a total of 88 publications in 2005. 

Manga Media AB publishes Japanese comic 
book products (manga) in Sweden and is a joint 
venture with Bonnier Carlsen Bokförlag, 
Bonnierförlagen AB. The company is run by 
Schibsted Förlagen AB. Most of its products, 
such as the monthly magazine called

”Shonen Jump”, are co-published in Norwegian 
and Swedish versions. 

Boknöje AB carries out book-club opera-
tions and sales to book shops of translated 
Norwegian series of books published by 
Schibsted Forlagene. The book club, Boknöje, 
has around 5 000 members. 

SVENSKA FÖRLAGET OPERATING PROFIT IFRS NGAAP
(SEK million)  2005 2004 2004 2003
Operating revenues 16 14 14 16 
Operating expenses (17) (16) (16) (17)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) (1) (2) (2)  (1)
Operating margin EBITA (%) (3,2) (13,7) (13,7) (4,0)

Number of employees 9 8 8 8

Exchange rates
SEK/NOK  86,3 91,7 87,7
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Aspiro sells mobile contents services to consu-
mers in the Nordic region, other European 
countries and the USA. The company is a 
market leader in the Nordic region and provides 
a wide range of mobile services, such as games, 
ring tones, background pictures, film clips, 
music and directory enquiries via SMS. 

Its main target group is 15-40 year-old mobile 
phone users. Aspiro’s trademarks include Inpoc, 
Cellus, Mobilehits, SMS Land, Boomi and MAF. 
Music is its largest product group, producing 
around 30 per cent of its revenue, while games 
provide around 17 per cent and pictures/films 
provide around 15 per cent. All these three 
groups’ market shares were increasing towards 
the year-end. 

The company was established in 1998 and lis-
ted on the Stockholm Stock Exchange in 2001. 
Its head office is in Stockholm and the company 
has local offices in Norway, Denmark, Finland, 
the UK, Spain, Luxembourg, Estonia, Latvia and 
Lithuania and is represented in the USA by its 
own agent. 

Formally speaking, Aspiro bought Schibsted 
Mobile in February 2005. Following the merger 
of the two companies, Schibsted is the domi-
nant owner, with 43.8 per cent of the shares at 
year-end. 

The company’s operating revenue came to SEK 
407 million in 2005, compared to SEK 130 million 
in 2004. The company achieved an operating 
profit of SEK 24.7 million in 2005, compared to 
a considerable loss in 2004. Schibsted Mobile 
is included in the accounts as from 1 March. 

If Schibsted Mobile had been included in the 
company’s accounts for the entire year, the 
revenue would have been SEK 439 million. 

Aspiro expects the market for mobile contents 
services within the geographical areas where 
the company has its operations to expand by 
10-15 per cent in 2006. The company’s goal is 
to grow more rapidly than the market and thus 
increase its market shares. 

Aspiro’s vision is to have the most attractive 
range of mobile phone services and be the 
natural choice for consumers in Europe that buy 
such services. The company’s long-term goal 
is to be the leading supplier of mobile contents 
services in Europe. 

Bokkilden is one of Norway’s leading purely on-
line booksellers and offers more than 1.6 million 
titles. It achieved revenues of NOK 45 million 
in 2005. This company was sold to De Norske 
Bokklubbene (a book club) in November 2005. 

The number of visitors, number of registered 
customers and average order value all increa-
sed in 2005. The new book agreement which 
came into effect on 1 May 2005 not only gave 
Bokkilden new growth opportunities but also 
resulted in a more competitive situation. 

E-commerce is growing in Norway and 
Bokkilden is counted as one of the leading play-
ers in online commerce in general. Bokkilden 
converted to a new technical platform in 
June 2004 and the latest traffic figures show 
more than 640 000 visitors. The e-commerce 
processes have become more automated, and 

Bokkilden now has a unique CRM tool and is 
more user-friendly. Bokkilden introduced a new 
product category, DVD/Games, in the autumn 
of 2004 and this accounted for more than 10 
per cent of its revenue in 2005. 

Schibsted Søk develops and operates Sesam.
no, an online search service. This service was 
launched commercially on 1 November 2005 
and is already one of the leading Norwegian 
search services. It aims to provide the best 
Norwegian hits for Norwegian searches. 

Schibsted Søk is to generate revenue by selling 
search words on the Internet and direc-
tory entries. The latter is organised through 
Internettkatalogen.no AS, a wholly owned 
subsidiary. 

The launch of Sesam was extremely success-
ful and very well received by those using the 
Internet. Traffic has risen dramatically and 
Schibsted aims to establish this service as the 
leading Norwegian search engine by the end 
of 2006. 

Schibsted Søk is a young company that is still in 
a start-up phase. It was formed on 2 February 
2005, launched a beta version in September, 
bought Internettkatalogen.no in October and 
launched the service commercially in 
November. The company is experiencing strong 
growth and is constantly developing. 

Schibsted Søk aims to launch the Sesam.se 
service in Sweden in the 2nd quarter of 2006. 
Further expansion in Europe is not ruled out. 

Other operations
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Schibsted Eiendom manages the Group’s real estate pro-
perties. Most of the buildings in Norway are owned 
directly or via Schibsted subsidiaries. Large floor spaces 
are rented via Schibsted Eiendom, which sublets to sister 
companies.

Schibsted Eiendom AS

Entra Eiendom sublets three floors in Akersgaten 55 from Schibsted Eiendom. In addition, Schibsted Eiendom 
rents a total of eight floors of Biskop Gunnerusgate 14 from Entra Eiendom. These floors are utilised by 
Aftenposten.

All the properties, whether owned or rented, were rented out at the year-end, mainly to companies in the 
Schibsted Group. The day-to-day operation of the buildings in Norway is outsourced, including reception services, 
security guard services, operational services and some regular maintenance work. 

Schibsted Eiendom AS as at 31 December 2005
Addresses, owned buildings  Total no. of  m2 Main tenants
Akersgaten 55, Oslo,   VG, Schibsted Eiendom/
a subsidiary of Verdens Gang (VG)         32 000  Entra Eiendom *), etc.
Apotekergaten 10, Oslo 6 400  Schibsted ASA, Schibsted Mobile, Retriever
Gildi str. 1 Tartu 1 100  Eesti Meedia – office
Jenagade 22, Copenhagen 9 600  Metronome Studios, Metronome

Productions TV3 DK, etc.
Sandakerveien 121, Oslo 45 000  Schibsted Trykk
Skjærvaveien 24, Strømmen 2 100  Schibsted Forlagene
Tähe str. 133 Tartu 7 800  Eesti Meedia office/printing works
Total 104 000
Of which Schibsted companies own       104 000 Office, production and storage premises

Land
A 1.8 hectare site ready for building on at Sandakerveien 121. Approved for building 
up to 50 000 m2 above ground. The land was sold i February 2006.

Addresses, leased buildings Total no. of m2 Main tenants
Apotekergt. 12/Pilestredet 12, Oslo 4 550  Schibsted Forlagene 
Arenavägen - Globen City, Stockholm  7 400  Aftonbladet
Biskop Gunnerusgt. 14, Oslo *) 16 174  Schibsted Eiendom/Aftenposten 
Gullhaug Torv 3, Oslo *) 7 700  Nydalen Studios, Nordisk Film, Aftenposten 
Mäster Samuelsgt 56, Stockholm 5 200 Svenska Dagbladet
Maakri 23, Tallinn 3 800  Eesti Meedia

*) Schibsted Eiendom AS sublets the premises to the tenants.



Schibsted Finans AS

Long-term financing
Schibsted’s long-term financing, which cur-
rently includes syndicated, bond and bank 
loans, will ensure that the Group has sufficient 
financial flexibility. Schibsted’s goal is for its 
total liquidity reserve to equal at least 10 per 
cent of its estimated revenues over the next 
12 months. 

In October 2003, Schibsted Finans issued two 
bond loans in the Norwegian bond market. 
These bonds are divided into NOK 600 million 
in a four-year bond loan at a fixed interest rate 
(4.98 per cent) and NOK 300 million in a three-
year loan with a floating interest rate. By issuing 
bonds, Schibsted has opened up a financing 
source that can supplement the banks. The 
issuance of bonds has also created links with 
the certificate market. 

Apart from the bond loans, Schibsted Finans 
has three loans from the Nordic Investment 
Bank – two in Euro and one in US dollars. 

In the autumn of 2005, Schibsted set up a new, 
syndicated multi-currency loan facility with a 
total lending framework of Euro 250 million, 
syndicated to eight Norwegian and international 
banks. This is a five-year drawing facility with 
an option to extend it for a further two years. 
This new loan facility replaces the previous 
loan facility for a corresponding amount. At 
year end, Schibsted Finans had not drawn on 
the syndicated loan but wants to have this 
financing source available in order to maintain 
the Group’s financial flexibility. 

Liquidity
Schibsted has a group account scheme with Danske Bank that covers all 
the Norwegian subsidiaries and most of the Group’s subsidiaries in Sweden 
and Denmark. The group account system was established to contribute to 
optimal liquidity management for Schibsted. 

Surplus liquidity is mainly invested in the group account or in short-term 
interest-rate instruments and money-market funds. 

Currency
Schibsted Finans makes use of loans in foreign currencies and forward 
exchange contracts to reduce the Group’s currency risk. The Schibsted 
Group has currency risks linked to recorded monetary items and the trans-
lation of assets in foreign entities.

Interest
Schibsted Finans has both floating and fixed interest rates on its long-term 
debts. The four-year NOK 600 million bond loan has a fixed interest rate of 
4.98 per cent. The remainder of Schibsted’s loan portfolio was at a floating 
interest rate at year-end. This means that approximately 60 per cent of the 
Group’s debt is affected by changes in the interest rate market. 
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Schibsted Finans AS is responsible for the Group’s 
external borrowing, investments and foreign-currency 
and interest-rate positions and is also the Group’s 
internal bank. 



Schibsted’s corporate governance is based 
on Schibsted’s publishing tradition and the 
value base that has always played a key role 
in the Group’s operations. 
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Corporate Governance

One of several foundations in Schibsted’s vision is that Schibsted is to be a group that fosters 
democracy and diversity through integrity and editorial independence. Schibsted ensures diversity 
in its media by means of its editorial independence and respect for the fact that different media 
have their own distinctive characters and are based on a variety of political and publishing 
platforms.

Editorial integrity, independence, credibility and quality are requirements for all the media and 
publications in the Schibsted Group’s Norwegian and foreign companies and are so central to the 
Group’s corporate governance that they are also stated in Schibsted’s Articles of Association. 

Schibsted’s corporate governance is also based on the Norwegian Recommendations regarding 
Corporate Governance (”the Recommendations”). The main principles of Schibsted’s corporate 
governance are found in this chapter of the Annual Report. It has been more natural to discuss 
other parts of the Recommendations in more specific contexts elsewhere in the Annual Report. This 
includes the principles governing editorial control of the operations, which are described under the 
chapter on Corporate Social Responsibility on page 57 of the Annual Report, as well as information 
on the Group management’s remuneration, which is stated in note eight to the accounts. 

Shareholders
Schibsted has one class of shares, with equal rights attaching to each share.

Due to Schibsted’s publishing responsibility and role in society as a media company, Schibsted’s 
impartiality and integrity have also been guaranteed by restrictions in ownership and voting rights 
stipulated in the company’s Articles of Association.

Changes to the Articles of Association require the approval of more than 75 per cent of the share 
capital represented at the Annual General Meeting. The same applies to resolutions to transfer 
publication rights in Aftenposten and VG. The Group’s publishing companies also have provisions in 
their Articles of Association to safeguard their editorial freedom.

Any shareholder owning at least 25 per cent of the shares in the company is entitled to appoint one 
board member directly.

Blommenholm Industrier AS owns 26.1 per cent of the shares in Schibsted ASA and is the 
company’s largest shareholder. The voting A share in Blommenholm Industrier AS is owned by 
Tinius Nagell-Erichsen. This will be transferred to the Tinius Trust at a time decided by Tinius Nagell-
Erichsen or in the event of his death. The Tinius Trust is described in more detail on page 58 of the 
Annual Report. 

Central bodies
The company is organised as a public limited 
company, with the Annual General Meeting 
as its supreme authority, a Board of Directors, 
an external auditor and a Chief Executive 
Officer who reports to the Board of Directors. 
Schibsted is exempt from the rules regarding 
the establishment of a corporate assembly. 

Board of Directors
The Group’s Board of Directors currently 
consists of 11 members. Seven are elected by 
the shareholders and four are elected by and 
from among the employees. In accordance with 
protocols from 1988/89, one of the employee 
seats on the board is reserved for a VG em-
ployee and three are reserved for Aftenposten 
employees. VG also has an alternate member 
who regularly attends the meetings.  In addition 
to the Group management’s representatives, 
the editors-in-chief of Aftenposten and VG
regularly attend board meetings. 

The Board’s work
The Group carried out extensive work on its 
vision and strategy in 2005, and this also invol-
ved all key parts of the Group. 

In 2005, the Board assessed several growth 
initiatives in the Group, primarily projects 
involving organic growth and not the acquisition 
of existing companies. A number of growth 
initiatives were started, mainly based on the 
Group’s online activities. The Group launched a 
search service, sesam.no, an online newspaper, 
N24.se, and new online classified ads solutions 
based on FINN’s and Blocket’s technology and 
expertise.
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The Group’s strategy process has been altered 
as from 2006 as part of the execution of the 
new vision and strategy work in the Group. 
Three-year strategies will be updated annually 
by tactical plans and budgetary consequences 
being determined. The Group’s annual strategy 
meeting will take place in the spring and will 
form the basis for the Group’s budgetary 
processes.

As a management tool for use in its continuous 
monitoring and control of the Group’s ope-
rations, the Board receives thorough reports 
on the current situation, showing the main 
financial figures for the Group, the status of 
the commercial situation, financial market 
information and a status report for each 
business area.

 The Board seeks to obtain a detailed presen-
tation of one of the Group’s central companies 
at each board meeting, so that it has a closer 
relationship with the Group’s individual com-
panies and their managers. Furthermore, the 
Board seeks to regularly combine its meetings 
with a visit to one of the Group’s subsidiaries 
outside Oslo. This normally takes place at the 
same time as the strategy meeting. In connec-
tion with the strategy meeting in September 
2005, the Board visited 20 Minutes’ Spanish 
head office in Madrid. The next strategy 
meeting will be held in Tallinn. 
  
The Board’s evaluation of its work
In the autumn of 2005, the Board evaluated 
its own work and way of working. These 
evaluations were based on conversations 
between the Chairman of the Board and each 
board member. Based on the views expressed 

in these conversations, the Board presented 
a written report to Schibsted’s Nomination 
Committee. The Chairman of the Board 
presented the report at a meeting with the 
Nomination Committee in December 2005. 

The Board believes it consists of qualified 
members who represent diversity as regards 
experience, age, gender and education and that 
this is an important prerequisite for its work. A 
more detailed presentation of the Board mem-
bers, listing their experience and expertise, is 
given on pages 67 of the Annual Report. 

The frequency and location of the Board’s 
meetings function well. In 2005, eight ordinary 
Board meetings, including the strategy meeting, 
were listed on the Board’s meeting schedule. 
The amount of work to deal with has been 
steadily increasing and a total of 14 meetings 
were held in 2005. Two of these were held on 
the telephone and one by e-mail. The Group 
has no objections to the practice of dealing 
with issues extraordinarily through telephone or 
e-mail meetings. Nonetheless, such issues are 
normally presumed to have been discussed at 
an ordinary Board meeting prior to this. 

There is a great need for professional updating 
in a media group in a constantly changing 
technological landscape. The Board therefore 
regards it as extremely positive that it is regu-
larly invited to professional seminars arranged 
by the management, using external and internal 
speakers, in addition to the Board meetings. 

The Board’s independence 
In order to strengthen and utilise the Board 
members’ expertise in and experience of the 

Schibsted Group’s operations, some of the 
Board members also hold directorships in 
the Group’s subsidiaries. Among the share-
holder-elected Board members, this currently 
applies to Ole Jacob Sunde, who is a director of 
Aftonbladet, Cato A. Holmsen, who is a director 
of Aftenposten, Monica Caneman, who is a 
director of Svenska Dagbladet, and John A. Rein 
(deputy alternate member), who is a director 
of VG. 

The Board of Blommenholm Industrier AS 
consists of Tinius Nagell-Erichsen, as the 
Chairman of the Board, in addition to Ole Jacob 
Sunde and John A. Rein. Ole Jacob Sunde is the 
Chairman of Schibsted’s Board. John A. Rein is 
the deputy alternate member for the share-
holder-elected members of the Group’s Board 
and provides legal services to Blommenholm 
Industrier AS/Tinius Nagell-Erichsen through 
the law firm of Wikborg, Rein & Co.  

Formuesforvaltning, of which Ole Jacob Sunde 
is a major shareholder, has a management 
agreement with Blommenholm Industrier AS/
Tinius Nagell-Erichsen. Blommenholm Industrier 
AS has invested in FSN Capital Fond I (1.68 
per cent share) and FSN Capital Fond II (0.66 
per cent share). Cato A. Holmsen is executive 
chairman of FSN Capital Partners, which is 
these funds’ management company. Alternate 
member Karl-Christian Agerup owns 11.7 per 
cent of Hugin, in which Schibsted has a 25.7 
per cent stake. Karl-Christian Agerup was one 
of the founders of Hugin. 

Some Board members and alternate members 
are also directors of the Tinius Trust. The board 
of the Tinius Trust currently comprises Tinius 

TROND BERGER
Executive Vice 
President
Economy/Finance

KJELL AAMOT
President and 
CEO

JAN ERIK KNARBAKK
Executive Vice 
President
Corporate publishing 
affairs

SVERRE MUNCK
Executive Vice 
President
International

BIRGER MAGNUS
Executive Vice 
President Norway

GUNNAR STRÖMBLAD
Executive Vice 
President, Sweden

Schibsteds Group management according to the new corporate structure taking affect in 2006
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Nagell-Erichsen, Ole Jacob Sunde, John Rein 
and Per Egil Hegge. 

In general regarding the establishment of 
Board committees 
The risk elements in Schibsted’s operations are 
increasing as the company grows in size and 
scope and becomes more international. Internal 
controls and risk assessments are therefore 
important parts of the regular Board work. They 
are also important when reviewing the prelimi-
nary annual accounts.  

The Board shares the Nomination Committee’s 
view that the formation of committees can lead 
to the Board having less responsibility for issues 
and that committees should therefore only be 
used when the complexity and scope of the issue 
so require. The Board also shares the Nomination 
Committee’s view that there is expected to be 
less need to establish committees if the Board has 
fewer members. 

The Board has concluded that it is not yet neces-
sary to establish a separate Audit Committee. 
However, the Board did establish a separate 
Compensation Committee in 2004. 

The Board’s Compensation Committee 
The Compensation Committee prepares issues for 
the Board relating to the remuneration of senior 
management in key subsidiaries. 

This work includes issues relating to salaries, 
bonuses, options, severance pay, early retirement 
pensions and retirement pensions. The complexity 
of and thoroughness required by these issues 
meant that the Board saw a need to establish a 
committee that could prepare these issues for 
the Board. 

Since its formation in 2004, the Compensation 
Committee has consisted of Ole Jacob Sunde, 
as its chairman, as well as Monica Caneman 
and Alexandra Bech Gjørv. Like the Board, the 
Compensation Committee is up for election each 
year. 

The secretary to the Board is also the secretary to 
the Compensation Committee. The CEO attends 
Compensation Committee meetings unless his 
own remuneration is to be discussed. Other inter-
nal management resources and external expertise 
are also used to prepare issues for the committee. 

Remuneration of the senior management in the 
Schibsted Group
In 2005, certain changes were made to the 
Group’s compensation schemes:

Salaries and directors’ fees
The system involving paid directorships for 
senior Group employees was abolished in 2005. 
The employee representatives are not covered 
by this decision. 

The reason for this is that employees who hold 
directorships on behalf of Schibsted will have 
these as a natural part of their work for the 
company. It is therefore not natural for them 
to be paid extra for this. The payment of extra 
remuneration for directorships could also make 
it more difficult to alter board compositions 
where this would otherwise be natural. 

For many managers, the disappearance of a 
director’s fee meant a considerable decrease 
in income which was partially compensated for 
by an increase in their fixed salary. This led to 
some managers receiving a large salary rise in 
2005. Apart from these extraordinary salary 
increases, the Group’s salary rises are conside-
red to be moderate. 

Bonus
The Compensation Committee reviewed the bo-
nus schemes applicable to the Group’s senior 
management in 2005. The Board agreed to the 
introduction of certain new guidelines governing 
bonus criteria which, with effect on any bonus 
payments for 2005, are to be implemented 
throughout the Group. The bonus criteria for 
2005 and bonus payments to the Group mana-
gement for 2004 are stated in the overview in 
note 8 to the accounts. 

The option programme
The option programme currently covers the 
CEO, the executive vice presidents and the 
managing directors and editors-in-chief of 
Aftenposten, VG, Svenska Dagbladet and 
Aftonbladet. The purpose of the option 
programme is to contribute to increased 
ownership by the Schibsted management and 
thereby that the management and the share 
holders have the same interests. In order to 
increase the ownership, a duty to reinvest when 
options were exercised, until a certain minimum 
ownership in the Schibsted shares is achieved, 
was introduced in 2005.  For the CEO, this 
comprises an ownership requirement equivalent 
to two years’ salaries, while it equals a require-
ment of one year’s salary for the executive vice 
presidents and six months’ salary for other 
managers covered by the programme. The 
option programme is further mentioned in note 
9 to the accounts.

Early retirement and retirement pensions 
The Compensation Committee reviewed the ear-
ly retirement and retirement pension schemes 
for the Group’s senior management in 2005. 

A standardised, common pension scheme for the 
Group’s senior management will not suit all the 
companies and persons covered. Nonetheless, 
it is desirable to arrive at some guidelines for all 
the companies with regard to total costs and 
some key elements in the pension scheme, such 
as the age and pension level for early retirement 
pensions. A restruc-turing will lead to extra costs 
for the Group but will also result in greater flexibi-
lity and an opportunity for individual adaptations. 
The work relating to early retirement pensions 
will be concluded during the first half of 2006. 

Schibsted’s termination payment schemes 
The termination payment schemes for senior 
managers were reviewed in 2005. These 
schemes correspond to what is perceived 
to be normal in comparable companies. The 
prevailing termination payment schemes for the 
Group management are described in note 8 to 
the accounts. 



The CEO’s conditions 
The main elements in the CEO’s prevailing 
salary, bonus, option, early retirement and 
retirement pension scheme are stated in note 8 
to the accounts.

The CEO’s overall conditions were assesed in 
2005. Apart from the changes already made 
in relation to his bonus and options due to 
the general changes described above, his 
employment contract and early retirement 
and retirement scheme have been considered. 
This has led to new conditions applying from 
February 27th 2006.

The Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is made up of 
Supreme Court Attorney Lars A. Christensen 
(Chairman), Gunn Wærsted and Tinius Nagell-
Erichsen.  Rune Selmar, the alternate member 
who regularly attended Nomination Committee 
meetings, resigned from the Nomination 
Committee when he resigned as CEO of the 
Norwegian National Insurance Scheme Fund in 
the autumn of 2005. 

The Nomination Committee is elected by the 
Annual General Meeting for two years at a time. 
The Nomination Committee is up for re-election 
at the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2006. 

In January 2006, the largest shareholders 
in Schibsted were asked if they wanted to 
propose any candidates to the Nomination 
Committee. The National Insurance Scheme 
Fund has proposed the election of director 
Nils Halvard Sebastian as a regularly attending 
alternate member.  Blommenholm Industrier AS 
has proposed the re-election of the Nomination 
Committee’s permanent members and sup-
ports the National Insurance Scheme Fund’s 
proposed candidate. The candidates will be 
presented at the Annual General Meeting. 

The secretary to the Board prepares issues for 
the Nomination Committee and normally 
attends meetings together with the CEO. 

Lars A. Christensen has been Chairman of 
the Nomination Committee for a number of 
years and has also chaired Schibsted’s Annual 
General Meetings for many years. He is a part-
ner in the law firm of Wikborg, Rein & Co which, 
through John A. Rein, has a relationship with 
Blommenholm Industrier, Tinius Nagell-Erichsen 
and the Tinius Foundation. 

At the Annual General Meeting, the Nomination 
Committee’s chairman presents an oral report 
on the Nomination Committee’s work during 
the year. The Nomination Committee’s written 
report is published on page 59 of the Annual 
Report.

Schibsted’s Group Council
Schibsted’s Group Council was established in 
2004, based on the regulations governing the 
Establishment of European Works Councils.

The purpose of the Group Council is to promote 
development, motivation, joint responsibility 
and mutual trust between the management 
and employees. The Group Council is to ensure 
active cooperation and represent a forum for 
information, discussion and dialogue within 
the Group.  The Group Council is a supplement 
to the employees’ representation in their own 
companies.

A more detailed presentation of the Group 
Council and its work is given on page 63 of the 
Annual Report.

Auditing
Ernst & Young is Schibsted ASA’s auditor. The 
Company’s auditor is present when the preli-
minary consolidated accounts are presented 

to the Group’s Board, and sometimes also in 
connection with the final presentation of the 
accounts.

At these meetings, the auditor reviews the 
issues that have been assessed during the year 
and answers questions from the Board. The 
auditor is also present at the company’s Annual 
General Meeting, comments on the auditor’s 
report that has been provided and invites the 
shareholders to ask questions relating to the 
audit.

Ernst & Young is Schibsted ASA’s auditor. The 
Group’s total auditors’ fees paid to Ernst & 
Young in 2005 amounted to NOK 5 535 000, of 
which NOK 1 079 000 related to auditing servi-
ces provided to Schibsted ASA. NOK 843 000 
of this related to the mandatory audit. Other 
services provided by Ernst & Young are invoiced 
separately and in 2005 these amounted to 
NOK 958 000 for the Group and NOK 236 000 
for Schibsted ASA. This assistance is mainly 
connected to questions relating to taxation and 
necessary auditor’s confirmations in connection 
with corporate changes in the Group (capital 
injections, mergers, demergers, etc). 

Some of the Group’s subsidiaries use other 
auditing firms. Auditors’ fees to these firms 
amounted to NOK 6 412 000 in 2005, of which 
NOK 4 259 000 related to mandatory audits.

It is the Board’s opinion that the consulting 
services carried out by Ernst & Young for the 
Group are mainly connected with the auditing 
assignments and do not influence the auditor’s 
impartiality.

The Board has so far seen no need to hold me-
etings with the auditor without the management 
being present. 
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1839
Chr. Schibsteds 
Forlag is established

1860
Christiania 
Adresseblad/
Aftenposten is 
launched

1885
Aftenposten twice 
a day

1966
Acquisition of VG

1989
From a private 
com-pany to a 
limited company and 
then a group  

1992
Listing on the Oslo 
Stock Exchange

1992
First investments in 
TV and films

1995
First investments in 
the Internet and new 
media

1995
The first invest-
ments in Estonia

1995
Acquisition of 
Metronome Film & 
Television

1996
The purchase of 
Aftonbladet

1998
The acquisition of 
Svenska Dagbladet

1998
Investment in the 
Eesti Meedia Group

1999
FINN.no is 
established

1999
The 20 Minutes free 
newspaper concept 
is launched

2000
Scandinavia Online 
(SOL) listed

2001
The launch of 20 
Minutos in Spain

2002
The launch of 20 
Minutes in France 

2003
The purchase of 
Blocket AB

2005
Schibsted Søk 
(Search) launches 
Sesam

Schibsted’s history



Corporate social responsibility
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Mutual trust between us and our readers, 
viewers and listeners, as well as our employees, 
owners and society at large, is crucial. We aim 
to be a group that ensures diversity in the media 
through our editorial independence and respect 
for the fact that different media have different 
distinctive characters and are based on dif-
ferent publishing and political viewpoints. This 
task must be continuously assessed, especially 
when investing in new media and in markets 
where editorial freedom does not have the same 
traditions as in Scandinavia. 

Our editorial work takes place in compliance 
with the legislation and ethical rules that apply to 
media in the individual countries. In Norway, these 
principles have been stipulated by the Norwegian 
Press Association in its Code of Ethics. In Sweden, 
newspapers are edited in accordance with the 
Freedom of the Press Act and the ethical rules 
that apply to the Swedish press. 

In addition, each newspaper has its own internal 
regulations that are intended to ensure its edito-
rial integrity, protect its sources and safeguard 
its ethical press standards. The editor-in-chief is 
personally fully liable for the newspaper’s con-
tents, according to the Editor’s Code. This also 
applies to advertisements. The editor reports 
to the company’s board of directors, but is the 
independent head of the editorial staff based 
on the company’s articles of association and 
memorandum of association.

The newspapers have developed special 
procedures governing delegation and how the 
work is to be carried out during the media day. 
The objective of this is to ensure quality and 
compliance. Schibsted’s largest newspapers, 
Aftonbladet, VG, Aftenposten and Svenska 

Dagbladet, make the ”editorial control of ope-
rations” visible in their annual reports, as does 
Scanpix, Schibsted’s picture agency. 
Nowadays, Schibsted has a variety of new 
media channels that impart editorial content to 
society in various arenas. It has been important 
for Schibsted to apply the basic requirements 
regarding media ownership to these new media 
channels too.

“Ownership means much more to a newspaper 
than it does to a normal industrial company.” 
This was stated by Tinius Nagell-Erichsen when 
he gave his account of the Tinius Trust in May 
1996. This shows the special corporate social 
responsibility linked to operating newspapers 
and other media. Media owners have a special 
responsibility. The Tinius Trust is discussed on 
page 58 of this report. 

Gender equality 
Schibsted makes its living from skilled mana-
gers and employees. Their expertise, creativity 
and willingness to continually improve are 
increasingly crucial to our success. So it is vital 
to the Group to ensure that men and women 
have the same development opportunities. This 
is an important part of the Group’s corporate 
social responsibility and the basis for further 
success.

Active efforts are made to ensure that men and 
women have the same terms, the same access 
to managerial positions and the same condi-
tions in relation to recruitment and development 
activities in a number of the Group’s compa-
nies. Several companies have their own gender 
equality plans, and many carry out mapping 
work based on a gender equality perspective. 

VG’s journalist trainee programme which was 
established in 2003 is one of several examples 
of the fact that Schibsted’s subsidiaries take 
the question of gender equality seriously. The 
goal of this programme is to recruit female 
talents to jobs in male-dominated editorial envi-
ronments, such as sports and news desks. 

Aftenposten has actively recruited women to 
managerial positions and 28.8 per cent of its ma-
nagers are now women. Correspondingly, 36 per 
cent of Aftonbladet’s managers and 64 per cent 
of Svenska Dagbladet’s managers are women. VG
has a female managerial share of 28.6 per cent.

Among the shareholder-elected members of 
the Group board, 43 per cent are women. If the 
employee-elected members are included, 45 
per cent of the Group’s directors are women. 
The Group management is also working 
systematically to ensure a balance between the 
sexes, not least in the Group’s own develop-
ment programmes. Since these programmes 
were established, the share of women in them 
has been as follows:
• Schibsted’s Management Trainee Programme 

– established in 1997 - 45 per cent. 
• Schibsted’s Middle Manager Programme 

– established in 2003 - 38 per cent 
• Schibsted’s Manager Programme – establis-

hed in 2004 - 26 per cent. 

The total share of women in Schibsted’s 
management and development programmes is 
32 per cent. However, a lot remains to be done 
before Schibsted can be said to have achieved 
full gender equality. 

Trust is a key word for a media group. 
For Schibsted, acting properly and 
responsibly is of vital importance. 



The Tinius Trust was founded by Schibsted’s 
principal owner, Tinius Nagell-Erichsen, in order 
to ensure that Schibsted’s newspapers and 
other media can continue to maintain their 
positions as free and independent bodies in the 
future. This trust was established by a deed of 
gift on 8 May 1996 and has a capital base of 
NOK 10 million. 

On Tinius Nagell-Erichsen’s death or at a 
time decided by him, the only voting share in 
Blommenholm Industrier AS will be transferred 
to the Trust. This company owns 26.1 per cent 
of the shares in Schibsted ASA and is its largest 
shareholder.

According to Schibsted ASA’s articles of as-
sociation, any changes to these require a three-
quarters majority and no shareholder can own 
or vote for more than 30 per cent of the shares.  
Schibsted ASA’s articles of association also 
ensure that important resolutions in the Group’s 

subsidiaries require a three-quarter majority at 
the Annual General Meeting of Schibsted ASA. 
As long as the 26.1 per cent shareholding is 
held as one single unit, these provisions thus 
have considerable influence over the ownership 
of Schibsted. The strength of this block of sha-
res is so great that any takeover would also be 
difficult.  At the 1996 Schibsted Annual General 
Meeting, Tinius Nagell-Erichsen spoke about 
why he had founded the Trust. He said:

”Ownership is much more significant to a news-
paper than a normal industrial company. 
A newspaper is not a standard product, but 
rather a forum for essential social information 
and debate, on which our democratic society 
rests.

In addition to its long-term nature, newspaper 
ownership should openly pledge itself to the 
values which the newspaper represents. At 
times it may be called upon to defend these 

values so that the newspaper can retain its 
freedom and independence. This is when it is 
an advantage to own a majority.”

The Tinius Trust’s articles of association specify 
that the Trust is to work to ensure that the 
Schibsted Group continues as a media group, 
run in accordance with the same editorial and 
business guidelines as at present. The principles 
of editorial freedom, credibility and quality are to 
be guiding for all media and publishing busines-
ses owned by the Schibsted Group. The Trust is 
also to work for the long-term, sound financial 
development of the Schibsted Group. 

The Board of the Trust currently consists of 
Tinius Nagell-Erichsen, Per Egil Hegge, John 
A. Rein and Ole Jacob Sunde. After Nagell-
Erichsen’s death, the Board will consist of three 
members. Each member will appoint his own 
successor.

The Tinius Trust
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Working environment
Schibsted wants to provide secure jobs where 
people enjoy working and there is a good col-
laboration between colleagues and between 
the management and other staff. Work on the 
workplace environment takes place in each 
company’s working environment committee, 
among other places. With the help of the com-
pany health service, regular working environ-
ment surveys are conducted and these form the 
basis for improvements. 

The Group’s overall sickness absence rate is 
around six per cent and has remained stable 
over the past years. Some companies, such 
as Schibsted Trykk, have had particularly high 
sickness absence rates. Measures have been 
implemented to reduce the sickness absence 
rate but it is still as high as 13.8 per cent. 
Further measures are being implemented.

The level of injury in the Group’s companies is 
low.  The printing companies’ operations are 
particularly exposed to injury but active SHE 
work is being carried out. No accidents were 
reported in the printing works in 2005. Seven 
occupational injuries leading to absence were 
registered. This represents a reduction of 14 per 

cent compared to 2004. Crushing injuries and 
wounds are the most frequent types of injury. 

External environment 
Schibsted’s companies comply with prevailing 
environmental regulations. The newspaper 
production work takes place digitally up to the 
printing works. Schibsted owns three printing 
works: Schibsted Trykk and Harstad Tidende 
Trykk in Norway and Kroonpress in Estonia. 
Printing operations are basically a relatively 
clean industry. Where pollutants are used, the 
processes take place in closed systems. 
Most of the waste produced is sorted. For 
example, Schibsted Trykk sorts 98 per cent 
of all its waste. Special waste is picked up by 
approved carriers. 

The printing works have carried out projects 
aimed at making environmental improvements:
• Schibsted Trykk has installed a treatment fa-

cility that has reduced the volume of fountain 
solution waste from 172 tonnes in 2000 to 
26 tonnes in 2004.

• Kroonpress has obtained ISO environmental 
management certification (ISO 14001/1996). 

Schibsted Trykk’s facility for treating fountain 
solution waste no longer has the capacity to 

treat all such waste and the excess has to be 
gathered for destruction. The volume of waste 
rose to 106 tonnes in 2005 due to increased 
production. The company is therefore conside-
ring installing another treatment facility. 

The amounts of paper, printer’s ink and electri-
city consumed vary slightly between the prin-
ting works. Since Tidningstryckarna is no longer 
owned by Schibsted, the figures are not compa-
rable with those for 2004. The three remaining 
printing works, Schibsted Trykk and Harstad 
Tidende Trykk in Norway and Kroonpress in 
Estonia, consume a total of 84.3 thousand ton-
nes of paper, 1 781 tonnes of printer’s ink and 
colours and 24.5 GWh of electricity. 

The amount of electricity used is more or less the 
same as in 2004, while the volume of printer’s 
ink and paper used has increased by 5-6 per 
cent, mainly due to larger newspaper formats. 

Schibsted’s printing works report on environ-
mental factors in their own reports. For exam-
ple, Schibsted Trykk prepares an environmental 
report each year. The newspaper companies in 
Norway and Sweden arrange for unsold news-
papers to be collected for recycling. 



Election of shareholder-elected Board
members and alternate members 
Schibsted’s election system was changed at 
last year’s Annual General Meeting such that 
the Board’s shareholder-elected members and 
alternate members are now up for re-election 
every year. An important part of the Nomination 
Committee’s work has therefore also this year 
been to recruit new members to the Board and 
evaluate the Board’s work. 

In its assessment, the Nomination Committee 
has taken into consideration the evaluation 
report received from the Group’s Board, which 
gives an account of the Board’s work and way 
of working in 2006. 

The Nomination Committee is of the opinion 
that the Group’s Board has a broad composition 
as regards expertise, experience, age, gender 
and education, and that the Board recruitment 
over the years ensures that directorships are 
also held by independent Board members who 
do not have any special interests to safeguard 
in a Board context. 

The annual report’s section on corporate gover-
nance provides information on the Group Board 
members’ business relations with shareholders 
and others. As regards the Board members’ 
independence, the Nomination Committee 
wishes to state that the Deputy Chairman of 
the Group’s Board, Tinius Nagell-Erichsen, 
represents Schibsted’s main shareholder, 
Blommenholm Industrier AS. 

As regards the Board’s other members, there 
is no such direct representation, but there 
are nonetheless grounds for stating that the 
Chairman of the Board, Ole Jacob Sunde, and 
deputy alternate member John A. Rein are both 
directors of the Tinius Foundation which has 
been established by Tinius Nagell-Erichsen. 
The Tinius Foundation will acquire the only 
voting A-share in Blommenholm Industrier AS 
when Tinius Nagell-Erichsen so decides or on 
his death. Apart from this, alternate member 
Karl-Christian Agerup owns 11.7 per cent of 
Hugin AS, in which Schibsted holds a 25.7 per 
cent stake. 

The Nomination Committee regards the Group 
Board’s other shareholder-elected members 
and alternate members as being independent 
in the sense that they cannot be said to have 
any special links with any specific groups of 
shareholders.

The Group Board members’ directorships 
in subsidiaries 
The Nomination Committee does not believe 
that the Group Board members’ directorships 
in subsidiaries weaken their independence as 
Group Board members. On the contrary, the 
Nomination Committee is of the opinion that 
this represents a resource when important 
issues are to be discussed. At present, Ole 
Jacob Sunde, Cato Holmsen, Monica Caneman 
and John A Rein are the ones who hold director-
ships in the Group’s subsidiaries. A separate 
fee is paid for these directorships in line with 
the resolutions of the individual companies’ 
Annual General Meetings. 

The creation of Group Board committees 
The Nomination Committee is aware that the 
Group Board has established a Compensation 
Committee which assesses the remunera-
tion schemes for the senior managers in key 
companies within the Schibsted Group. The 
Nomination Committee is aware that there is 
a general trend towards establishing commit-
tees in order to ensure that issues are properly 
prepared before they are put before the Group 
Board for a resolution. 

The Nomination Committee understands that 
the Group Board has a need for complicated, 
detail-oriented issues, such as managerial 
salaries, bonuses, options and pensions, to 
be prepared separately by some of the Group 
Board members and then submitted to the 
Group Board for a decision. The fact that such a 
way of working has been chosen also seems to 
be related to the fact that Schibsted has a large 
Group Board and that a round-table discus-
sion at Board meetings can for that reason be 
demanding.

Nonetheless, the Nomination Committee 
is sceptical to the creation of committees 
because this may lead to the Board as a group 
having less responsibility for issues. The more 
important an issue is, the more reason there is 
for the entire prior discussion and preparation 
of the decision-making basis to take place in 
the Group Board as a whole, and not among a 
minority of the Board members through work on 
a committee. 

The Nomination Committee believes the need 
to use committees to prepare issues for the 
Group Board should be less if the number of 
Board members is reduced. The Nomination 
Committee is aware that work is still being 
carried out to achieve such a reduction in Board 
members and supports this work. 

Election of members to the Compensation 
Committee
The Compensation Committee currently consis-
ts of Ole Jacob Sunde, who is this committee’s 
chairman, Alexandra Bech Gjørv and Monica 
Caneman. The Group Board has stated that no 
changes will be made to the composition of the 
Compensation Committee for the next one-year 
period provided the Group Board members in 
question are re-elected at this year’s Annual 
General Meeting. 

Fees payable to the members of the 
Group Board
A thorough evaluation of the Board members’ 
fees was conducted prior to last year’s Annual 
General Meeting. All the fees were increased 
considerably but are currently regarded as be-
ing at a level that is common in the market. 

The Nomination Committee will not propose 
any changes to these fees at this year’s Annual 
General Meeting. This means that the following 
fees will apply for the next one-year period. The 
Chairman of the Board: NOK 550,000, Board 
members NOK 150,000, apart from those who 
live abroad who will receive NOK 225,000 as 
compensation for their extra travelling time. 
20 per cent of the fee is related to attendance. 
The alternate members’ fees consist of a fixed 
fee of NOK 30,000 plus NOK 10,000 each time 
they attend a Board meeting. 

Fees payable to Compensation Committee
members 
The Group Board members who work on com-
mittees should continue to receive a separate 
fee for this work. The Nomination Committee 
does not propose making any changes to 
the fees agreed on for the Compensation 
Committee at last year’s Annual General 
Meeting. This means that the fee payable to this 
committee’s chairman is NOK 50,000, while 
NOK 30,000 is payable to the committee’s 
other members. 

Disbursement of Board members’ fees
Board members’ fees are determined in 
advance in Schibsted, following a reorgani-
sation a few years ago. The practice in the 
company has been for the Board members’ fees 
to be disbursed following each Board meeting. 
This practice will be changed as from this year’s 
Annual General Meeting, so that Board fees will 
be disbursed at the end of the period for which 
the members are elected. 

The Nomination Committee’s   
report
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Shareholder information

Schibsted is a listed company that is to provide a com-
petitive rate of return based on sound finances. The 
board of Schibsted believes it is essential that shares 
in the company are perceived to be an interesting 
investment alternative. 

According to an authorisation granted by the 
General Meeting, Schibsted can repurchase up 
to 10 per cent of its own shares. Repurchases 
must be viewed in relation to Schibsted’s 
dividend policy, investment opportunities and 
long-term perspective regarding the Group’s 
capital structure. Shares will be repurchased 
in the market over time in order to correct the 
capital structure in line with main financial 
target figures. 

A dedicated and active management and 
investor relations department deals with the 
investor market each day in order to ensure 
that relevant information is communicated 
to the market at the right time so that the 
Schibsted share is correctly priced. Contact 
with the Norwegian and international stock 
markets has high priority in Schibsted. The goal 
is to increase the market’s knowledge of the 
company, develop the investor market’s con-
fidence in Schibsted and improve the share’s 
liquidity on the Oslo Stock Exchange. 

Schibsted is monitored by the leading broker-
age firms in the Nordic region as well as by 
those in some other countries.  Its goal is to 
achieve analysis coverage from a wide panel 
of brokerage firms. Contact with international 
investors is important to Schibsted and regular 
meetings are held with investors in Europe and 
the USA. 

Schibsted’s web site, www.schibsted.no, plays 
an important role in the Group’s communication 
with the stock market. Schibsted publishes all 

Schibsted’s board therefore aims to promote the shareholders’ yield through long-term growth in 
the share price and dividend. The Board will make efforts to ensure that the price of the company’s 
shares reflects, in so far as possible, the company’s long-term earnings ability.  

Schibsted’s operations are based on strong positions in the Scandinavian media market, especially 
in the newspaper segment. The earnings and cash flow from these operations are characterised by 
cyclical fluctuations but the strong brands involved indicate a long-term, stable position. In periods 
of recession, interesting opportunities may open up for a company that has maintained its capital 
strength.

Schibsted’s Board has adopted a new vision and strategy that allow for the fact that the media 
sector is in flux. This strategy implies that development of the Group is taking place at a faster pace. 
Schibsted’s capital structure must appear to be sufficiently robust in order to maintain the financial 
freedom of action required by the Group’s growth ambitions.

Schibsted’s ownership structure, with Blommenholm Industrier as the main shareholder, gives the 
Group long-term stability. It also means that the number of outstanding shares will be stable for 
long periods of time. Earnings from operations combined with loans will therefore be the primary 
source for growth financing. Schibsted should thus have sufficient freedom of action in the form 
of increased equity and a lower debt-equity ratio to take part in future acquisitions and high-risk 
investments.

Schibsted’s many companies play an important role in a democratic society. The trust and credibi-
lity on which these media depend also necessitate financial independence. This is ensured through 
a strong financial position. 

The Group’s strategic direction and ownership structure place some restrictions on the Group’s 
capital structure. A stable increase in dividend, combined with an opportunity to repurchase shares, 
is regarded as a suitable tool for adjusting the capital structure. 

In future, Schibsted will place greater emphasis on having a fixed dividend payout ratio that, over 
time, is to be 25-40 per cent of the Group’s cash flow per share. In addition, the Group wants to 
have certain stability in the dividend over time. In years with weaker economic conditions, the level 
of dividend will be maintained in so far as the Group’s capital structure so permits. Such a dividend 
level will lead to Schibsted’s direct yield being competitive both in the Norwegian market and 
among European media companies.
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its financial information, such as presentations, 
quarterly and annual reports, stock exchange 
notices, etc, on its web site. As a media com-
pany with considerable investments in online 
products, Schibsted’s aim is to have a high 
quality web site and it has on several occasions 
won awards for the way in which it has handled 
information from the Group to the market. 

Financial goals
One of its main goals is to ensure a competitive 
rate of return for its shareholders through a 
combination of an increase in share prices over 
time and dividends. These are to be ensured 
through long-term growth and clear financial 
goals for operating margins, returns on capital 
and financial soundness. 

The average long-term financial goals during 
a business cycle are as follows:

Operating margin (EBITA)  12% 
Return on total capital 15%
Equity ratio 35%
Long-term goal for profitable 
organic growth in revenue:  7%

Dividend
Dividend is payable on 24 May 2006 to those 
registered as shareholders on the date of the 
Annual General Meeting, 11 May 2006. 

Share price development
The Schibsted share is listed on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange. At the beginning of the year, the 
share was priced at NOK 174.00. At year-end, 

this price had risen to NOK 201.00, an increase 
in value of 16 per cent. During the same period, 
the Oslo Stock Exchange Benchmark Index 
(OSEBX) had risen by around 40 per cent. The 
Oslo Stock Exchange was to a considerable 
extent driven by oil-related industries, whose 
share prices rose in line with the high oil prices. 

The lowest price at which the Schibsted share 
was traded was NOK 147.50 on 2 May while the 
highest share price, NOK 203.50, was noted on 
30 September. The media sector experienced a 
further upswing in 2005, driven by the generally 
more optimistic economic outlook. 

On average, 183 173 shares were traded daily 
in 2005, 15 per cent less than in 2004. The 
share of foreign-resident shareholders was 
47 per cent at year-end, compared to 48 per 
cent at the start of 2005. Schibsted had 4 201 
shareholders at year-end, compared to 4 425 at 
the end of 2004. 

Employee share scheme 
Schibsted believes that incentive schemes 
attract new skilled employees and keep existing 
ones. Various incentive programmes give em-
ployees an opportunity to take part in the value 
creation within the Group. 

In 2005, the employees of the Group companies 
were once more offered the chance to buy 
shares up to a value of NOK 7 500 at a 20 per 
cent discount in accordance with the Norwegian 
Tax Act’s provisions. Around 24 per cent of 
those who were invited to buy shares did so, 
compared to 20 per cent in 2004. 
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2006  
Date Time   

1st quarter 2006 accounts
Presentation 11 May 4.30 pm
Webcast – English presentation 11 May 4.30 pm
Annual General Meeting 11 May 6.00 pm  
Conference call 11 May 7.00 pm   

2nd quarter 2006 accounts
Presentation 17 August 4.30 pm  
Webcast – English presentation 17 August 4.30 pm
Conference call 17 August 6 pm

3rd quarter 2006 accounts
Presentation 2 November 4.30 pm  
Webcast – English presentation 2 November 4.30 pm
Conference call 2 November 6 pm

DIVIDEND PER SHARE (NOK)
Year  1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
Dividend  1.50 1.75 1.75 1.75 2.00 2.00 2.00 3.00 3.25 4.25

RISK AMOUNT 
(ESTIMATED ADJUSTMENT TO THE TAX BASIS) PER SHARE AS AT 1 JANUARY (NOK)
Year  1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
RISK amount 4.25 4.96 6.23 1.98 1.68 4.79 1.19 3.27 1.21 -3.18

Investor contacts:
Trond Berger, Executive Vice President & CFO – e-mail: trond.berger@schibsted.no
Gisle Glück Evensen, Investor Relations Officer – e-mail: gisle.gluck.evensen@schibsted.no
Astrid Thommesen Sæbø, Investor Relations – e-mail: astrid.thommesen.sebo@schibsted.no
Tel: + 47 23 10 66 00   Fax: + 47 23 10 66 01
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10 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005
The figures show the largest shareholders as these are registered in the Norwegian Central 
Securities Depository.
  
  Shareholding %  Nominee
1 Blommenholm Industrier AS 18 083 520 26.11 
2 State Street Bank 6 053 091   8.74 x
3 JPMorgan Chase Bank 5 655 497   8.17 x
4 Folketrygdfondet  5 522 300   7.97
5 Fidelity Funds 2 989 800   4.32
6 Mellon Bank 2 960 800   4.28 x
7 Schibsted ASA 2 081 551   3.01
8 Orkla ASA 2 022 000   2.92
9 Vital Forsikring ASA 1 167 176   1.69
10 State Street Bank 901 164   1.30 x

Percentage of foreign-resident shareholders 47.21%
No. of shareholders  4 201
Total no. of outstanding shares      69 250 000
Of which own shares          2 081 551



Schibsted’s Group Council was 
established in 2004 according to 
the statutory regulations governing 
the formation of a European Works 
Council.

The Group Council’s objective is to 
promote development, motivation, 
co-responsibility and mutual trust 
between the management and 
employees. The Council is to 
ensure active cooperation and be 
a forum for information, discussion 
and dialogue within the Group. 

The management and employees 
have a common goal of making the 
Group Council a centre of exper-
tise within the Group. It is intended 
to help strengthen the employees’ 
Group identity and be a forum for 
transferring and developing exper-
tise across national boundaries 
and the employees’ professional, 
organisational and company ties. 

The Group Council held two 
meetings in 2005 – one in the 
spring in Tallinn and one in the 
autumn in Oslo. The discussions 
centred around the management’s 
and employees’ experiences 
of the reorganisational work in 
Aftenposten and SvD. In addition, 
the Group Council spent time on 
professional updates and discus-
sions on Schibsted’s investments 
in search services and other online 
activities. Organisational develop-
ment was the focus of the autumn 
meeting.

According to agreement, the 
employees are entitled to elect up 
to 30 representatives to the Group 
Council. 28 representatives have 
been elected and will remain in 
office until the summer of 2006. 
The representatives are to be 

elected from 23 constituencies 
that are determined on the 
basis of professional groups and 
business areas within the Group. 
The division into constituencies is 
being assessed in connection with 
the forthcoming election. 

In addition to the employees’ 
representatives, the Group Council 
consists of six representatives of 
the group management. 

The Group Council has had the 
following representatives in 2005:

MAIN CONSTITUENCY
NORWAY
Aftenposten:
Editorial staff constituency:
Håkon Letvik (Chairman of the 
Group Council)
Hanne Lier
Salaried/other employees 
constituency:
Rune Gulliksen  
Anne-Marie Brenaas
The external distribution system 
representative appointed by the 
Distribution Staff Union:
Frank Johansen
Production constituency:
The employees in this constituency 
are members of Aftenposten’s 
Printing and Graphic Workers’ 
Union. Neither the employees 
entitled to nominate nor the union 
nominated any candidates. 

Verdens Gang:
Editorial staff constituency:
Audun Solberg
Sven Arne Buggeland
Administration
Audun Ekeli 
Production
Øystein Simensen (Deputy chair-
man of the Group Council)

Multimedia:
Elisabeth Ellingsen, VG Multimedia  
  
Schibsted Trykk:
Production:
Werner Larsen
Salaried employees, others:
Olav Aardalsbakke
Other employees: Marit Sollesnes 

TV, FILM & PUBLISHING
CONSTITUENCY
Metronome Film & Television
AB:
Anna Jeppsson
The Schibsted publishing houses 
in Norway/Sweden: 
Elisabeth Jangås 
Sandrew Metronome: 
Currently no elected or nominated 
representative.

MAIN CONSTITUENCY
SWEDEN
Aftonbladet:
Aftonbladet’s journalists’ union
Calle Söderberg
Camilla Norström
Aftonbladet’s salaried employees’ 
union
Martin Ulltin
Management
Tommy Westerberg 

Svenska Dagbladet:
Editorial staff:
Klas Tägil
Marianne Falk
Production/other employees:
Christer B Sandberg

Main constituency Estonia
Editorial staff: 
Mr. Priit Pullerits 
Production:
Mr. Gerd Lindmaa 

MAIN CONSTITUENCY
CENTRAL EUROPE (20 MIN): 
No representative has currently 
been elected or nominated. 

THE GROUP MANAGEMENT’S 
REPRESENTATIVES ON THE 
GROUP COUNCIL:
Kjell Aamot 
Trond Berger 
Birger Magnus 
Sverre Munck 
Jan Erik Knarbakk 
Thomas Boe Hornburg 

THE WORKING COMMITTEE
Håkon Letvik 
Øystein Simensen 
Calle Söderberg 
Elisabeth B. Ellingsen 
Deputy representative:
Monica Andresen 

THE LIAISON COMMITTEE: 
From the employees (the Working 
Committee):
Håkon Letvik 
Øystein Simensen 
Calle Söderberg 
Elisabeth B. Ellingsen 
Deputy representative:
Monica Andresen 

From the Group management:
Kjell Aamot
Birger Magnus
Thomas Boe Hornburg
Camilla Jarlsby 

The Group Council’s members are 
up for re-election this year. Due to 
the changes that have taken place 
in the Group’s operations, the 
division into constituencies will be 
reviewed prior to the election. 

Schibsted’s Group Council
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The Board of Directors’ 
Report



Highlights in 2005:
  2005 was a record year for the 

Group’s core activities.  

The Group achieved an operating 

profit (EBITA) of NOK 977 million 

(940 million) in 2005, producing 

an operating margin of 10 per 

cent (10 per cent). 

The Group is expanding through 

organic growth. Investments in 

new activities debited the 2005 

accounts by NOK 165 million. 

Several new Group initiatives were 

launched in 2005: Investments 

in the Swedish directory market 

(hitta.se), the development of a 

separate search engine in Norway 

(sesam.no) and the launch of an 

online business newspaper, N24.se.

The Group’s established online 

activities produced strong figures 

in 2005. The income from these 

grew by more than 50 per cent 

from 2004 to 2005. 

The advertising market improved 

in 2005, mainly as a result of the 

enhanced recruitment market. 

Aftenposten improved its pro-

duct in 2005 by converting to a 

tabloid format and launching a 

weekend magazine, A-magasinet. 

Aftenposten’s morning edition was 

the newspaper in Norway whose 

readership increased the most in 

2005.

FINN achieved a record annual 

profit and a high rate of growth in 

all markets.

VG launched two new products 

in 2005 – a daily sports insert on 

pink paper and a Saturday maga-

zine, VG-Helg. A readership survey 

conducted in 2005 showed that the 

numbers of those reading VG each 

day remained high. 

Svenska Dagbladet’s advertising 

and circulation figures improved 

in 2005. The average circulation 

per publication day in 2005 was at 

the highest level since 1997. 

Aftonbladet produced a strong re-

sult in 2005. New investments and 

projects debited the accounts with 

increased costs. The acquisition of 

hitta.se reinforces Aftonbladet’s po-

sition in the Swedish media market. 

20 Minutes increased its online 

commitment in 2005 and laun-

ched several new editions: eight in 

Spain and two in France. The Swiss 

operations were sold in the spring 

of 2005. 

A readership survey conducted 

in December 2005 showed that 

20minutos is the largest general 

newspaper in Spain. 

The Baltic operations’ results and 

revenues improved considerably in 

2005.

The merger between Schibsted 

Mobile and the Swedish company 

Aspiro was implemented in the 

spring of 2005. 

The Group’s Swedish printing plant 

was sold in 2005. The transfer of 

the printing plant has resulted in 

improved production flexibility and 

reduced tied-up capital.  

Sandrew Metronome sold its 

Swedish cinema operations in 

2005. The Metronome Group 

achieved a high production volume 

in the second half-year and good 

results for 2005. 

The revenues of the Group’s TV 

channels’ increased in 2005 as 

a result of strong advertising 

markets. 

The publishing business area, 

Schibsted Forlagene, continued to 

produce good results in 2005. 

The Board proposes distributing 

dividend of NOK 4.25 (3.25) per 

share.  Shares will be repurchased 

in the market over time in order 

to adjust the capital structure in 

line with the main financial target 

figures. 

The Board of Directors’ Report

In 2005, the Group evaluated its strategic direction and 
launched a new vision. As a consequence of this, changes 
have been made to the organisational structure.

6
6

  
 S

ch
ib

st
ed

 A
n
n
u
a
l 
R
ep

or
t 

2
0
0
5
  

//
  
T
h
e 

B
oa

rd
 o

f 
D
ir

ec
to

rs
’ 
R
ep

or
t



T
h
e B

oa
rd

 of D
irectors’ R

ep
ort  //

S
ch

ib
sted

 A
n
n
u
a
l R

ep
ort 2

0
0
5

6
7

The Board of Directors’ Report

OLE JACOB SUNDE
CHAIRMAN OF THE GROUP’S BOARD
The founder and chairman of the board of 
Formuesforvaltning ASA since 2000. Estab-
lished Industrifinans Forvaltning ASA (1983), 
of which he was general manager until 2000. 
Former consultant with McKinsey & Co (1980-
83). Various board appointments, including the 
Tinius Foundation and Aftonbladet AB. 

TINIUS NAGELL-ERICHSEN
DEPUTY CHAIRMAN OF THE GROUP’S
BOARD
Master of Science (1959 LSE). A former jour-
nalist with Aftenposten, among other newspa-
pers, general manager of Verdens Gang and 
CEO of Aftenposten. Chairman of the Norwe-
gian Newspapers’ Employer Association (Avis-
enes Arbeidsgiverforening) during several 
periods from 1972 to 1987. Chairman of the 
board of Schibsted for several periods. Former 
chairman of the board of Fædrelandsvennen, 
director and chairman of the board of Verdens 
Gang and director of Aftonbladet AB.

BERIT BJERG 
Joined Aftenposten AS in 1987. Key account 
manager/senior consultant, Aftenposten’s real-
estate advertisement market. Media advisor 
Norwegian School of Management (BI) (2002). 
Senior shop steward of the Union of Press 
Employees in Aftenposten since 1992. 

MONICA CANEMAN
Formerly deputy CEO of SE-Banken (1997-
2001), employed by SE-Banken since 1977. 
Educated at the School of Management in 
Stockholm (1976). Director of Svenska Dag-
bladet AB, SJ AB (Swedish State Railways), 
Poolia AB, Orexo AB, Nya Livförsäkrings AB, 
SEB TryggLiv, EDT AS, Point Scandinavia AS, 
Xponcard AB, EDB Business Partner ASA, 
Citymail AB, Investment AB Öresund, Akade-
mikliniken AB, Interverbum AB and Lindorff 
Holding Group AB.

GRETE FAREMO
Director for Legal and Corporate Affairs, West-
ern Europe, Microsoft. Minister International 
Development, Norwegian Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs (1990 - 1992), Minister of Justice 
and the Police, Ministry of Justice and the 
Police (1992 - 1996), Minister of Petroleum 
and Energy, Ministry of Trade, Industry and 
Energy 1996, Member of Parliament (1996 
- 1997), Executive Vice President, Store-
brand ASA (1997 - 2003). Law degree from 
the University of Oslo. Chair of the board of 
Norwegian People’s Aid, director of Norfund 
and Total E&P Norge AS, member of ABB 
Norge’s corporate assembly and deputy chair 
of Bravida ASA’s corporate assembly.

ALEXANDRA BECH GJØRV
A director of Norsk Hydro ASA responsible 
for New Energy. Senior vice president of 
Corporate Human Resources Norsk Hydro 
(2000-05). Assistant Director of Strategy & 
Organisational Development, Hydro Automo-
tive Structures, Oslo (1998-2000), Company 
Secretary, Norsk Hydro ASA, Oslo (1995-98), 
lawyer with Norsk Hydro USA, Inc, New York 
(1993-95), legal adviser with Edwards & 
Angell, Boston (1992-93), associate lawyer 
with the law firm of Schjødt, Oslo (1991-92).
Member of the board of Sintef (2004-).

HILDE HARBO
Aftenposten’s correspondent in London since 
2005. A former manager, deputy manager, 
report manager and journalist in 
Aftenposten’s political news staff. A degree in 
politics, majoring in  political science, from 
the University of Oslo, 1985. Formerly deputy 
chair of Aftenposten’s Editorial Staff Union, 
member of the board of the Oslo Union of 
Journalists, vice president of the Norwegian 
parliament’s Press Corp and head of the Press 
Corp’s Tolerance Prize Committee. 

CATO A. HOLMSEN
MSc Eng ETH (Zurich) 1964. Chairman of the 
board and partner of FSN Capital. Formerly 
Deputy Group CEO of Scancem AB and CEO 
of Scancem International ANS. Chairman of 
the boards of Eiendomsspar AS, Fesil ASA 
and Grieg International AS/Grieg Shipping 
AS. Deputy chairman of the boards of Victo-
ria Eiendom AS and Kongsberg Automotive 
ASA. Member of the boards of Aftenposten 
AS, Eksportfinans ASA, NorgesGruppen ASA, 
VIA Travel Group and a number of other 
companies.

GUNNAR NORDBY
Employed by Aftenposten AS since 1955. The 
chairman of Aftenposten’s Graphic Workers’ 
Union (1981-2005). Member of the board of 
the Norwegian Graphic Workers’ Union.

CHRISTIAN RINGNES
Master’s degree in economics from École des 
Hautes Études Commerciales, University of 
Lausanne (1975-78). MBA from Harvard Busi-
ness School, Boston, USA (1979-81). CEO and 
largest shareholder (1984- ) in Eiendomsspar 
AS/Victoria Eiendom AS. Consultant (1981/82) 
and project manager (1983/84) McKinsey & 
Company, INC – Scandinavia. Assistant to Area 
Manager, Nordic Countries, Manufacturers 
Hanover Trust Company, (1978/79). Chairman 
of the board of NSV-Invest AS, Mini Bottle Gal-
lery AS and the Association of City Folk in Oslo 
Centre (Foreningen Byfolk Oslo Sentrum). 
Member of the boards of Norsk Scania AS, 
Nationaltheatret (deputy chairman) and Oslo 
City’s Town Architecture Council (Oslo Bys Råd 
for Byarkitektur).

FINN E. STEEN
Educated at the Norwegian School of Mana-
gement (BI) in Oslo. Customer consultant in 
the Sales Department. Employed by VG since 
1988. A manager in Parat Media VG since 
2003.

OLE JACOB SUNDE
Chairman of the 
Group’s Board

TINIUS
NAGELL-ERICHSEN
Deputy Chairman of 
the Group’s Board

ALEXANDRA
BECH GJØRV

CHRISTIAN RINGNES

GRETE FAREMO

HILDE HARBO

MONICA CANEMAN

BERIT BJERG

GUNNAR NORDBY CATO A. HOLMSEN FINN E. STEEN



The balance sheet
At the end of 2005, the Group had total 
recorded assets of NOK 7.9 billion (7.4 billion). 
Non-current assets comprised the largest item 
at NOK 5.7 billion (5.3 billion). The Group’s 
printing plants account for NOK 1.1 billion (1.3 
billion) of this amount. Investments of NOK 1.7 
billion (1.4 billion) were recorded in shares and 
associated companies. The increase compared 
to 2004 is mainly due to the investment in TV4
AB and the merger between Schibsted Mobile 
and Aspiro. The market value of the Group’s 
investments exceeds their balance sheet value. 

In 2005, the Group invested NOK 693 million 
(1.1 billion) in shares and NOK 363 million 
(215 million) in property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets.  The main entries under 
shares relate to:

- TV4 AB (associated company)
- Teleadress AB / hitta.se (subsidiary)
- Internettkatalogen AS (subsidiary)
- Basefarm AS (subsidiary)

The recorded value of the Group’s goodwill 
and other intangible assets is NOK 1.4 billion 
(1.3 billion). The sale of 20 Minutes’ operations 
in Switzerland and the merger of Schibsted 
Mobile with Aspiro reduced the Group’s good-
will by around NOK 240 million. The acquisi-
tion of companies in 2005, including Hitta.se, 
Basefarm and Internettkatalogen, increased 
the Group’s goodwill and intangible assets by 
around NOK 350 million. The goodwill reflected 
in the balance sheet can be justified for all the 
investments on an individual basis. 

Schibsted repurchased 761 081 of its own 
shares in 2005. At year-end, the Group 
owned 2 081 551 of its own shares, equal to 
3 per cent of its outstanding shares. 

Liquidity
Schibsted’s long-term financing, which cur-
rently includes syndicated, bond and bank 
loans, will ensure that the Group has suffi-
cient financial flexibility. Schibsted’s goal is 
for its total liquidity reserve to equal at least 

Schibsted is one of Scandinavia’s leading media 
groups and has its head office in Oslo. Most of its 
activities are located in Norway and Sweden, but 
the Group has operations in 11 European countries. 

In 2005 the Group evaluated its strategic 
direction in 2005. Schibsted has increased its 
level of ambition from creating strong positions 
in the Scandinavian media market to building 
further positions in the European market. A new 
vision has been launched; ”Shaping the media 
of tomorrow. Today.” This new vision means 
that “Schibsted will be the most attractive 
media group in Europe.” Many of the Group’s 
employees and entities have been involved in 
the work on this vision, which has produced five 
ambition goals:

  Schibsted is to be Europe’s most innovative 
media group, founded on strong brands.

  A leading group in understanding changes 
in media usage and applying this know-
ledge in developing traditional and new 
media.

  A leading group in Europe in developing 
talent, leaders, employees and crea-
tive organisations embracing continuous 
improvement.

  A group with an open, including culture 
hallmarked by efficient cooperation and 
strong local entrepreneurship.

  A leading media group in Europe with 
regard to long-term financial returns and 
risk management. 

As a natural follow-up to the work on the 
vision, changes have taken place in the Group 
management. The executive vice presidents’ 
areas of responsibility are now geographically 
based, with a main division into Norway, 
Sweden and International, instead of being 
business-area based.

IFRS
As from 1 January 2005, Schibsted reports 
its consolidated accounts in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and has prepared a document entitled 
”The transition to IFRS” containing information 

on the effects on the balance sheet as at 
1 January 2004 and the 2004 annual financial 
statement (Stock Exchange notification dated 
13 April 2005). The main differences between 
IFRS and the accounting principles previously 
applied by Schibsted (NGAAP) are stated in 
note 30 to the annual accounts. 

Report on the annual accounts 
  As of Dec 31
NOK million 2005 2004
Operating revenues  9 832 9 690
Operating profit before other items 977 940
Other items 184 (426)
Profit before taxes 1 177 476
Net income 947 313

The operating revenues increased by 1.5 per 
cent in 2005 compared to 2004. The sale of 20 
Minutes’ operations in Switzerland, the merger 
of Schibsted Mobile with Aspiro, and the sale of 
the Swedish cinemas led to reduced revenues in 
2005. A weaker Swedish krone reduced the reve-
nues by around 2 per cent, so that the underlying 
growth was approximately 3.5 per cent. 

The 2005 accounts were affected by the 
Group’s new investments in such areas as di-
rectories, search services and the international-
isation of classified ads. These new investments 
had a negative effect on the accounts of NOK 
165 million in 2005. 

Other items in 2005 include the sale of 20 
Minutes in Switzerland, the merger of Schibsted 
Mobile with Aspiro, the closure of the printing 
plant in Sweden and various restructuring costs. 
At the beginning of 2005, the Group’s printing 
plant in Sweden was sold to the group JMS 
Mediasystem. The transfer of the production to 
Tabloidtryck has resulted in greater production 
flexibility and reduced tied-up capital. 

The Group’s tax expense of NOK 230 million 
(163 million) equals an effective tax rate of 20 
per cent (34 per cent). After adjusting for spe-
cial tax-related factors (tax-free sales gains), 
the tax expense in 2005 reflects a normalised 
tax rate of around 26 per cent. 
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10 per cent of its estimated revenues over the 
next 12 months. 

At the end of 2005, Schibsted had a consider-
able liquidity reserve (NOK 2.7 billion) and 
low level of net interest-bearing debt (NOK 
839 million) as a result of its strong cash flow. 

Market risk
The Schibsted Group’s basic currency is 
Norwegian krone (NOK) but, through its 
operations outside Norway, it is also exposed 
to changes in the exchange-rates of other 
currencies, mainly the Swedish krone, Euro 
and Estonian krone. The Group has currency 
risks linked to recorded monetary items and 
the translation of assets in foreign entities. The 
Group makes use of loans in foreign currencies 
and forward exchange contracts to reduce its 
currency risk. The loans in foreign currencies 
and forward exchange contracts are managed 
actively in line with the Group’s strategy in order 
to reduce the currency risk. 

Schibsted has both floating and fixed interest 
rates on its long-term debt. Around 40 per cent 
of the Group’s debt at the end of 2005 was at 
a fixed interest rate. The Group has consider-
able pension liabilities which provide a natural 
hedging of the floating debt since the present 
value of the liabilities increases if the interest 
rate falls. This reduces the need to hedge the 
interest rate on long-term interest-bearing debt. 

Schibsted uses newsprint and is therefore exposed 
to price changes in the paper market. A change in 
price of 1 per cent alters the Group’s raw materials 
prices by around NOK 9 million per annum. The 
price of newsprint is negotiated with the suppliers 
each year and is already fixed for 2006.  

At the end of 2005, the Group had a limited 
exposure to the stock market and thus a limited 
risk of loss. 

Since many of the Group’s products are sold on 
the basis of advance payments (subscription 
sales) or cash payments (single copy sales), 
there is little credit risk associated with the 

Group’s circulation revenues. Deposit schemes 
and credit insurances have been established for 
much of the Group’s advertising revenue.

BUSINESS AREAS
Newspapers

OPERATING PROFIT (EBITA)  As of Dec 31
NOK million Currency 2005 2004
Aftenposten NOK 266 136
VG NOK 300 351
Svenska Dagbladet SEK 13 (19)
Aftonbladet SEK 314 323
20 Minutes 1) EUR (6.8) (2.4)
1) Excl. 20 Minuten in Switzerland 

Aftenposten’s advertising revenues increased 
by 10.4 per cent (the newspaper) in 2005 
compared to 2004. The recruitment-advertising 
market particularly contributed to this growth in 
revenue, but most markets grew compared to 
2004. Aftenposten is making active efforts to 
be competitive as a distribution channel and the 
newspaper’s prices for real-estate advertising 
were adjusted in the spring of 2005. 

The circulation revenues increased by 6 per 
cent compared to 2004 (not adjusted to take 
account of the strike in 2004). Both the morning 
and Sunday editions saw rises in their circula-
tion figures compared to 2004. 

Aftenposten was relaunched in tabloid format 
at the beginning of 2005. The conversion to this 
format has been successful. A readership sur-
vey conducted by TNS Gallup in the autumn of 
2005 shows that Aftenposten’s morning edition 
is the newspaper in Norway whose circulation 
figures are increasing the most. Aftenposten’s 
morning edition increased its number of readers 
by 31 000 to 764 000. In order to further 
strengthen the Aftenposten product, a maga-
zine, A-magasinet, was launched in October 
2005. This magazine is delivered together with 
the Friday newspaper and has been well recei-
ved by the market. Following the closure of the 
free newspaper Avis 1, the evening edition of 
Aftenposten, Aften, is fully distributed in Oslo 
and its surrounding areas every Wednesday. 

FINN achieved good growth in its revenue and 
strong results, with an operating profit in 2005 
of NOK 114 million (70 million). The real-estate 
advertising market saw the highest rate of 
growth, with an increase in revenue of 61 per 
cent compared to 2004. The growth in revenue 
for recruitment advertising and car advertising 
was 53 per cent and 30 per cent respectively.  

The paper edition of VG has been characterised 
by product development and renewal in 2005. 
The sports news was gathered in a daily insert 
on pink paper as from 1 June. On 22 October 
VG launched its Saturday magazine, VG Helg. 
This magazine has been well received by the 
market. Product development work has led to 
increased costs. 

Vektklubb.no, a slimming club, was launched in 
the spring of 2005 and has more than 35 000 
paying members. 

The circulation figures for VG (weekdays) fell 
by around 22 000 copies in 2005 compared to 
2004. The VG Group achieved high advertising 
revenues in 2005 - 18 per cent higher than in 
2004. This increase particularly took place in 
VG Nett, the online version, which improved 
its revenues by 76 per cent in 2005. VG Nett 
achieved an operating margin of 42 per cent in 
2005 (29 per cent). Increased resources, both 
editorial and business development, led to a 
slight rise in costs. 

Daily readership of VG was maintained at a high 
level. A readership survey conducted by TNS 
Gallup in the autumn of 2005 showed that VG
(paper edition) had increased its readership 
figures by 22 000 to 1 356 000 readers daily. 
Each day, 1 847 000 people read the news from 
VG, either online or in the paper version. 

Svenska Dagbladet’s advertising revenues 
rose sharply in 2005, up 22 per cent compared 
to 2004. This increase took place in both the 
paper and online versions. The circulation 
revenues grew by 7 per cent in 2005 compared 
to 2004, and the average circulation figures 
per publication day in 2005 were the highest 
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since 1997. The increase in revenue led to this 
company making its highest ever operating 
profit in 2005. 

Svenska Dagbladet bought a company called 
Tasteline in March 2005. This is Sweden’s 
largest independent online food web site. 
Tasteline developed positively in 2005, with 
growth in both traffic and revenues. This web 
site has around 450 000 unique users each 
month.

On 4 October 2005, Svenska Dagbladet laun-
ched N24.se (an online business newspaper) 
in collaboration with Aftonbladet.  Following its 
launch, this rapidly became Sweden’s second-
largest business-news web site. It has been well 
received by both the readership and advertising 
markets. 

Aftonbladet increased its advertising revenues 
by 8.3 per cent (newspaper) in 2005 compared 
to 2004. The Aftonbladet Group’s results 
are influenced by increased directory costs 
(Teleadress/hitta.se) and new investments such 
as IPTV. These activities debited the results by 
SEK 45 million in 2005. 

The circulation figures per publication day fell 
by 12 000 copies in 2005 compared to 2004. 
The gap between Aftonbladet’s circulation 
figures and those of Expressen/GT/KvP was 
74 400 in December, compared to 86 300 in 
December 2004. 

The Aftonbladet Group now consists of the 
Aftonbladet newspaper, Aftonbladet Nya
Medier, Blocket, Byt Bil and Teleadress/
hitta.se (as from 2005). The advertising reve-
nues from the online activities increased by 47 
per cent compared to 2004. Of Aftonbladet’s 
total advertising revenues, 39 per cent (31 per 
cent) come from online activities.

Blocket developed well throughout 2005 and 
this positive trend has continued in 2006. 
Hitta.se had more than 1 million unique users 
towards the end of 2005. Byt Bil produced its 
best result ever, and Aftonbladet Nya Medier 
increased its revenue by 37 per cent in 2005 
compared to 2004. The operating margin was 
22 per cent (13 per cent) for the same period.

20 Minutes’ revenue increased in 2005 - by 
19 per cent in Spain and 44 per cent (excluding 
Barter) in France compared to 2004.  

In December, both the Paris edition and the 
national edition produced a break-even result. 
More editions and increased circulation in 2005 
compared to 2004 led to slightly higher costs 
for both the Spanish and French operations.  

The operations in Switzerland were sold at the 
beginning of 2005. Spanish media group Grupo 
Zeta bought 20 per cent of 20 Minutos España 
in April. Through this transaction, Schibsted and 
Grupo Zeta have entered into a strategic joint 
venture in the Spanish market. 

In 2005, 20 Minutos was launched in eight 
new Spanish towns and is now represented in 
14 Spanish towns. In France, 20 Minutes was 
launched in two new towns and is now repre-
sented in eight French towns. A monthly free 
magazine, Calle 20, was launched in November 
to supplement 20 Minutos in Spain and this 
has a circulation of around 150 000. A reader-
ship survey conducted in December 2005 (El 
Estudios General de Medios) shows that 20 
Minutos is Spain’s largest general newspaper, 
with 2 298 000 readers. 

The regional newspapers produced better 
results in 2005 than in 2004, due to an increase 
in advertisements.

The Group’s online activities continued to 
develop extremely well and comprised 19 per 
cent (17 per cent) of the Group’s operating profit 
(EBITA) in 2005. The revenue from these grew 
by more than 50 per cent in 2005 compared 
to 2004. New Group investments debited the 
online activities by around NOK 140 million. The 
Group’s purely online newspapers and estab-
lished classified ads services are developing 
strongly. The results were especially good for 
VG Nett, FINN, Aftonbladet Nya Medier, Blocket 
and BytBil. 

TV/Film & Publishing

OPERATING PROFIT (EBITA)      As of Dec 31
NOK million Currency 2005 2004
Metronome SEK 25 16
Sandrew Metronome1) SEK (17) 18
Publishing NOK 44 34
TV 2 GROUP 2) (EBIT) NOK 233 175
TV43) SEK 257 41
1) Figures show 100% of the Sandrew Metronome group. 

Schibsted’s ownership is 50%
2) Figures show 100% of TV 2 with EBIT in NGAAP. 

Schibsted’s ownership is 33.4 %.
3) Figures show 100% of TV4 (EBIT) Schibsted’s owner-

ship is 26.9 %.

Metronome Film & Television increased its 
revenue by 27 per cent from 2004 to 2005. This 
growth was in the TV production and fiction/
drama areas, with most of the drama production 
work taking place in the second half of 2005. 

Sandrew Metronome entered into a contract 
in the spring of 2005 to sell its Swedish cine-
mas to Sweden’s Triangelfilm AB and partners. 
The cinema operations consist of 200 cinemas 
with 89 screens in 15 cities. The takeover date 
was 2 May 2005. As a result of the sale of the 
Swedish cinemas and changes to the distribu-
tion joint venture with Warner Home Video, the 
revenue fell in 2005 compared to 2004. The 
operating result was affected by changes to 
the amortisation principle applied to film rights, 
which had a negative effect on the year of SEK 
14 million. 

The TV 2 Group produced a better operating 
profit in 2005 than in 2004. Increased demand 
for advertising contributed to a growth in reve-
nues of 9 per cent in 2005 compared to 2004. 
The radio channel, Kanal 24, was included in 
the figures as a subsidiary as from the autumn 
of 2005. 

The supplementary channel, TV 2 Xtra, was 
relaunched in September as TV 2 Zebra, and 
has led to extra programme investments. As a 
result of a change in principles, the stocks were 
written down by NOK 17 million in 2005. 

Swedish TV4 produced a higher operating profit 
in 2005 than in 2004. The improvement in profit 
is explained by the positive advertising climate. In 
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addition, the multi-channel strategy has proven 
to be successful. All the new channels are 
developing positively. TV4’s figures were debited 
by restructuring costs of SEK 26 million. 

In 2005, TV4 was repaid SEK 83 million it had 
paid in licence fees for digital broadcasts in 
2001 and 2002. This increased Schibsted’s 
income from associated companies with NOK 
14 million. 

Schibsted Forlagene (publishing company) 
increased its revenues in 2005 and produced 
record results, with an operating margin of 12 
per cent (10 per cent). 

Baltics
  As of Dec 31
NOK million 2005 2004
Operating revenues  388 327
Operating revenues  (347) (301)
Operating profit (EBITA)  41 26

The Group’s activities in the Baltic region, 
including Eesti Meedia, Kanal 2 and ZLG,
produced a much higher operating profit 
(EBITA) in 2005 than in 2004. 

The Estonian newspaper advertising market 
was strong in 2005 and all the newspapers saw 
considerable growth compared to 2004. In the 
autumn of 2005, the subscription newspaper 
Postimees launched a Russian version of the 
newspaper and separate pages of articles about 
Tallinn in the Estonian version. This was done in 
order to attract more advertisers and will lead 
to increased growth opportunities in 2006. 

The magazine group maintained its good results 
in 2005 despite increased competition.

Kanal 2 had its first full year of profits since 
1998 and maintained its position as number 
two in the Estonian market. 

The Group’s weekly magazine in Lithuania, 
Zmones, increased both its circulation revenues 
and advertising revenues in 2005. This is now 
the largest weekly magazine in the Baltic region. 

Other Operations
The Other Operations business area made an 
operating loss of NOK 128 million in 2005 (a 

loss of 55 million). The Group has increased its 
focus on organic growth and this led to increa-
sed costs for the head office, among others. In 
addition, investments were made in Schibsted 
Søk (Search) and other new operations. The 
accounts were debited by around NOK 165 mil-
lion for increased new investments in 2005, of 
which approximately NOK 70 million is related 
to other operations.

Schibsted Søk (Search), as the first media 
company in Europe, launched a complete 
search service for local and international web 
searches, directory searches, news searches, 
pictures and maps/charts under the name of 
sesam.no on 1 November. It will take some 
time to get all the users to understand how the 
service is structured, but the service has been 
well received and loyalty to it is increasing. 

In the autumn of 2005, Schibsted Søk bought 
Internettkatalogen (a directory company). 
This directory company is being operated as a 
separate service at present, but it is considered 
to integrate the service into Sesam in 2006. 
Schibsted Søk wants to use this company as a 
starting point for more search-oriented adverti-
sing products. 

In December 2005, Schibsted bought 
Basefarm AS. Basefarm is a leading player 
in the field of online, application and server 
operating services in the Nordic region and has 
specialised in hosting business-critical Internet 
applications. Basefarm is very well positioned 
in a rapidly expanding market. This purchase is 
also the first step towards a further coordina-
tion of IT operations within the Group.

2005 was a good year for Aspiro, which achie-
ved revenues of SEK 408 million (130 million) 
and an operating profit of SEK 25 million (a loss 
of 60 million). 

Associated companies

SCHIBSTED’s SHARE As of Dec 31
NOK million 2005 2004
Regional newspapers  93 53
TV 2  47 63
TV4 1) 47 0
Other 11 (32)
Associated companies  198 84
1) Incl. from 1.1.2005

The income from associated companies came 
to NOK 198 million in 2005 (84 million). Refer 
otherwise to comments on the associated com-
panies under the descriptions of the individual 
business areas. 

Future prospects
There will continue to be a focus on expansion 
through organic growth in 2006. Planned 
projects indicate investments of around NOK 
300-400 million in 2006. 

Work will continue on growth, products and 
value creation within the directory and search 
services in Norway and Sweden in 2006. Both 
the directory market and search-advertising 
market are expanding rapidly. Schibsted 
considers both search-word advertising and the 
directory market to have considerable future 
income potential. 

Aftenposten expects the recruitment-adverti-
sing market to continue expanding, but overall 
developments in the classified ads market also 
depend on how the real-estate advertising 
market develops. Aftenposten will continue 
to be characterised by continuous product 
development in 2006. The evening edition has 
been redesigned and is now fully distributed 
with zoned editorial content and advertising 
pages once a week.  FINN’s travel pages were 
launched in February 2006. On 18 April 2006, 
Aftenposten, together with VG, will launch a 
new web site containing financial and business 
news - N24.no.

In 1st quarter of 2006, the development in VG
is weaker than first expected. The circulation 
year to date in 2006 has been approximately 
30,000 copies lower than last year, and the ad 
revenues are reduced by 10 per cent despite 
higher ad volumes. As a consequence of the 
weak development, measures are taken to 
reduce fixed costs by approximately NOK 20 
million. A dialog with the unions has been 
initiated to discuss further measures. The focus 
on product development will be maintained, 
both in the online and paper newspapers. VG
Multimedia is expected to further strengthen 
its position in 2006 and to increase its revenue 
in future. 
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Aftonbladet has initiated several activities linked 
to its goal of increasing the circulation figures of 
both the main newspaper and the inserts. Within 
multimedia, increased revenues and operating 
margins are expected in 2006. The combination 
of traditional operations, its online position, 
directory acquisitions and investments in the 
field of live pictures makes Aftonbladet well 
equipped to face future developments. 

The advertising climate is expected to remain 
positive in Sweden in 2006, which will be 
beneficial to Svenska Dagbladet. The circulation 
revenues are also expected to increase slightly. 
The newspaper’s strategic investments in new 
media mean that the outlook is positive. 

20 Minutes in Spain is expected to face 
tougher competition in 2006, as a fourth free 
newspaper is launched in the Spanish market. 
The paper version will make a slight profit 
while the increased online investment will lead 
to the operations more or less breaking even 
in 2006. In France, the goal is to achieve an 
approximately break-even result in 2006 before 
the online investments.  Schibsted will continue 
to use 20 Minutes as the basis for other Group 
projects and is considering launching this 
concept in other countries.

The Group’s activities in the Baltic region are 
expected to continue increasing their adver-
tising revenues. Strong developments in the 
Estonian market will lead to increased pressure 
on wage developments in future. The Group has 
increased its presence in the Lithuanian market 
with its acquisition of the tabloid newspaper 
Extra Zinios. This newspaper will be relaunched 
in the spring of 2006. 

Metronome Film & Television has a slow start 
in the beginning of 2006, but the order book 
is considered to be at a satisfactory level. 
Sandrew Metronome expects the stiff competi-
tion for good commercial rights and decline in 
cinema attendance to continue.

In 2006, TV 2 will develop even more rapidly 
in all media platforms. TV4 will continue to 
enhance the efficiency of its operations with 
the goal of reducing its annual costs by SEK 
230 million. Most of the savings are expected 
to have an effect in 2006. 

The publishing houses are expected to continue 
producing good results in future. 

Going concern
In accordance with section 3-3a of the 
Norwegian Accounting Act, the Board confirms 
that the annual accounts for 2005 have been 
prepared on the assumption that the Group 
is a going concern. This assumption is based 
on the Group’s long-term strategic forecasts. 
The Group’s economic and financial position 
is good. 

Working environment
At year-end, Schibsted had 5 360 (5 276) 
employees. 2 880 of these worked outside 
Norway. The Group’s sickness absence rate 
amounted to approximately 6 per cent of the 
Group’s total working hours and has remained 
stable over the past few years. The Group’s 
printing plant in Oslo, where the average age 
of the employees is almost 50 years, has 
implemented measures to reduce its high rate 
of sickness absence. In 2005, the printing 
plant’s sickness absence rate was 14 per cent, 
a decline from 17 per cent in 2004. 

Of the Group’s companies, it is particularly 
the operations at the printing companies that 
involve a certain risk of injury. At year-end, 
Schibsted owned three newspaper printing 
plants: Schibsted Trykk in Oslo, Harstad 
Tidende Trykk in Harstad and Kroonpress 
in Tartu, Estonia.  In 2005, a total of seven 
workplace injuries resulting in absences were 
recorded in the printing plants, mainly crushing 
injuries and cuts. No accidents were registered 
at any of the printing plants in 2005. 

Schibsted aims to be a leading company in 
Europe for developing talent, managers and 
employees. The work of attracting talented 
people, developing good managers and 
creating competent organisations is prioritised 
by the senior management of the Group and 
the subsidiaries. Competitive conditions and 
good development opportunities are part of 
this prioritisation. The working environment is 
considered to be good. 

External environment
The production of the Group’s newspapers is 
a digital process up to the printing stage and 

only affects the external environment to a slight 
extent. A newspaper printing plant is a relatively 
environmentally neutral industrial operation and 
the chemicals used to manufacture the news
papers are dealt with as special waste and recy-
cled to the greatest extent possible. Agreements 
with approved transport companies ensure that 
special waste is collected safely. Normal ope-
rations do not involve any danger of emissions 
from the printing plants.

The printing plants consumed 84 300 tonnes 
of paper, 1 781 tonnes of printing ink and ap-
proximately 25 GWh of electricity in 2005. The 
energy consumption was about the same as in 
2004, while the consumption of printing ink and 
paper increased by 5-6 per cent, mainly due to 
increased newspaper formats. 

The Group’s newspaper companies in Norway 
and Sweden arrange for unsold newspapers to 
be returned and sold for recycling. 

The Group’s other operations only pollute the 
environment to a very limited extent.

Equal opportunities
Schibsted relies on talent, experience and skil-
led managers and employees. It is essential to 
the Group’s continued success that women are 
ensured the same opportunities for develop-
ment as men. This is an important part of the 
Group’s social responsibility and the basis for 
the Group’s continued commercial success.

Several of the Group’s subsidiaries are making 
active efforts to ensure that men and women 
have equal terms, equal access to management 
positions and equal conditions in connection 
with recruitment and development activi-
ties. The Group management is also working 
systematically to ensure a balance between the 
sexes, among other things through Group-run 
development programmes and Schibsted’s 
trainee programme.  In some areas, such as 
the printing operations, traditional graphic 
production areas and IT, there is a high level of 
male dominance. 

The percentage of women in the subsidiaries’ 
managements has increased over the past few 
years. At year-end the following per cent of 
senior positions were held by women:
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Aftenposten 29
Aftonbladet 36
SvD 64
VG 29

There are currently no women in Schibsted’s 
group management team. 

Dividend and capital structure
Schibsted is a listed company that is to provide 
a competitive rate of return based on healthy 
finances. The Board of Schibsted believes it is 
essential that the company’s shares are per-
ceived to be an interesting investment alterna-
tive. It is therefore one of the Schibsted Board’s 
goals to promote the shareholders’ yield 
through long-term growth in the share price and 
dividend. The Board will make efforts to ensure 
that the price of the company’s shares reflects, 
in so far as possible, the company’s long-term 
earnings ability.  

Schibsted’s operations are based on strong posi-
tions in the Scandinavian media market, particu-
lary in the newspaper segment. The earnings and 
cash flow from these operations are characteris-
ed by cyclical fluctuations but Schibsted’s strong 
brands indicate a long-term, stable position. In 
periods of recession, interesting opportunities 
may open up for a company that has maintained 
its capital strength.

Schibsted’s Board has adopted a new vision 
and strategy that allow for the fact that the 

media sector is in flux. This strategy implies 
that development of the Group is taking place 
at a faster pace. Schibsted’s capital structure 
must appear to be sufficiently robust in order to 
maintain the financial freedom of action requi-
red by the Group’s growth ambitions. 

In the future, Schibsted will place greater 
emphasis on having a fixed dividend payout 
ratio that, over time, is to be 25-40 per cent of 
the Group’s cash flow per share. In addition, 
the Group wants to have certain stability in 
the dividend over time. In years with weaker 
economic conditions, the level of dividend will 
be maintained in so far as the Group’s capital 
structure so permits. Such a dividend level will 
lead to Schibsted’s direct yield being competi-
tive both in the Norwegian market and among 
European media companies. 

The Group’s strategic direction and owner-
ship structure place some restrictions on the 
Group’s capital structure. A stable increase in 
dividend and the opportunity to repurchase sha-
res are regarded as suitable tools for adjusting 
the capital structure. 

The Board will propose a dividend of NOK 4.25 
per share in 2005 (3.25) to the Annual General 
Meeting.

Schibsted ASA
Schibsted ASA is the parent company within 
the Schibsted Group. The financial statement 

of the company is prepared in accordance 
with Norwegian accounting rules (NGAAP). 
Schibsted ASA’s operating revenues of NOK 2 
million (1 million) consist mainly of accounting 
and board fees from its subsidiaries. The ordi-
nary operating expenses of NOK 141 million (114 
million) are related to the Group administration 
services. The company made an operating 
loss in 2005 of NOK 139 million (a loss of 113 
million) while its pre-tax profit on ordinary 
operations amounted to NOK 608 million (224 
million). As financial income contributions from 
subsidiaries is included with NOK 612 million 
(287 million.)

Schibsted ASA had distributable equity of NOK 
908 million (887 million) at the end of 2005. 

At year-end, Schibsted ASA had 72 (62) 
employees, 17 of whom were trainees working 
in the Group companies. The Group Chief 
Executive Officer is Schibsted ASA’s managing 
director. 

The Board of Schibsted ASA proposes alloca-
ting the profit for the year of NOK 500 million 
as follows:

Transferred to other equity .... NOK 215 million
Allocated to dividend
NOK 4.25 per share .............. NOK 285 million

Group contributions to subsidiaries totalled 
NOK 206 million. 

OLE JACOB SUNDE
Chairman ot the 
Group’s Board

TINIUS NAGELL-ERICHSEN
Deputy Chairman ot the 

Group’s Board

ALEXANDRA BECH GJØRV GRETE FAREMO

GUNNAR NORDBY FINN E. STEEN MONICA BIRGITTE 
CANEMAN

KJELL AAMOT
President and CEO

BERIT BJERG HILDE HARBO CATO A. HOLMSEN CHRISTIAN RINGNES

Oslo, 28 March 2006 
Schibsted ASA’s Board of Directors
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(Last changed at the ordinary Annual General 
Meeting May 2nd, 2005)

§ 1 Name
The company is a public limited company with 
the name Schibsted ASA.

§ 2 Registered office
The company’s registered office of business is 
in Oslo, Norway.

§ 3 Objectives
The objective of the Company is to carry out 
information and publishing activities and com-
mercial activities related thereto. 

The shareholders shall arrange the Company´s 
information and publishing business activities 
in a manner which fully secures the editorial 
freedom and integrity of Aftenposten AS and 
Verdens Gang AS in accordance with the 
Articles of Association of these companies. The 
principle of editorial freedom and integrity shall 
apply to any media and publications within the 
Schibsted Group, either in Norway or abroad. 

§ 4 Share capital
The Company’s nominal share capital is NOK 
69,250,000 pro rated on 69,250,000 shares 
each of NOK 1.00. All shares are fully paid up 
and registered by name. The Company’s shares 
shall be registered in the Norwegian Registry of 
Securities.

§ 5 Transferability
The Company´s shares are transferable subject 
to the restrictions set out in § 6 below.

Voting rights in respect of shares that have 
been transferred may be exercised at the 
earliest one week after the share transfer has 
been registered in the Norwegian Registry of 
Securities. If the acquisition of shares requires 
a concession, voting rights in respect of the 
shares requires that the concession is granted, 
unless the Company’s Board of Directors has 
already formally recommended that the conces-
sion is granted.

§ 6  Restrictions on ownership and voting 
rights

No shareholder may own or vote at the general 
meeting in respect of more than 30% of the sha-
res. In addition to a shareholder’s own shares, 
shareholdings which are owned or acquired by 
the following are included:

a)   the shareholder’s spouse, minor children or 
persons with whom the shareholder has a 
common household

b)   companies where the shareholder has 
an influence as specified in § 1-2 of the 
Norwegian Company’s Act of 1976

c)   companies within the same group of com-
panies as the shareholder, and

d)   anyone with whom the shareholder has a 
binding collaboration with regard to the 
exercise of their rights as shareholders.

§ 7 Changes in the Articles of Association
Resolutions concerning changes in the Articles 
of Association, the sale of shares in subsidiaries 
and voting concerning changes in the Articles 
of Association of subsidiaries, shall be taken 
by the annual general meeting and require 
the support of more than  of the share capital 
represented at the annual general meeting. 
This is also required for private placements, 
demergers and mergers as well as the transfer 
of Aftenposten’s and Verdens Gang’s publishing 
rights.

§ 8 Board of Directors
The affairs of the company shall be governed by 
a Board of Directors of 11 members of whom 4 
shall be elected by and among the employees 
and 7 members by the shareholders. 

Shareholders owning 25 % or more of the 
Company’s share capital shall have the right 
to appoint one of the Board members elected 
by the shareholders.  Board members shall be 
elected for 1 year. 

§ 9 Execution of documents
The Chairman of the Board and one of the other 
members of the Board of Directors may jointly 
sign for the Company. The Board may grant 
power of procuration.

§ 10 Annual General Meeting
In the ordinary Annual General Meeting, the 
following matters shall be acted upon: 

1.  Adoption of the financial statements (profit 
and loss account and balance sheet), 
resolution as to the application of the 
years’ profit or coverage of deficit pursuant 
the balance sheet adopted.

2.  Adoption of the consolidated accounts 
(profit and loss account and balance 
sheet).

3.  Election of an Election Committee at the 
end of the service period. The Election 
Committee shall consist of 3 members 
and one deputy. The chairman of the 
Election Committee is elected by the 
General Meeting. The Election Committee 
is elected for 2 years. The Election 
Committee shall among others nominate 
shareholders’ board members and their 
deputies whenever their respective service 
period expires or a by-election is needed. 
As far as possible, the Election Committee 
shall announce its nominations in the 
shareholders’ notice of the Annual General 
Meeting. The Election Committee proposes 
remunerations to the members of the 
Board of Directors. The proposal shall be 
made in advance for a period of one year 
counting from the Annual General Meeting. 
The  Election Committee may pass opini-
ons on, and may put forward proposals to 
the General Meeting, in matters regarding 
the Board of Directors’ size, composition 
and working conditions, as well as matters 
regarding the Company’s auditor, including 
proposals regarding the election of the 
Company’s auditor and the auditor’s 
remuneration.

4.  Election of shareholders’ Board members 
and deputies whenever their respective 
service period expires. 

5.  Other matters which by law or the 
Company’s Articles of Association fall 
within the scope of the Annual General 
Meeting.

Articles of association
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Income statement – Group

(NOK MILLION) NOTE 2005 2004

Operating revenues 6 9 832 9 690

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods 7 (1 908) (1 894)
Personnel expenses 8 (2 961) (2 831)
Depreciation and amortisation 13 (344) (376)
Other operating expenses 10 (3 840) (3 733)
Income from associated companies 14 198 84

Operating profit before impairment of goodwill 
and other revenues and expenses 977 940

Impairment loss goodwill 13 - (78)
Other revenues and expenses 5 184 (348)

Operating profit 6 1 161 514

Financial income 11 94 49
Financial expenses 11 (78) (87)

Profit before taxes 1 177 476

Taxes 12 (230) (163)

Net income 947 313

Net income attributable to minority interests 73 72
Net income attributable to majority interests 874 241

Earnings per share (NOK) 21 12.91 3.55
Diluted earnings per share (NOK) 21 12.89 3.55
Earnings per share - adjusted (NOK) 21 9.76 8.18
Diluted earnings per share - adjusted  (NOK) 21 9.74 8.18
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Balance sheet at 31 December - Group

(NOK MILLION) NOTE 2005 2004

ASSETS

Deferred tax assets 12 311 331
Intangible assets 13 1 406 1 273
Investment property 13 198 201
Property, plant and equipment 13 1 931 2 013
Investments in associated companies 14 1 584 1 202
Long-term investments 16 137 165
Other non-current assets 20 100 118

Non-current assets 5 667 5 303

Inventories 19 94 106
Trade and other receivables 18 1 442 1 416
Short-term investments 16 56 58
Cash and bank deposits 17 676 532

Current assets 2 268 2 112

Total assets 7 935 7 415

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital 69 69
Treasury shares (2) (1)
Other paid-in capital 89 83
Other equity 2 778 2 140

Majority interest in equity 2 934 2 291

Minority interests 287 140

Equity 3 221 2 431

Deferred tax liabilities 12 116 92
Pension liabilities 24 756 761
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 15 1 078 1 544
Other non-current liabilities - 92

Non-current liabilities 1 950 2 489

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 15 493 287
Income tax payable 176 180
Other current liabilities 23 2 095 2 028

Current liabilities 2 764 2 495

Total equity and liabilities 7 935 7 415
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Cash flow statement – Group

(NOK MILLION) NOTE 2005 2004

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax 1 177 476
Income from associated companies (194) (84)
Dividends received from associated companies 157 60
Taxes paid (232) (135)
Sales losses / (gains) non-current assets (371) (58)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment 352 739
Impairment losses financial instruments and current assets 1 5
Change in working capital 94 83

Net cash flow from operating activities 28 984 1 086

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (363) (215)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 28 (442) (502)
Sale of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 58 18
Sale of subsidiaries, net of cash sold 28 654 -
Investments in / sale of other shares (99) (540)
Other investments / sales 2 (26)

Net cash flow from investing activities (190) (1 265)

Net cash flow before financing 794 (179)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New interest-bearing loans and borrowings 104 352
Repayment of interest-bearing loans and borrowings (373) (257)
Minority’s contribution and withdrawal of capital (27) (11)
Purchase / sale of treasury shares (134) 20
Dividends paid 22 (220) (203)

Net cash flow from financing activities 28 (650) (99)

Net cash flow for the year 144 (278)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 532 810

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 17 676 532
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Statement of changes in equity – Group

FOREIGN NET

SHARE OTHER CURRENCY UNREALISED

(NOK MILLION) SHARE TREASURY PREMIUM PAID-IN RETAINED TRANSLATION GAINS MINORITY

CAPITAL SHARES RESERVE EQUITY EARNINGS RESERVE RESERVE INTERESTS TOTAL

As at 1 January 2004 69 (1) 76 1 2 138 - - 188 2 471

Net income 2004 - - - - 241 - - 72 313
Share-based payment - - - 1 - - - - 1
Dividends - - - - (203) - - - (203)
Dividends to minority 
interests - - - - - - - (11) (11)
Change in treasury shares - - - 5 15 - - - 20
Additions, disposals and 
change in ownership 
of subsidiaries and 
associated companies - - - - - - - (130) (130)
Translation differences - - - - - (55) - 21 (34)
Effect of hedging of net 
investment in foreign 
operations - - - - - 4 - - 4

As at 31 December 2004 69 (1) 76 7 2 191 (51) - 140 2 431

Implementation of 
IAS  32/39 - - - - (5) - 63 - 58
Net income 2005 - - - - 874 - - 73 947
Share-based payment - - - 3 - - - - 3
Dividends - - - - (220) - - - (220)
Dividends to minority 
interests - - - - - - - (27) (27)
Change in treasury shares - (1) - 3 (136) - - - (134)
Change in fair value of 
investments available 
for sale - - - - - - (12) - (12)
Additions, disposals and 
change in ownership of 
subsidiaries and 
associated companies - - - - 104 - - 111 215
Translation differences - - - - - (77) - (10) (87)
Effect of hedging of net 
investment in foreign 
operations - - - - - 47 - - 47

As at 31 December 2005 69 (2) 76 13 2 808 (81) 51 287 3 221
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All amounts are in NOK million unless otherwise stated.

Note 1 Company information

Schibsted ASA is domiciled in Norway. The company’s head office is located at Apotekergt 10, Oslo. The company’s postal
address is P.O. Box 490 Sentrum, 0105 Oslo. The company is a public limited company that is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. 

Schibsted is one of Scandinavia’s leading companies in the media sector. The main part of the business is based in Norway
and Sweden, but the group operates in ten countries. The group has established products and rights within newspaper, TV,
film, publishing, multimedia and telecoms media. Content in the form of news, information and entertainment is distributed
through paper, the internet, TV, cinema, video, DVD and mobile services.  

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 28 March 2006.

Note 2 Significant accounting policies

BASIS FOR PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the EU-approved International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Accounting Act. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on a
historical cost basis, with the exception of financial instruments and investments categorised as available for sale which are
measured at fair value. 

The group’s income statement is divided by reference to the nature of income and expenses.

The preparation of annual financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to use estimates and assumpti-
ons that affect the reported amounts. Furthermore, management is required to make evaluations relating to the application of
the group’s accounting policies. Areas that are strongly affected by estimates and evaluations, that are complex or material
to the consolidated accounts are described in Note 4, Use of estimates.

CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES
The consolidated financial statements comprise Schibsted ASA and companies controlled by Schibsted ASA, directly or indi-
rectly, through ownership or by agreement (subsidiaries). The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis
that the Group is a single entity, and all material transactions between consolidated companies are eliminated. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated in the consolidated financial statements from the date control is obtained and until Schibsted
ceases to have control. In the case of subsidiaries that are not wholly-owned, minority interests in net income and equity are
presented on separate lines in the income statement and balance sheet. Business combinations are accounted for by applying
the purchase method, under which the cost of acquisition is allocated to identifiable assets and liabilities measured at estimated
fair value at the date of exchange. Any excess cost of acquisition not allocated to identifiable assets and liabilities is recognised
as goodwill. In translating the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries from the respective functional currencies to
Norwegian kroner, assets and liabilities are translated using the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet, while income
and expenses are translated using average exchange rates. Translation differences are recognised in equity until disposal of
the investment. 

Joint ventures are defined as companies in which Schibsted participates, directly or through subsidiaries, and where the 
participants through agreements have joint control over the operation’s activities. Joint ventures are accounted for using 
proportionate consolidation whereby Schibsted’s share of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are recorded line by line 
in the consolidated financial statements.

Associated companies are defined as companies in which Schibsted ASA, directly or through subsidiaries, does not have a
controlling interest but exercises significant management influence and has a significant ownership share, normally 20-50%.
Associated companies are accounted for applying the equity method of accounting under which Schibsted recognises its
share of the company’s net income and gains or losses on sale in a separate line item in the income statement. In the balance
sheet, the investment is carried at cost adjusted for the share of net income and dividends received. 

ACCRUAL, CLASSIFICATION AND VALUATION PRINCIPLES 
Revenue recognition
Advertising revenues for printed media are recognised when the ads are placed, at full price less discounts and credits for
errors. Subscription revenues for printed media are invoiced in advance and recognised in income upon delivery over the
agreement period. Other sales, including casual sales of printed media are recognised in income based on copies delivered
less returns. 

Income from Internet activities, including advertising revenues and subscription based revenues are recognised to income
over the agreement period.

Barter agreements are recognised in income at fair value at the time of the transaction. Fair value is measured based on the
value of the service delivered or received, depending on which service can be most reliably measured. 

Revenues related to TV and film productions performed over more than one accounting period (construction contracts) are
recognised using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. Under this method, revenues and profits are recognised
as work under the contract progresses. 

Classification
Assets and liabilities related to the normal operating cycle are classified as current assets and liabilities. Assets and liabilities
not related to the normal operating cycle are classified as current if they are of a short-term nature, normally due within one
year. Shares and other investments not intended for continued use or ownership are classified as current assets. Other
assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets or liabilities, respectively. 

Financial instruments
The group classifies its financial instruments in one of the following categories:

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset is classified in this category if it is acquired primarily
with a view of selling in the near term or it is designated by management as in this category. Financial derivatives are inclu-
ded in this category unless acquired for hedging purposes. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.

-  Loans and receivables. The category includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. The assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Loans and
receivables are included in the consolidated balance sheet under Trade and other receivables.
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-  Held-to-maturity investments. The category includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that the group has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. The group had no such investments in the financial year.

-  Avaliable-for-sale financial assets. The category includes financial assets that are designated as available for sale or which
are not classified in any other category. Assets in this category are measured at fair value, and gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value, except for impairment losses, are recognised in equity until the asset is derecognised.

Financial liabilities not included in the any of the above categories, including interest-bearing debt are measured at amortised
cost.

The purchase and sale of financial instruments is recognized initially on the transaction day.  Financial assets derecognised when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire and the group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Foreign currency 
Financial instruments (monetary items and derivatives) in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate at the date of the
balance sheet. Normally, changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss. In the case of hedge accounting, provided that the
requirements related to documentation and assessment of hedge effectiveness are met, the change in fair value of both the hed-
ging instrument and the hedged object will be recognised in the same period. In the case of cash flow hedges and hedges of net
investments in foreign operations, the change in fair value of the hedging instrument is recognised in equity. 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumula-
ted impairment losses. Costs of developing software and other intangible assets are charged to expense until all require-
ments for recognition as a separate asset are met. Costs incurred after the requirements for recognition are met, including
the requirement to demonstrate probable future economic benefits, are recognised as an asset. Cost includes direct and indi-
rect costs attributable to the development of the asset. Borrowing costs are not capitalised as part of cost of assets.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives are depreciated systematically over the expected
useful life. Depreciation schedules take account of residual values and where significant cost components with different use-
ful lives can be identified the asset is depreciated over the individual component’s expected useful lives. Normal repairs and
maintenance are expensed as incurred. Costs related to upgrading are recognised as cost of the asset and depreciated over
remaining useful life. Environmental expenditures are expensed as incurred unless the measures increase capacity, producti-
vity or the remaining useful life of the related facility. 

Investment property is reported on a separate line in the balance sheet, and is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses. Investment property is property that is not owner-occupied but is held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation.

An impairment loss related to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets is recognised if the carrying amount exce-
eds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less selling expenses and the present value 
of future cash flows the asset is expected to generate. Impairment losses are reversed if the loss no longer exists or have
decreased for all property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with the exception of goodwill where impairment losses
are not reversed. 

Leasing
Leasing agreements are classified as financial or operational based on the substance of the agreement. Agreements transfer-
ring substantially all the financial rights and obligations related to the leased object to Schibsted are classified as financial.
Property, plant and equipment held under financial lease agreements is recognised in the balance sheet and depreciated over
the estimated useful life of the asset. The present value of lease payments is included in interest-bearing debt. The debt is
reduced by the amount of lease payments less the effective interest rate. Other lease agreements are classified as operatio-
nal and the annual leasing fee is charged to the income statement as a leasing expense. 

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of acquisition cost and net realisable value. 

Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are measured at amortised cost less expected losses. 

Treasury shares 
Cost of acquisition and proceeds from sale of treasury shares are offset against equity. 

Pension cost 
Pension obligations related to defined benefit plans are measured at the net present value of future pension benefits earned
at the balance sheet date and calculated on the basis of assumptions for, among others, the discount rate, expected future
wage growth and pension adjustments. Plan assets are measured at fair value. Net pension liabilities related to under-funded
plans are reported as non-current liabilities, while the net assets of over-funded plans are reported as non-current assets. Net
pension expense, which is gross pension expense less the expected return on plan assets adjusted for past service cost and
effects of changes in estimates, are included in personnel expenses. Changes in pension obligations due to amendments in
pension plans are included in net pension expense, over the vesting period or immediately if the benefits are immediately
vested. Changes in pension obligations and plan assets, due to changes in and deviations from the calculation assumptions,
are included in net pension expense, over the average remaining working lives of participants for that part of the accumulated
effect that exceeds 10% of the greater of plan assets or pension liabilities. In the case of pension plans that are defined as
contribution plans for accounting purposes, including multi-employer plans for which the participants’ share of liabilities and
plan assets cannot be reliably measured, the premiums are charged to pension expense for the period.

Share-based payment 
The fair value of options granted to employees, measured at grant date, is charged to expense as personnel expenses over
the vesting period. Related social security costs, calculated on the difference between the exercise price and share price at
the balance sheet date, are charged over the vesting period. 

Income taxes
Income tax expense is calculated from the profit (loss) before tax and comprises current taxes and the change in deferred
taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in accordance with the liability method without discounting and provided
for all differences between the carrying amount in the balance sheet and the tax base of assets and liabilities, and for unused
tax losses. Deferred taxes are not provided for retained earnings of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associated companies.
Deferred tax assets are recognised only when it is expected that the benefit can be realised through sufficient taxable profits
from expected future earnings. 

Restructuring costs 
Expenses related to the restructuring and reorganisations of operations are recognised when the liability is incurred. Such
expenses are considered to be incurred when the implementation plan is adopted and announced. 
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Other revenues and expenses 
Revenues and expenses included in operating profit, but being of a non-recurring nature and material in relation to business
segments, are reported on a separate line item in the income statement. 

Contingent liabilities 
Contingent liabilities are recognised if it is more probable than not that the liability will become effective. The best estimate of
amounts to be paid is included in current or non-current liabilities. Other obligations, for which no liability is recognized, are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

Cash flow statement 
The cash flow statement is prepared under the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits and
other monetary instruments with a maturity of less than three months at the date of purchase. 

IFRSs and IFRIC Interpretations not yet effective
Below is described new and amended standards and interpretations that will or may have effect on consolidated financial 
statements in later periods.

IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits
This amendment introduces the option of an alternative recognition approach for actuarial gains or losses. It also adds new
disclosure requirements. The Group will apply this amendment from annual periods beginning 1 January 2006, but expects
that only format and extent of disclosures will be effected.

IAS 39 (Amended), The Fair Value Option
The amendment restricts the ability to designate financial instruments to the cathegory “at fair value through profit or loss”.
The Group will apply this amendment from annual periods beginning 1 January 2006, but it is not expected to have significant
impact on consolidated financial statements.

IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amended), Financial Guarantee Contracts
This amendment is required to be applied for periods beginning 1 January 2006, but is not expected to have significant
impact on consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
This standard introduces new disclosures relating to financial instruments. The Group will apply the standard from annual
periods beginning 1 January 2007.

IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease
IFRIC 4 provides guidance for determining if an arrangement contains a lease. The interpretation will be applied for accoun-
ting periods beginning 1 January 2006, but is not expected to have significant impact on consolidated financial statements. 

Note 3 Significant transactions and events after the balance sheet date

Purchase and sale of businesses in 2005
On 24 January 2005 Schibsted, through its subsidiary 20 Min Holding AG, sold its 50.5 % interest in 20 Minuten (Schweiz) AG
to Express Zeitung AG, a subsidiary of tamedia. The sale gave rise to a gain of NOK 200 million. Express Zeitung AG purchased
49.5 % of the company in 2003. The sale of the remaining 50.5 % followed the agreement signed in 2003 but the sale took
place on an earlier date than originally agreed.

In April 2005 the Spanish media group Grupo Zeta acquired 20 % of the shares in 20 Minutos España through a combination
of a sale of shares and a share issue. The transaction gave rise to a gain of approximately NOK 68 million which has been
recognised directly in the group’s equity.

Pursuant to an agreement signed on 17 February 2005 Schibsted sold the group’s printing works in Sweden to JMS
Mediasystem. During the summer of 2005 production of Aftonbladet and Svenska Dagbladet was moved to Tabloidtryck. 
The sale involved write-downs of plant and equipment of NOK 303 million, which were charged to the financial statements 
for 2004. Costs relating to demanning and the relocation of production of NOK 81 million were charged to the financial 
statements for 2005. 

In March 2005 Schibsted sold 100 % of the shares in Schibsted Mobile AS to Aspiro AB with settlement in newly issued 
shares in Aspiro AB. Following the transaction Schibsted held 44.5% of the shares in Aspiro. The sale gave rise to a gain of NOK 88 million.

Schibsted sold 100% of the shares in Bokkilden AS in November 2005. The sale gave rise to a gain of NOK 11 million.

In 2005 Sandrew Metronome sold its cinema business in Sweden. In addition the distribution cooperation with Warner Home
Video was modified leading to a significant reduction in the operating revenues of this joint venture.

The Swedish part of the business of the Scanpix group was reorganised in 2005 through a merger of the businesses of
Scanpix Sverige and Pressens Bild and the establishment of a joint venture owned 50% by Schibsted and 50% by Bonnier. 
The reorganisation gave rise to a gain of NOK 6 million relating to the sale of Scanpix Sverige and a goodwill of 
NOK 13 million relating to the purchase of Pressens Bild.

In the first quarter of 2005 Schibsted, through its subsidiary Aftonbladet Hierta AB, acquired 95 % of the shares in TA
Teleadress Information Holding AB, which, among other things, operates the number information service www.hitta.se.
The acquired company contributed with a loss of  NOK 35 million to consolidated net income in 2005. The loss can largely be
attributed to costs relating to investments in hitta.se.

In the fourth quarter of 2005 Schibsted, through its subsidiary Schibsted Søk AS, acquired 100 % of the shares in
Internettkatalogen NO AS which operates an online yellowpages database. The final purchase price will be based on the com-
pany’s results for 2005. The estimated purchase price used in the allocation of the purchase price to assets and liabilities
may be changed in 2006. The company contributed NOK 1 million to the group net income for 2005.

Schibsted acquired 59.1% of the shares in Basefarm AS in the fourth quarter of 2005. Together with holdings acquired in 
previous years the group’s interest in Basefarm is 73.58%. Basefarm AS is a leading participant in the provision of Internet,
application and server operating services in the Nordic region.

In the fourth quarter of 2005 Schibsted acquired 100% of the shares in Mera AB which operates a dating service in Norway
and Sweden.

During 2005 Schibsted invested NOK 194 million in the Swedish company TV4 AB, partially through the exercise of an option
agreement signed in 2004 to acquire 5.9%. Schibsted thereby increased its holding from 20.1% to 26.9%.
In addition to the above Schibsted made several smaller acquisitions in 2005.
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With the exception of the acquisition of TA Teleadress Holding AB, the allocation of the purchase price is preliminary. The pur-
chase took place late in the year and it has not been possible to perform a complete identification and valuation of intangible
assets. Amounts allocated to goodwill will mainly relate to the acquired companies’ market position, work force and synergies
with the group’s other activities.

If all acquisitions had taken place with effect from 1 January 2005 the group’s operating revenues would have increased by
approximately NOK 123 million and net income would have increased by approximately NOK 10 million.

The table below shows the purchase price and the allocation of fair value to the assets and liabilities of businesses acquired:
INTERNETT-

TELEADRESS BASEFARM KATALOGEN MERA OTHER TOTAL

Deferred tax assets - 2 3 - - 5 
Other intangible assets 67 - - - 8 75 
Property, plant and equipment 4 27 - - 3 34 
Current assets 33 24 15 5 11 88 

Minority interests (3) (3) - - 4 (2)
Pension liabilities (2) (2) - - - (4)
Deferred taxes (20) - - - - (20)
Non-current interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings - (24) - - - (24)
Current liabilities (25) (20) (22) (3) (18) (88)

Total fair value identifiable assets and liabilities 54 4 (4) 2 8 64 

Goodwill 115 74 48 27 86 350 

Purchase price 169 78 44 29 94 414

Purchase and sale of businesses in 2004
In 2004 Schibsted invested NOK 1130 million in shares. Investments in subsidiaries were accounted for in accordance with the
purchase method and excess values of NOK 424 million, mainly goodwill, were recognised in the consolidated balance sheet.

In March 2004 Schibsted increased its holding in 20 Min Holding AG from 41.5 % to 98.7 %. The agreement was entered into by
Schibsted, Apax Funds and a group of Swiss investors. Schibsted’s purchase of shares and loans from Apax Funds and the Swiss
investors involved an investment of EUR 50 million. At the end of 2004 Schibsted’s holding in 20 Min Holding AG was 100 %.

In the spring of 2004 20 Min Holding AG exercised an option to acquire approximately 30 % of the shares in Multiprensa Holding SL, the
parent company of the business of 20 Minutes in Spain. The exercise involved an investment of EUR 7.5 million financed by Schibsted.

In April 2004 Schibsted acquired, through the subsidiaries Aftenposten AS and Schibsted Multimedia AS, 100 % of the shares
in the media monitoring company Retriever AB for SEK 48 million. 

On 28 May 2004 the owners of BiljettDirekt Ticnet AB signed an agreement to sell the company to Ticketmaster for 
SEK 225 million. Schibsted’s holding in BiljettDirekt Ticnet was 34 %. The sale gave Schibsted a gain of NOK 46 million.

In June 2004 Aftonbladet Hierta AB and FINN.no AS increased Schibsteds ownership share by  36.8% through acquisition of
shares in Byt Bil Nordic AB for SEK 28 million. The group’s interest in the company following the transaction was 92 %.

During 2004 Schibsted invested NOK 540 million in the Swedish TV 4 AB and had at the end of 2004 a holding of 20.1%. 
The interest is accounted for as an associated company. Schibsted ASA also entered into an option agreement to purchase a
further 5.9 % of the shares in TV4.

Events after the balance sheet date
In the first quarter of 2006 Schibsted, through its subsidiary Sandakerveien 121 AS, sold an undeveloped site (reported as 
an investment property) to a subsidiary of Avantor ASA. The sale price was NOK 170 million, which will give rise to a gain of 
approximately NOK 105 million.

Note 4 Use of estimates

In many areas the consolidated accounts are affected by estimates. Important areas in which the use of estimates has significant
effect on carrying amounts and thus involve a risk of changes that could affect results in future periods are described below.

The valuation of intangible assets in connection with acquisitions and the testing of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
for impairment (see note 13 Intangible assets, investment property and property, plant and equipment) will largely be based on estima-
ted future cash flows. Correspondingly the expected useful lives and residual values included in the calculation of depreciation will be
based on estimates. The group has activities within established media, but is also active in establishing positions at an early point in time
in new media channels both through acquisitions and its own start-ups. Estimates related to future cash flows and the determination of
discount rates to calculate present values must be based on management’s expectations on market developments, the competitive situ-
ation, technological developments, the ability to realise synergies, interest rate levels and other relevant factors. Such estimates will
involve uncertainty, and management’s view, and the actual development in the matters referred to, may change over time. Changes in
management’s opinion and actual developments may lead to impairment losses in future periods. The risk of changes that affect the
financial statements will naturally be higher in markets in an early phase and be more limited in established markets.

Intangible assets that are not amortised are tested annually for impairment. Other assets are tested for impairment if there are indicati-
ons that an asset is impaired. Such indications will typically be changes in market developments, the competitive situation and technolo-
gical developments. In the same way depreciation and amortisation schedules and any residual values are reviewed periodically. In 2005
changes were made in amortisation schedules for film rights, see the comments in note 13, Intangible assets, investment property and
property, plant and equipment.

Accounting for pension liabilities (see note 24, Pension plans) requires that financial assumptions relating, among others to the discount
rate, expected salary increases, and expected increases in pensions and social security base are determined. Changes in unrecognised
actuarial gains or losses from changes in assumptions affect the fair value of pension liabilities, but will affect the consolidated income
statement through amortisation only when accumulated actuarial gains or losses exceed 10% of the higher of pension liabilities and plan
assets.

Financial instruments are measured at fair value. When no quoted market price is available, fair value is established using different valua-
tion techniques.
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Note 5 Other revenues and expenses

Operating revenues and expenses that are of a non-recurring nature and are of material importance to the business segments
are separated from other ordinary operating revenues and expenses and reported in a separate line in the income statement.
Other revenues and expenses include:

2005 2004

Restructuring costs Norway - (91)
Restructuring costs Sweden (93) (303)
Gains on sale of subsidiaries and associated companies 305 46
Impairment loss intangible assets (8) -
Costs on unsuccessful legal proceedings (11) -
Provision for early retirement pensions (9) -
Total 184 (348)

2005
Restructuring costs in Sweden in 2005 relate to costs in connection with the demanning, relocation and sale of
Tidningstryckarna of NOK 81 million (see comments under 2004 for further costs relating to this), restructuring of Scanpix
Sverige AB and Pressens Bild AB in connection with the merger of the companies of NOK 8 million and restructuring of
Teleadress Information AB of NOK 4 million.

The financial statements for 2005 include a gain on the sale of 20 Min Switzerland of NOK 200 million, a gain on the sale of
Schibsted Mobile in exchange for Aspiro shares of NOK 88 million, a gain on the sale of 50 % of Scanpix Sverige AB in
exchange for 50 % of Pressens Bild AB of NOK 6 million and a gain on the sale of Bokkilden AS of NOK 11 million.

Impairment loss intangible assets relates partly to the film library in the jointly controlled business Sandrew Metronome 
(NOK 6 million) and partly to the ERP system in the same group (NOK 2 million).

Costs on unsuccessful legal proceedings of NOK 11 million relate to the dispute between Verdens Gang AS and The Union of
Graphic Workers at Verden Gang AS, see note 24, Pension plans. Pension expense recognised in 2005 related to past service
cost is included in Other revenues and expenses.

The provision for early retirement pensions of NOK 9 million relates to a provision for 16 persons in VG who have retired with
an early retirement pension and a gratuity pension.

2004
The financial statements for 2004 took into account the agreement entered into to sell the printing works in Sweden in the
first half of 2005. Impairment losses of SEK 321 million were recognised, SEK 310 million from property, plant and equipment 
and SEK 11 million from spare parts. Including sales costs incurred, the sale of the printing works involved a charge in the
financial statements for 2004 of SEK 329 million (NOK 303 million).

In the spring of 2004 the Board of Aftenposten AS approved an improvement programme for the period 2005-08. The pro-
gramme has an annual effect of NOK 180 million. The programme includes product changes, further headcount reductions, 
as well as new sources of revenue. 

Restructuring costs in Aftenposten AS involved a charge to income in 2004 of NOK 73 million, restructuring in Schibsted
Trykk involved a charge of NOK 14 million and other restructuring costs involved a charge to income of NOK 4 million. 

Gains on the sale of subsidiaries and associated companies of NOK 46 million relate to the sale of Schibsted’s 34 % interest
in the associated company BiljettDirekt Ticnet AB.

Note 6 Segment information 

Schibsted’s operations are primarily reported in four business segments. The division is in accordance with the group’s orga-
nisation and internal management reporting. The operations of the business areas are mainly carried out through separate
companies within each business segment and the allocation of revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and investments is
based on the financial statements for these companies. All transactions between business areas are made on normal 
commercial terms.

Financial statement items allocated to business segments are shown below:
NEWS- OTHER ELIMINA- SCHIBSTED

2005 PAPERS TV / FILM PUBLISHING BALTICS OPERATIONS TIONS GROUP

Subscription revenues 964 - 35 74 - - 1 073
Casual sales revenues 2 552 - 41 43 - - 2 636
Advertising revenues 3 571 - 36 157 10 - 3 774
Other revenues 714 1 168 242 103 122 - 2 349
Total external revenues 7 801 1 168 354 377 132 - 9 832
Internal revenues 18 - 2 11 139 (170) -
Operating revenues 7 819 1 168 356 388 271 (170) 9 832
Operating expenses (6 777) (1 102) (310) (332) (358) 170 (8 709)
Depreciation and amortisation (232) (49) (2) (16) (45) - (344)
Income from associated 
companies 99 94 - 1 4 - 198
Other revenues and expenses 93 (8) - - 99 - 184
Operating profit (loss) 1 002 103 44 41 (29) - 1 161

Assets 7 253 1 609 279 286 4 503 (5 995) 7 935
Of which investments in 
associated companies 449 974 - 2 159 - 1 584
Liabilities (4 836) (975) (179) (155) (3 654) 5 085 (4 714)
Investments in intangible 
assets and property, plant 
and equipment 234 61 4 26 38 - 363
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NEWS- OTHER ELIMINA- SCHIBSTED

2004 PAPERS TV / FILM PUBLISHING BALTICS OPERATIONS TIONS GROUP

Subscription revenues 909 - 30 71 - - 1 010
Casual sales revenues 2 665 - 20 31 - - 2 716
Advertising revenues 3 269 - 33 126 - - 3 428
Other revenues 627 1 281 260 92 276 - 2 536
Total external revenues 7 470 1 281 343 320 276 - 9 690
Internal revenues 17 1 1 7 136 (162) -
Operating revenues 7 487 1 282 344 327 412 (162) 9 690
Operating expenses (6 404) (1 198) (306) (287) (425) 162 (8 458)
Depreciation and amortisation (251) (61) (4) (14) (46) - (376)
Income from associated 
companies 36 44 - - 4 - 84
Inpairment loss goodwill - (78) - - - - (78)
Other revenues and expenses (393) - (1) - 46 - (348)
Operating profit (loss) 475 (11) 33 26 (9) - 514

Assets 7 147 1 008 289 240 4 539 (5 808) 7 415
Of which investments in 
associated companies 369 290 - 2 541 - 1 202
Liabilities (5 507) (596) (198) (144) (3 469) 4 930 (4 984)
Investments in intangible 
assets and property, 
plant and equipment 122 71 2 10 10 - 215

Geographical segment information
Shown below is a geographic breakdown of the group’s operating revenues, assets and investments based on the location of
group companies. There are no significant differences between the allocation of operating revenues based on the location of
group companies and a breakdown based on the customers’ location. 

OPERATING REVENUES 2005 2004

Norway 5 196 4 809
Sweden 3 419 3 444
Other Nordic countries 425 512
Baltic countries 389 353
Other Europe 403 572
Total 9 832 9 690

Operating revenues include government grants (press subsidies Sweden) totalling NOK 56 million in 2005 and NOK 60 million
in 2004. In addition barter agreements are included with NOK 70 million in 2005 and NOK 50 million in 2004.

The change in operating revenues from 2004 to 2005 includes a negative currency effect of 3 %, mainly due to a weakening
of the Swedish krona. 

ASSETS 2005 2004

Norway 4 861 4 474
Sweden 2 097 1 794
Other Nordic countries 220 257
Baltic countries 386 346
Other Europe 422 620
Eliminations (51) (76)
Total 7 935 7 415

INVESTMENTS IN INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2005 2004

Norway 241 113
Sweden 53 65
Other Nordic countries 27 17
Baltic countries 26 10
Other Europe 16 10
Total 363 215

Note 7 Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods consist of:

2005 2004

Raw materials and purchased goods 1 060 984
TV / Film production expenses 848 910
Total 1 908 1 894
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Note 8 Personnel expenses and average number of employees

Personnel expenses consist of:

2005 2004

Salaries and wages 2 185 2 119
Social security costs 436 424
Net pension expense (note 24) 211 186
Share-based payment 3 1
Other personnel expenses 126 101
Total 2 961 2 831

Average number of employees 5 319 4 983

Details of salary, bonus and other benefits provided to group management in 2005: 
BONUS

SALARY (INCL. (PAID OTHER PENSION OUTSTANDING

NAME: HOLIDAY PAY) 2005) BENEFITS COST LOAN 

Kjell Aamot 2 700 000 650 000 215 880 829 000 800 000
Trond Berger 1 876 000 392 500 176 660 682 000 800 000
Jan Erik Knarbakk 1 550 000 362 500 157 990 533 000 -
Birger Magnus 2 016 000 432 500 247 090 761 000 -
Sverre Munck 1 764 000 387 500 180 615 669 000 392 000

In 2005 the arrangement involving remuneration for Board appointments for senior management in the group was termina-
ted. This resulted in all members of the group management receiving a salary increase in 2005. 

Bonus
Schibsted’s group management has a bonus programme that is linked to the achievement of financial targets. The bonus for
the 2005 accounting year is calculated and paid in 2006. The main elements in the bonus scheme for 2005 are as follows:

• Bonus payments are limited to a maximum of six months’ salary.
• The bonus is divided into two parts, with one related to financial targets and one to strategic themes. 
• The financial criteria of the bonus should normally represent 2/3rds of the total bonus. 
• The remaining 1/3rd is linked to one or more targets within selected strategic areas.

Termination compensation and pension plans:
Schibsted ASA is committed to pay termination compensation to the group management under certain conditions. The Chief
Executive Officer’s termination compensation corresponds to 24 months’ salary beyond the notice period of 6 months. The
Executive Vice Presidents’ termination compensation corresponds to 18 months’ salary beyond the notice period of 6
months. 

The group management are members of the group’s collective pension plan, see note 24. In addition, they have an insured
top-pension which, when fully vested, provides 66 % of salaries above 12 G. 

The Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice Presidents may choose to retire on reaching 65. In the period up to normal
retirement age they will receive a pension of 90 % of salary.  A new pension agreement for the Chief Executive Officer is
expected to come into effect in the first half of 2006. Under the new agreement the Chief Executive Officer may choose to
retire on reaching the age of 62 with a pension of 66% of salary up to normal retirement age.

The Chairman of the Board has no special remuneration arrangements on retirement. 

Loans to group management
Members of group management have the right to borrow from the company in accordance with Schibsted’s applicable guide-
lines at the relevant times for loans to senior employees. For each loan, a mortgage is taken in the borrower’s home up to
100 per cent of an approved market value. In addition, Schibsted ASA has arranged an unconditional guarantee with Fokus
Bank which is responsible for funding the loans. 

The loans are instalment free, with quarterly payments of interest and expenses. Interest on the loans is set by Schibsted ASA
and was at the end of 2005 1.5 per cent (corresponding to 1 % below the norm interest rate set for benefit taxation determi-
ned in the State budget). If the borrower resigns or retires, the loan falls due for payment automatically one month after the
leaving date.

Fees to Board members
NOK 2,378,348 was paid in 2005 in remuneration to the Board of Directors of Schibsted ASA, NOK 550,000 to the Chairman
of the Board and NOK 150,000 to Board members, with the exception of foreign residents who receive NOK 225,000 as com-
pensation for extra travelling time. 20% of the Board fee is linked to attendance. Deputy members’ fees consist of a fixed fee
of NOK 30,000, with the addition of NOK 10,000 for each meeting attended. 

Members of the Board of Schibsted ASA have in aggregate received NOK 262,000 in remuneration for Board appointments in
subsidiaries.

Fees to the Compensation Committee 
The Compensation Committee prepares matters for the group Board with regard to remuneration of management in the
Schibsted group. In 2005 the fee to the Chairman of the committee was NOK 50,000 and NOK 30,000 to each of the com-
mittee’s other two members.

Fees to the Election Committee 
The Election Committee works continuously on Board recruitment and evaluation of the Board’s work. The fee to the
Chairman of the committee amounts to NOK 50,000 and NOK 30,000 to each of the Election Committee’s other two mem-
bers and the permanently attending deputy member.
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Auditor
Fees to the group’s auditors for the 2005 accounting year were as follows:

OTHER TAX OTHER

ATTEST ADVISORY NON-AUDIT

(NOK 1 000, EX VAT) AUDIT SERVICES SERVICES SERVICES SERVICES TOTAL

Schibsted group
Ernst & Young 4 577 13 471 474 5 535
Other auditors 4 259 250 240 1 663 6 412
Total 8 836 263 711 2 137 11 947

Schibsted ASA
Ernst & Young 843 - 21 215 1 079

Note 9 Share-based payment

In 2000 Schibsted introduced an option programme in the Schibsted share which today includes the Chief Executive Officer,
Executive Vice Presidents, and Managing Director and Chief Editors of Aftenposten, VG, Svenska Dagbladet and Aftonbladet.
Persons covered by the option scheme are granted a right to earn options in equal parts (1/3) over a three-year period. The
exercise price is determined by the average market price one week before and one week after publication of the company’s
interim results for the first quarter in the year the options are granted.

The option programme was revised in 2005.. The exercise period was increased from one to two years and a requirement on
minimum ownership was introduced for those covered by the option programme. In the case of the Chief Executive Officer,
this represents a requirement on ownership corresponding to two years’ salary, for Executive Vice Presidents one year’s sala-
ry and for the other managers half a year’s salary. In evaluating whether minimum ownership has been reached, gross salary
and the shares’ market price are to be used. Until the minimum requirement has been reached, up to 50 per cent of the gain
after tax on options exercised must be reinvested in the Schibsted share.

The changes in the option programme were introduced with retrospective effect and therefore also apply to options granted previ-
ously. 

Options that are not vested are cancelled on resignation and vested options must be exercised within a short period of the end
of employment. 

The development in the number of options outstanding has been as follows::
2005 2004

Outstanding 1 January 378 750 360 000 
Granted 157 500 138 750 
Exercised - (120 000)

Outstanding 31 December 536 250 378 750 

Of which fully vested 385 000 246 250 

Outstanding options as at 31 December 2005 had the following terms:

EXERCISE PRICE NUMBER OF 

EXPIRY DATE (NOK) OPTIONS

31 December 2006 93.00 120 000 
31 December 2007 98.00 120 000 
31 December 2008 120.00 138 750 
31 December 2009 151.30 157 500 

Total 536 250

Options granted in 2001 with an exercise price of NOK 100 were exercised in 2004. Aamot, Munck, Ona and Olufsen 
exercised their options with the average share price at NOK 155, while the remainder exercised their options with the 
average share price at NOK 141. 

Below is presented options granted, options oustanding and number of Schibsted shares held by managers included in the
option program: NUMBER OF 

GRANTED GRANTED EXERCISED OUTSTANDING SHARES

2005 2004 2004 31 DEC. 2005 31 DEC. 2005

Kjell Aamot 30 000 30 000 30 000 120 000 16 749 
Trond Berger 15 000 15 000 15 000 60 000 5 573 
Jan Erik Knarbakk 15 000 15 000 15 000 60 000 4 523 
Birger Magnus 15 000 15 000 15 000 60 000 9 046 
Sverre Munck 15 000 15 000 15 000 60 000 3 496 
Aslak Ona 7 500 7 500 7 500 30 000 4 199 
Hans Erik Matre 7 500 7 500 - 15 000 44 
Olav Mugaas 7 500 7 500 7 500 30 000 1 574 
Bernt Olufsen 7 500 7 500 7 500 30 000 6 635 
Rolv Erik Ryssdal 7 500 - - 7 500 273 
Anders Gerdin 7 500 - - 7 500 - 
Carl Gyllfors 7 500 - - 7 500 106 
Gunnar Strømblad 7 500 7 500 - 15 000 1 840 
Lena Samuelsson 7 500 7 500 - 15 000 314 
Einar Hanseid - - 7 500 15 000 2 607 
Torry Pedersen - 3 750 - 3 750 49 

157 500 138 750 120 000 536 250 

The requirement as to minimum ownership was met by Bernt Olufsen at the year-end. The other managers continue to have a
reinvestment obligation.
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Determination of fair value of options
The fair value of options granted in the period is calculated using the Black-Scholes’ model for option pricing. The fair value in
2005 is calculated at NOK 4.8 million. (2004: NOK 2.3 million) 

Several factors have been used in the pricing model that affects the fair value of options granted. The following assumptions
have been used in the calculation:

2005 2004

Price on award 151.30 1) 120
Exercise price 151.30 120
Option’s duration 4 years 3 years
Risk-free interest rate 3.5 % 3.1 %
Volatility 30 % 25 %

1) The grant of options to the management in Aftonbladet took place in September 2005 when the share price was NOK 181.

Volatility is a statistical measure of price fluctuations and thus describes the probability that an option in the underlying share
will have a value. Expected volatility is measured as standard deviation on the share’s daily returns for the last three years. 

Employees in the group are given the opportunity each year to buy shares to value of NOK 7,500 at a 20% discount through
Schibsted Employees’ Share Phurchase Scheme.

Note 10 Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses include:

2005 2004

Distribution 918 907
Commissions 695 724
Rent, maintenance, office expenses and energy 339 345
PR, advertising and campaigns 429 375
Printing contracts 372 354
Editorial material 217 226
Professional fees 271 246
Travelling expenses 138 123
Other operating expenses 461 433
Total 3 840 3 733

Note 11 Financial items

Financial income and financial expenses consist of:

2005 2004

Interest income 17 21
Net foreign exchange gains 4 4
Gain on the sale of shares 61 12
Dividends received 9 5
Reversal impairment losses - 5
Other financial income 3 2
Total financial income 94 49

Interest expenses (68) (76)
Impairment loss investments available for sale (1) -
Other financial expenses (9) (11)
Total financial expenses (78) (87)

Note 12 Taxes

The group’s income tax charge comprises the following:

2005 2004

Current income taxes 227 215
Deferred income taxes 21 (51)
Effect of hedge accounting foreign currency (18) (1)
Taxes 230 163
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The group’s effective tax rate differs from the nominal tax rate in countries where the group has operations. The group’s
effective tax is arrived at as follows: 

2005 2004

Profit before taxes 1 177 476

Estimated tax charge based on nominal tax rate in Norway 330 28.0 % 133 28.0 %
Tax effect income associated companies (56) (4.7 %) (36) (7.6 %)
Tax effect other permanent differences (68) (5.8 %) 30 6.3 %
Change in unrecognised deferred tax assets 31 2.6 % 23 4.8 %
Change in tax legislation - - 16 3.3 %
Effect of tax rate differential abroad (7) (0.6 %) (3) (0.6 %)

Taxes 230 19.5 % 163 34.2 %

The group’s effective tax rate was 19.5 % in 2005 against 34.2 % in 2004. The reduction in the effective tax rate is mainly due
to substantial tax-free gains on the sale of shares in 2005. Such gains on shares are included in “Other revenues and expen-
ses” with regard to gains on the sale of subsidiaries and in Financial income with regard to gains on the sale of shares cate-
gorised as Shares available for sale. 

The group’s net deferred tax liabilities (assets) is made up as follows:

2005 2004

Tax effect of temporary differences:
Current items (41) (40)
Pension liabilities (211) (211)
Other non-current items 229 82
Unused tax losses (391) (275)

Calculated net deferred tax liabilities (assets) (414) (444)
Unrecognised deferred tax assets 219 205
Net deferred tax liabilities (assets) (195) (239)

Of which deferred tax liabilities 116 92
Of which deferred tax assets (311) (331)

The development in the net deferred tax liabilities (assets) is as follows:

2005 2004

As at 1 January (239) (109)
Change included in tax charge 21 (51)
Change on purchase and sale of subsidiaries 18 (81)
Translation differences 5 2
As at 31 December (195) (239)

Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is likely that the benefit can be realised through expected future taxable profits.
The group’s deferred tax assets are mainly related to pension liabilities in the Norwegian business and losses carried forward
in Sweden where the losses can be utilised against future taxable profits in the Aftonbladet group.  The carrying amount of
deferred tax assets include NOK 42 million related to the business in Spain. The business in Spain had a taxable profit in
2004 but a taxable loss in 2005. The recognition of the deferred tax asset is based on the fact that the result for 2005 inclu-
ded substantial costs on growth initiatives, additional editions and increased circulation, as well as expected future earnings
demonstrated through the valuation of the business on the divestment down from 100% to 80% in 2005.. The group’s unre-
cognised deferred tax assets mainly relate to operations in Sweden which cannot be utilised against future taxable profits in
the Aftonbladet group, as well as other operations abroad where utilisation must be against the business’s own future taxable
profits.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are offset for liabilities and assets in companies which are included in local tax groups. N
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Note 13 Intangible assets, investment property and property, plant and equipment

CONSTR-

OTHER INVEST- UCTION EQUIPMENT, 

INTANGIBLE BUILDINGS MENT IN FURNITURE,

GOODWILL ASSETS AND LAND PROPERTIES PROGRESS MACHINERY VEHICLES TOTAL

As at 1 January 2004
Cost 1 227 450 1 412 228 71 1 464 1 014 5 866
Accumulated depreciation, 
amortisation and impairment losses (457) (296) (320) (25) - (527) (689) (2 314)
Net carrying amount 770 154 1 092 203 71 937 325 3 552

1 January –
31 December 2004
Net carrying amount 1.1. 2004 770 154 1 092 203 71 937 325 3 552
Additions - 58 5 2 2 47 101 215
Additions on purchase of businesses 424 5 23 - - 24 24 500
Disposals (1) (1) (16) - - - (1) (19)
Reclassification 1 6 2 - (58) 49 - -
Depreciation and amortisation for the year - (52) (65) (4) - (115) (140) (376)
Impairment losses (78) (1) (101) - (5) (178) - (363)
Translation differences (12) - (3) - (2) (3) (2) (22)
Net carrying amount 31.12. 2004 1 104 169 937 201 8 761 307 3 487

As at 31 December 2004
Cost 1 638 494 1 419 230 13 1 565 1 071 6 430
Accumulated depreciation, 
amortisation and impairment losses (534) (325) (482) (29) (5) (804) (764) (2 943)
Net carrying amount 1 104 169 937 201 8 761 307 3 487

1 January –
31 December 2005
Net carrying amount 1.1. 2005 1 104 169 937 201 8 761 307 3 487
Additions - 84 6 1 23 103 146 363
Additions on purchase of businesses 350 73 - - - - 39 462
Disposals - (9) (24) - (3) (29) (11) (76)
Disposals on sale of businesses (242) (2) - - - - (31) (275)
Reclassification - 2 (5) - - - 3 -
Depreciation and amortisation for the year - (54) (59) (4) - (95) (132) (344)
Impairment losses - (8) - - - - - (8)
Translation differences (47) (14) (4) - - (3) (6) (74)
Net carrying amount 31.12. 2005 1 165 241 851 198 28 737 315 3 535

As at 31 December 2005
Cost 1 653 592 1 110 231 30 1 061 1 003 5 680
Accumulated depreciation, 
amortisation and impairment losses (488) (351) (259) (33) (2) (324) (688) (2 145)
Net carrying amount 1 165 241 851 198 28 737 315 3 535

The fair value of investment property is approximately NOK 460 million. An undeveloped site included in investment property
was sold in the first quarter of 2006 for NOK 170 million (see Note 3, Significant transactions and events after the balance
sheet date). Other fair values are determined based on external valuations. Rental income from investment property was 
NOK 30 million (NOK 29 million) and direct costs relating to investment property were NOK 8 million (NOK 8 million).

Investment properties and property, plant and equipment, excluding land, are depreciated on a straight line basis over their
useful life. Depreciation schedules take account of the asset’s residual value. Items of property, plant and equipment where
material costs components can be identified with different useful lives are depreciated over the individual components 
expected useful life. 

Depreciation and amortisation is charged based on the following useful lives: Buildings (25-50 years), Plant and machinery 
(5-20 years), Equipment, furniture, vehicles (3-10 years) and Intangible assets (3-10 years). The depreciation method, 
expected useful life and any residual value is assessed annually.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are as a general rule amortised on a straight line basis over the expected useful life.
Film rights are amortised on a declining basis or in accordance with another systematic method depending on what is 
considered to best reflect the expected pattern of future economic benefits embodied in the relevant asset.

The amortisation period for certain film rights has been extended with effect from 1 January 2005. This has led to a reduction
in amortization expense of NOK 6 million in the financial statements for 2005.

Other intangible assets include:
CARRYING AMOUNT

31 DECEMBER

EXPECTED USEFUL LIFE 2005 2004

Trademarks Indefinite 19 -
Film rights Finite 83 101
Data systems and licenses Finite 139 68
Total 241 169

Other intangible assets apart from trademarks have a finite useful life. Trade marks with an indeterminate life have been
acquired through acquisitions and are expected to be able to generate income flows for an indeterminate period.S
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Goodwill cam be specified on companies as follows:
CARRYING AMOUNT

31 DESEMBER

SEGMENT 2005 2004

20 Min Holding AG Newspapers 107 326 
Aftonbladet Hierta AB Newspapers 175 187 
Blocket AB Newspapers 151 158 
TA Teleadress Holding AB Newspapers 105 -   
AS Eesti Media Baltics 93 96 
Schibsted Forlagene AS Publishing 119 119 
Basefarm AS Other operations 74 -   
Internettkatalogen AS Other operations 48 -   
Other Newspapers 178 108 
Other TV/Film 80 81 
Other Baltics 35 16 
Other Other operations -   13 
Total 1 165 1 104

Goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised but tested annually for impairment. Other
intangible assets and operating assets are tested for impairment if there are indications that an asset is impaired. Such indi-
cations will typically be changes in market developments, the competitive situation or technological developments.
Impairment loss is calculated as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the recoverable amount. The recove-
rable amount is the higher of the asset’s net sales value and its value in use. When the recoverable amount is based on value
in use, the value in use is calculated on the basis of the net present value of expected cash flows from the asset. In calcula-
ting the value in use, management’s expectations based on experience and market knowledge are used for the first five
years’ cash flows. For subsequent periods growth factors are used that do not exceed the long-term average rate of growth
for the relevant market. Expected cash flows are discounted using a discount rate that takes into account the expected long-
term interest rate with the addition of a risk margin appropriate for the assets being tested

In 2005 the consolidated income statement was charged with NOK 8 million relating to impairment loss on  intangible assets
in the jointly controlled company Sandrew Metronome as a result of changes in the distribution and market situation.

Lease agreements
Property, plant and equipment includes assets held under finance lease agreements. These have a cost price of NOK 16 milli-
on and a carrying amount of NOK 16 million. Depreciation for the year amounts to NOK 3 million. 

Schibsted has obligations relating to operating leases, mainly office buildings and cinemas. Future total minimum payments
under non-cancellable operational leases are as follows: 

2005

2006 155
2007 – 2010 471
After 2010 113

Note 14 Investments in associated companies

The development in the carrying amount of investments in associated companies is as follows:

2005 2004

Carrying amount 1 January 1 202 703
Implementation of IAS 32/39 (4) -
Additions/disposals 378 476
Income from associated companies 198 130
Dividends received (157) (60)
Change on additions/disposals of subsidiaries - (46)
Other changes (33) (1)
Carrying amount 31 December 1 584 1 202

The share of income and carrying amount breaks down as follows:

LOCATION OWNERSHIP % INCOME CARRYING AMOUNT

31.12.05 2005 2004 2005 2004

Adresseavisen ASA Trondheim 36 25 18 136 100
Bergens Tidende AS Bergen 24 22 11 121 107
Fædrelandsvennen AS Kristiansand 25 14 2 48 42
Stavanger Aftenblad ASA Stavanger 32 30 15 99 93
TV 2 AS Bergen 33 47 44 248 290
TV 4 AB Stockholm 27 48 - 726 538
Aspiro AB Stockholm 44 5 - 157 -
Others 7 40 49 32
Total 198 130 1 584 1 202
Of which reported as other revenues and expenses - 46
Income from associated companies 198 84

Market prices are available for shares in Adresseavisen ASA, Stavanger Aftenblad ASA, TV4 AB and Aspiro AB. In the case of
some of the companies liquidity is limited and there is a significant difference between the bid and offer prices. Based on the
last traded prices the fair value of the shares in Adresseavisen ASA is NOK 326 million, Stavanger Aftenblad ASA NOK 225 mil-
lion, TV4 AB NOK 948 million and Aspiro AB NOK 312 million.
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The group’s share of assets, liabilities, operating revenues and net income in associated companies is as follows:

2005 2004

Assets 2 534 1 847
Liabilities (950) (645)
Carrying amount 1 584 1 202

Operating revenues 2 280 1 495
Net income 194 84

Note 15 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

The group has the following composition and maturity structure on its interest-bearing debt:

SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM

31.12.2005 31.12.2004 31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Overdraft 105 -
Bond issues 300 - 600 900
Bank loans 73 194 379 601
Financial lease agreements 7 50 9 -
Other loans 8 43 90 43
Total 493 287 1 078 1 544
Maturity between 1 and 2 years 679 376
Maturity between 2 and 5 years 223 963
Maturity after more than 5 years 176 205
Total 1 078 1 544

Approximately 40 % of the group’s interest-bearing debt is at fixed interest rates, mainly through a bond issue of NOK 600 million
which falls due for payment in the autumn of 2007. For information on interest rate risk, see note 26, Financial market risk.

For the fair value of interest-bearing debt, see note 26, Financial market risk.

Carrying amount of interest-bearing debt breaks down as follows by currency:
31.12.2005 31.12.2004

NOK 1 038 910
SEK 32 353
EUR 408 450
USD 93 118
Total 1 571 1 831

In October 2003 Schibsted Finans AS made two bond issues in the Norwegian bond market for a total of NOK 900 million.
The bonds are divided between NOK 600 million in a four-year issue at a fixed interest rate (4.98 %) and NOK 300 million in a
three-year issue with a floating interest rate. The terms of the floating rate loan are three month NIBOR plus a margin of 
50 basis points. Both issues are listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange under tickers SCHF01 and SCHF02, respectively.

The group has two bank loans in EUR totalling EUR 45 million. One loan is for EUR 20 million and has a term of 10 years from
1999. The other loan is for EUR 25 million and has a term of 12 years from 2004. The interest terms on both loans are six
month Euribor with the addition of a margin.  

The group has a bank loan of USD 14 million. The loan has a term of 12 years from 1996 and interest and instalments are
hedged against Norwegian kroner through a currency and interest rate swap. After taking account of the hedging, the interest
terms are six month NIBOR with the addition of a margin. 

In the autumn of 2005 Schibsted Finans arranged a new syndicated multi-currency loan facility for a total of EUR 250 million,
syndicated to eight Norwegian and international banks. The facility is a 5-year drawing facility with an option to extend for a
further two years. The new facility replaces an earlier loan facility for a corresponding amount. No drawings had been made
on the facility at the end of 2005. The facility has interest terms based on Euribor plus a margin. Schibsted must pay a 
commitment fee to maintain the facility’s availability. The commitment fee is calculated on that part of the facility that is
undrawn as a percentage of the loan margin.

Other loans consist of loans from minority owners in subsidiaries. 

Schibsted’s loan agreements contain covenants regarding the ratio of net interest-bearing debt (NIBD) to the operating profit
before depreciation (EBITDA). The ratio should be a maximum of 3.0, but a ratio of NIBD/EBITDA < 4.0 is accepted for up to
4 quarters during the term of the loan facility. In addition the loan agreements contain negative pledge 
clauses that limit the group’s ability to provide or establish mortgages or other security in excess of what follows from normal
operations. The group was within the above-mentioned requirements by a good margin as at 31.12.2005.

Schibsted has long-term unutilised credit facilities totalling approximately NOK 2 billion through the unutilised syndicated
multi-currency loan facility of EUR 250 million referred to above. In addition, Schibsted has short-term credit facilities of 
NOK 295 million in the form of unutilised overdraft limits under the group’s cash pool system with Danske Bank, see note 17,
Cash and bank deposits.
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Note 16 Short-term and long-term investments

The development in carrying amount of investments categorised as available for sale is as follows:
2005 2004

As at 1 January 223 125 
Additions 36 98 
Disposals (97) (9)
Additions / disposals on purchase / sale of subsidiaries (2) 2 
Reclassified to associated companies or subsidiaries (16) -
Changes in fair value
-  Implementation of IAS 32 and 39 63 -
-  Change recognised in equity 28 -
-  Change recognised in profit or loss (1) 5 
-  Unrealised gain from equity on disposals (37) -
-  Unrealised gain from equity on reclassification (2) -

Translation differences (2) 2 

As at 31 December 193 223 
Of which short-term 56 58 
Of which long-term 137 165 

The group has the following short-term and long-term investments:
2005 2004

Shares
-  Listed Scandinavia - 97 
-  Listed Canada 20 6 
-  Unlisted 117 62 
Short-term interest-bearing investments 56 58 

Total short-term and long-term investments 193 223 

The effective interest rate on short-term interest-bearing investments is approximately 2.6 %

Note 17 Cash and bank deposits

Cash and bank deposits include the following: 
2005 2004

Cash and bank 601 497
Interest-bearing securities 75 35
Total 676 532

Schibsted has a cash pool system with Danske Bank in which all the Norwegian subsidiaries, together with most of the 
group’s subsidiaries in Sweden and Denmark, are included. The cash pool system has been established to contribute to an
optimal cash management for Schibsted. 

As a result of minority shareholders, the companies Aftonbladet, Sandrew Metronome and Harstad Tidende gruppen are not
included in the group’s cash pool system. 

The group has a drawing limit under the cash pool system of NOK 400 million. At the end of 2005 NOK 105 million was drawn
on this limit. Drawings are classified as short-term interest-bearing debt, see Note 15, Interest-bearing debt.

Surplus liquidity is mainly held in the cashpool or in short-term interest-bearing instruments and money market funds. 

The deposit and borrowing interest rates in Danske Bank are based on Danske BID and Danske BOR. Danske BID and 
Danske BOR are set daily by the bank on the basis of market interest rates in the individual countries. Under the cash pool
system marginal netting takes place across borders. 

Other bank deposits are credited with interest based on the bank’s daily deposit rates in the individual countries. 

The effective interest rate on interest-bearing securities was 2.3 %.

Note 18 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables and other receivables consist of:
2005 2004

Trade receivables 1 056 1 019
Less expected losses (30) (32)
Trade receivables  (net) 1 026 987
Prepaid expenses and accrued revenues 258 254
Financial derivatives (see Note 26, Financial market risk) 5 -
Other prepayments and receivables 153 175
Total 1 442 1 416
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Note 19 Inventories

Inventories consist of:
2005 2004

Books 52 49
Newsprint purchased 28 31
DVDs and video cassettes 14 26
Total 94 106

Note 20 Other non-current assets

2005 2004

Loans to joint ventures and associated companies 20 26
Prepaid expenses 80 92
Total 100 118

There are no significant differences between the fair value and the carrying amount of long-term receivables as a result of all
receivables carrying a market interest rate.

Note 21 Earnings per share

The development in share capital and other paid-in capital is set out in the Statement of changes in equity. The development
in the number of issued and outstanding shares is as follows:

NUMBER OF SHARES

OUTSTANDING TREASURY SHARES ISSUED

As at 1 January 2004 67 759 482 1 490 518 69 250 000 
Sale of treasury shares 170 048 (170 048) 0 
As at 31 December 2004 67 929 530 1 320 470 69 250 000 
Purchase of treasury shares (798 350) 798 350 0 
Sale of treasury shares 37 269 (37 269) 0 
As at 31 December 2005 67 168 449 2 081 551 69 250 000  

The company’s share capital consists of 69 250 000 shares of NOK 1 par value.

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting has given the Board authority to acquire own shares up to 6 925 000 shares (10 %). 
The authority was renewed at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 2 May 2005 for a period until the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting in 2006. At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 11 May 2006 the Board will present a resolution to extend this 
authorisation until the Annual General Meeting in 2007.

Schibsted sold 170 048 of its treasury shares in 2004. 120 000 shares were sold to managers in the group at a price of 
NOK 100 in connection with the exercise of options. Reference is made to note 9, Share-based payment for a description of
the option programme. In 2004 50 048 shares were sold to Schibsted Employees’ Share Purchase Scheme at a price of NOK
121 in connection with an offer to employees to purchase shares at a discounted price.

Schibsted purchased 798 350 shares in 2005 for an aggregate consideration of NOK 141 million. In 2005 37 269 shares
were sold to Schibsted Employees’ Share Purchase Scheme at a price of NOK 180 in connection with an offer to employees
to purchase shares at a discounted price.

As at 31.12.2005 Schibsted held 2 081 551 treasury shares. The background to the purchases is that the Board has considered
the repurchase of shares as advantageous compared with alternative investments and in order to optimise the capital struc-
ture of the group. Parts of the shares are acquired in order to be used in connection with the employee share programmes.

During the first quarter of 2006 the company repurchased 1 205 950 treasury shares so that the holding as at 28 March
2006 was 3 287 501 shares.

Earnings per share are calculated on net income attributable to majority interests divided by the average number of shares
outstanding:  

2005 2004

Net income attributable to majority interests 874 241 
Average number of shares outstanding 67 727 417 67 841 038 
Earnings per share (NOK) 12.91 3.55 

Diluted earnings per share are calculated on the net income attributable to majority interests divided by the average number
of shares outstanding, adjusted for the dilutive effect of all potential shares. 

The dilutive effect is arrived at as the difference between the number of shares which can be acquired on exercise of outstanding
options and the total number of shares which could be acquired at fair value (calculated as the average price of the Schibsted
share in the period) for the consideration which is to be paid for the shares which can be acquired based on outstanding options.

2005 2004

Net income attributable to majority interests 874 241 
Average number of shares outstanding 67 727 417 67 841 038 
Adjustment for dilutive effect options outstanding 130 638 72 485 
Average number of shares outstanding (diluted) 67 858 055 67 913 523 
Diluted earnings per share (NOK) 12.89 3.55 

Earnings per share - adjusted and Diluted earnings per share - adjusted are calculated on the net income attributable to majo-
rity interests corrected for items reported in the income statement on the lines Other revenues and expenses (after tax) and
Impairment loss goodwill. The number of shares that is included in the calculation is the same as the number for Earnings per
share and Diluted earnings per share, as described above.
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2005 2004

Net income attributable to majority interests 874 241 
Other revenues and expenses (184) 348 
Tax effect of other revenues and expenses (30) (112)
Impairment loss goodwill - 78 
Net income attributable to majority interest - adjusted 660 555 
Average number of shares outstanding 67 727 417 67 841 038 
Earnings per share – adjusted (NOK) 9.76 8.18 
Average number of shares outstanding (diluted) 67 858 055 67 913 523 
Diluted earnings per share – adjusted (NOK) 9.74 8.18 

Note 22 Dividends

Dividends were paid in 2005 and 2004 in amounts of NOK 220 million (NOK 3.25 per share) and NOK 203 million 
(NOK 3.00 per share).

At the company’s Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 11 May 2006 a dividend of NOK 4.25 per share will be proposed (total
NOK 285 million). No provision for this dividend has been recognised in the group’s balance sheet as at 31 December 2005.

Note 23 Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities include:
2005 2004

Trade payables 494 502
Prepayments from customers 391 366
Public duties payable 276 291
Accrued salaries 346 335
Accrued expenses 308 274
Financial derivatives (see note 26, Financial market risk) 45 6
Restructuring costs 31 23
Other 204 231
Total other current liabilities 2 095 2 028

The group has no significant liabilities with an uncertain payment date and uncertain amount. The restructuring costs relate to
accepted redundancy packages.

Note 24 Pension plans

Schibsted has collective pension plans with Vital for its employees in Norwegian companies. These plans are mainly established
as defined benefit plans, but certain companies have established defined contribution plans. The policies relating to defined
benefit plans in the respective companies are virtually uniform. The main terms are a 30-year period of employment to obtain
full pension, approximately 66 % retirement pension level from 67 years, and spouse and child pensions. As at 31.12.2005 the
collective pension schemes covered approximately 2 300 working members and approximately 900 pensioners.

In addition to the pension obligations that are covered through collective service pension schemes, the group’s Norwegian
companies have unfunded pension liabilities. The pensions relate to persons not included in the collective pension plans, 
supplemental pensions for salaries above 12G, Agreement-based pension (AFP), early retirement pensions as well as disability
pensions for the companies which do not have insured disability pensions.

The group’s companies outside Norway have pension plans in accordance with local practice and local legislation. The greater
part of the group’s pension schemes in Sweden are established in multi-employer plans. These multi-employer plans are 
defined benefit plans, but the group does not have access to the necessary information for the accounting years 2004 and
2005 in order to recognise these plans as benefit plans in the financial statements, and in accordance with IAS 19.30 the
plans have been accounted for as defined contribution plans. Approximately 60% of the costs reported under Pension 
expenses – defined contribution plans relate to such multi-employer plans.

The development in the net pension liability is as follows:

2005 2004

As at 1 January 761 703
Net pension expense – defined benefit plans 163 160
Contributions / benefits paid (172) (103)
Purchase and sale of subsidiaries 4 1
As at 31 December 756 761
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The group’s net pension expense is made up as follows:

2005 2004

Current service cost 98 86
Interest cost on the pension obligation 117 115
Expected return on plan assets (95) (99)
Net actuarial gain / loss recognised - -
Past service cost and other special events 23 39
Social security tax 20 19
Net pension expense - defined benefit plans 163 160
Pension expense - defined contribution plans 68 71
Net pension expense 231 231
Of which included in Personnel expenses 211 186
Of which included in Other revenues and expenses 20 45

The group’s net pension liability as at 31.12 was made up as follows:

2005 2004

Present value of funded obligations 2 288 2 118
Plan assets (1 767) (1 608)
Present value of funded obligations, net 521 510
Present value of unfunded obligations 224 232
Unrecognised net actuarial losses (94) (86)
Social security tax 105 105 
Net pension liability 756 761

The following principal assumptions have been used in calculating net pension expenses and the net pension obligations for
the group’s defined benefit plans: 

PENSION EXPENSE PENSION OBLIGATION

2005 2004 31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Discount rate 5.0 % 5.5 % 4.5 % 5.0 %
Expected return on plan assets 6.0 % 6.5 %
Expected salary increases 3.5 % 3.5 % 3.5 % 3.5 %
Expected social security base adjustment 3.0 % 3.0 % 3.0 % 3.0 %
Expected pension increases 2.5 % 2.5 % 2.5 % 2.5 %

The group’s plan assets have the following composition as at 31.12:
2005 2004

Shares 23 % 17 %
Short-term bonds 18 % 18 %
Money market investments 17 % 17 %
Real estate 12 % 12 %
Long-term bonds 27 % 33 %
Other 3 % 3 %
Total 100 % 100 %

The actual return on plan assets (value-adjusted return in Vital) was approximately 8 % in 2005 and approximately 7 % in 2004.

In 2005 a judgement was given in the legal proceedings brought by the Union of Graphic Workers at Verdens Gang AS against
Verdens Gang AS regarding the company’s pension plan. The dispute is about which elements of wages are to be included in
the pension base. An appeal has been filed against the judgement, and the appeal case is set for the fourth quarter of 2006.

Oslo City Court concluded in its judgement of 31 August 2005 that additional payments for 70 graphic workers should have
been included from 1 May 2001, and that the pension premium should be determined using a linear principle based on the
aggregate vesting period in the scheme. Verdens Gang AS considers that the pension bases that have been notified to the
insurance company are in accordance with the earlier legislation, practice and local tariff agreement. 

In calculating pension liabilities in 2005 Verdens Gang AS has included shift supplements and certain other supplements to
the fixed wage in the pension bases of all employees. The supplements are included with effect from 1 January 2003, which
was the date when Verdens Gang AS harmonised its pension scheme under the Company Pensions Act. The change in the
pension base has resulted in a pension expense in 2005 of NOK 17 million of which NOK 11 million related to past service
cost is reported under Other revenues and expenses. 

If Verdens Gang AS is not fully successful with its appeal, the company will incur a further expense depending on the Appeal
Court’s conclusion and premises. Should the appeal respondents have their claim fully upheld, this will represent an increase
in the present value of pension obligations including social security tax of some NOK 45 million, assuming that any changes
are also applied to other groups of employees. 

Note 25 Interests in Joint Ventures

The Groups ownership in joint ventures is as follows:

OWNERSHIP AS AT 31 DECEMBER

COMPANY 2005 2004 LOCATION SEGMENT BUSINESS

Sandrew Metronome AB 50 % 50 % Stockholm TV / Film Distribution and rights
20 Minutes France S.A.S 50 % 50 % Paris Newspapers Free newspapers
AS Arjakirjade Kirjastus 50 % 50 % Tallinn Baltics Magazines
AS SL Õhtuleht 50 % 50 % Tallinn Baltics Newspapers
Fellesdistribusjonen Østfold AS 50 % 50 % Fredrikstad Newspapers Distribution
Finn Tech AS 50 % 50 % Oslo Newspapers Technology development
Pressens Bild -Scanpix AB 50 % - Stockholm Newspapers Picture agency
Dagens Medisin AS 50 % 50 % Oslo Publishing News magazine for the health sector
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The following amounts are included in the group’s income statement and balance sheet from joint ventures 
subject to using proportionate consolidation:

2005 2004

Operating revenues 680 804
Operating expenses (704) (829)
Operating profit before impairment of 
goodwill and other revenues and expenses (24) (25)
Profit (loss) before taxes (42) (35)

Non-current assets 172 214
Current assets 285 273
Total assets 457 487
Non-current liabilities 92 72
Current liabilities 235 238
Total liabilities 327 310
Net assets 130 177

Note 26 Financial market risk

The carrying amount and fair value of the group’s financial instruments is as follows:

CARRYING AMOUNT FAIR VALUE

2005 2004 2005 2004

Cash and bank deposits (Note 17) 676 532 676 532 
Short-term and long-term investments (Note 16) 193 223 193 286 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 15) (1 571) (1 831) (1 581) (1 855)
Financial derivatives (Note 18) 5 - 5 -
Financial derivatives (Note 23) (45) (6) (45) (13)

The fair value of the group’s financial derivatives is as follows:

ASSET 2005 LIABILITY 2005

Forward contracts – hedging net investments in foreign operations - 45
Forward contracts – for trading purposes 1 -
Interest and currency swap – for trading purposes 4 -
Other interest rate agreements – for trading purposes - -
Total 5 45

Foreign exchange risk
Norwegian kroner is Schibsteds base currency, but the Group is also exposed to changes in other countries’ exchange rates,
mainly the Euro and Swedish and Estonian crowns, through its businesses outside Norway. Schibsted has foreign exchange
exposure relating to both balance sheet monetary items and the translation of net assets in foreign operations. Schibsted
uses loans in foreign currencies and forward contracts to reduce the foreign exchange exposure. As at 31.12.2005 the group
had entered into several forward contracts involving the purchase and sale of currencies for this purpose.

As at 31.12.2005 Schibsted had the following forward contracts which mature in 2006:

(MILLION) CURRENCY AMOUNT

Forward contracts, sale SEK 1 400
Forward contracts, sale DKK 35
Forward contracts, sale CHF 2
Forward contracts, purchase SEK 180
Forward contracts, purchase EUR 10
Forward contracts, purchase CHF 4

Currency gains and losses relating to forward contracts which hedge net investments in foreign operations are recognised in
equity until the foreign operation is disposed of. Other currency gains and losses are recognised in the income statement
under Other financial income or expenses. As at 31.12.2005 forward contracts for the sale of SEK 1.4 billion related to hed-
ging net investments in foreign operations. The fair value of contracts identified as hedging was NOK 45 million

Schibsted has an interest and currency swap which hedges interest and instalments on a USD loan against NOK, see Note 15,
Interest-bearing debt. The fair value of the derivative as at 31.12.2005 was NOK 4 million.

Cash flow in foreign currencies relating to investments or significant individual transactions is hedged by using financial
instruments. At the year-end the group had no such financial instruments. The group’s foreign exchange exposure relating to
operations is low, since most of its sales take place in the individual business’ own home country. 

Interest rate risk
Schibsted has both floating and fixed interest rates on its long-term debt, see note 15, Interest-bearing debt. 

As at 31.12.2005 approximately 40 per cent of the group’s debt was at fixed interest rates. These were mainly fixed interest
rates related to the four-year bond issue of NOK 600 million that matures in the autumn of 2007. The interest rate is 4.98 per
cent. This means that approximately 60 per cent of the group’s debt is affected by changes in interest rates. For each 1 per
cent change in floating interest rates, Schibsted’s interest costs change by approximately NOK 10 million. 

The group has substantial pension obligations. The pension obligations provide a natural hedge for floating rate debt since the
present value of the obligations increases on a fall in interest rates. This reduces the need to hedge the interest rate on the
group’s interest-bearing debt. 

In April 1997 Schibsted Finans entered into a 10-year interest rate cap on NOK 100 million, which guarantees a maximum
interest rate of 7 per cent. The fair value of the agreement is zero.
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In the autumn of 2005 Schibsted Finans entered into two interest rate derivative contracts relating to parts of the group’s
debt. The instruments give an interest calculation based on average 6 month NIBOR (the average of daily observations). The
instruments give lower variability in the average interest rate than the interest rate that Schibsted will pay on ordinary NIBOR
with an observation once each coupon period. The fair value of the instruments was zero at the year-end. 

Raw materials risk 
Schibsted is a consumer of newsprint and is therefore exposed to price changes. A change in the price of 1 per cent has an
impact on raw materials costs for the group of approximately NOK 9 million per year. Newsprint prices are negotiated annual-
ly with suppliers and have already been fixed for 2006. 

Share price risk
At the end of 2005 Schibsted had limited exposure to the stock market and thus a limited risk from a fall in stock markets.

Credit risk
The group has recorded a low level of losses relating to revenues, see note 18, Trade receivables.

There is a low credit risk relating to the group’s circulation revenues since many of the group’s products are sold on the basis
of prepayment (newspaper subscriptions) or cash payment (casual sale newspapers). For large parts of the group’s advertising
revenue, deposit schemes and credit insurance have been established. 

Liquidity risk
Schibsted’s long-term financing which today includes syndicated loans, bond issues and bank loans, should ensure that the
group has sufficient financial flexibility.  

At the end of 2005 Schibsted had, as a result of its strong cash flow, a substantial liquidity reserve (NOK 2.7 billion) and low
net interest-bearing debt (NOK 839 million). The liquidity reserve corresponds to 28 per cent of the group’s turnover. The
group has a target that the aggregate liquidity reserve should be at least 10 per cent of the next 12 months’ expected turnover. 

In the autumn of 2005 Schibsted extended its drawing facility of EUR 250 million, see note 15, Interest-bearing debt. The refi-
nancing risk is considered to be very low. 

Note 27 Subsidiaries

The following subsidiaries were directly and indirectly owned as at 31.12.:

BUSINESS SEGMENT NEWSPAPERS LOCATION 2005 2004

20 Min Holding AS Oslo 100.00 % -
20 Min GP Ltd St. Helier 100.00 % 100.00 %
20 Min Holding AG Zürich 100.00 % 100.00 %
20 Min International B.V. Rotterdam 100.00 % 100.00 %
20 Minuten (Schweiz) AG Zürich - 50.50 %
20 Minutos España S.A. Madrid 80.00 % 100.00 %
Indice Multiprensa S.L. Madrid - 100.00 %
Multiprensa Holding S.L. Madrid - 100.00 %
Multiprensa Y M@s S.L. Madrid 80.00% 100.00 %

Aftenposten AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Aftenposten Annonseguiden AS Oslo - 100.00 %
Aftenposten Distribusjon AS Oslo 100.00 % -
Aftenposten Forbruker AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Aftenposten Multimedia AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Aftenposten Nye Produkter AS Oslo 100.00 % -
Distribution Innovation AS Oslo 60.00 % 60.00 %
FINN Bil.no AS Oslo 62.00 % 62.00 %
FINN Eiendom.no AS Oslo 51.29 % 51.29 %
FINN Jobb.no AS Oslo 62.00 % 62.00 %
FINN Vekst AS Oslo 62.00 % 62.00 %
FINN.no AS Oslo 62.00 % 62.00 %
Gardermoen Avisdistribusjon AS Oslo - 100.00 %
Mediearkivet AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %
Mediearkivet.no AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Planet Golf ASA Oslo - 100.00 %
Retriever Holding AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %
Retriever Norge AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Retriever Sverige AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %

Aftonbladet Hierta AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %
Aftonbladet Allt Om AB Stockholm 100.00 % -
Aftonbladet Kolportage AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %
Aftonbladet Nya Medier AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %
ASF Sverige AB Stockholm 94.21 % 94.21 %
Blocket AB Stockholm 68.58 % 68.58 %
Byt Bil Nordic AB Stockholm 80.30 % 80.30 %
Fastighetsdatabasen AB Stockholm 96.70 % -
Hierta Affärsutveckling AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %
Hierta Förlag AB Stockholm - 100.00 %
Hittapunktse AB Stockholm 96.70 % -
Svenska Skivklubben AB Skara 51.00 % 51.00 %
TA Teleadress Holding AB Stockholm 96.70 % -
Tabloiden Förvaltnings AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %
Teleadress Informasjon AB Stockholm 96.70 % -

Harstad Tidende Gruppen AS Harstad 50.63 % 50.32 %
Bladet Tromsø AS Tromsø 48.15 % 47.85 %
Brønnøysund Avis AS Brønnøysund 25.33 % 25.18 %
Framtid i Nord AS Nordreisa 50.57 % 47.30 %
Harstad Tidende AS Harstad 50.63 % 50.32 %
HTG Distribusjon AS Harstad 50.63 % -
HTG Multimedia AS Harstad 50.63 % 50.32 %
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HTG Trykk AS Harstad 50.63 % 50.32 %
Nordlandsposten AS Harstad 50.63 % 50.32 %
Ofoten Tidende AS Narvik - 50.32 %
Radio 10 BA Harstad 50.63 % 50.32 %
Troms Avistrykk AS Tromsø - 50.32 %
Troms Folkeblad AS Finnsnes 50.63 % 50.32 %
TV 10 Harstad AS Harstad 50.63 % 50.32 %

Scanpix Scandinavia AB Stockholm 88.23 % 74.99 %
OÜ Scanpix Baltics Tartu 90.32 % 83.57 %
Scanpix  Norge AS Oslo 44.20 % 37.57 %
Scanpix  Sverige AB Stockholm - 74.99 %

Svenska Dagbladet Holding AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 %
HB Svenska Dagbladets AB & Co Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 %
Headhunter AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 %
N24.se AB (former Annonsmaterial AB) Stockholm 99.65 % 99.41 %
Svensk Radiobokning AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 %
Svenska Dagbladet Annons AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 %
Svenska Dagbladet Distribution AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 %
Svenska Dagbladet Executive Club AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 %
Svenska Dagbladet Venture AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 %
Svenska Dagbladets AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 %
Svenskan Svenska Dagbladet AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 %
Tasteline Sweden AB Stockholm 93.84 % -

Teskjed AB Varberg 100.00 % -
Mera AB Varberg 100.00 % -

Tidningstryckarna Holding Sweden AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %
Tidningstryckarna Aftonbladet
Svenska Dagbladet AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %
Fastighets AB Tidningsfabriken Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %

Verdens Gang AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Avisretur AS Oslo 50.10 % 50.10 %
Radio VG AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
VG Multimedia AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
VG Pluss AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %

European Media Ventures AB Stockholm - 100.00 %
European Media Ventures AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Ganymed GmbH Cologne 100.00 % -
Gratisavisen avis1 AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Osloavisen AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted AG Berlin 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted Print Media AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted Trykk AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
SFI Holding AS Oslo 88.60% -

BUSINESS SEGMENT BALTICS LOCATION 2005 2004

AS Eesti Meedia Tartu 92.50 % 92.50 %
AS Kroonpress Tartu 92.20 % 92.20 %
AS Litero Valga 82.05 % 82.05 %
AS Postimees Tallinn 92.50 % 92.50 %
AS Pärnu Postimees Pärnu 92.50 % 92.50 %
AS Viru Press Rakvere 49.14 % 49.14 %
OÜ Meediasüsteemid Tartu 92.50 % 92.50 %
Soov Kirjastus OU Tallinn 61.67 % -
AS Schibsted Baltics Tallinn 100.00 % 100.00 %
Extra Zinios Vilnius 50.98 % -
UAB Ź̀urnaç Leidybos Grupe. (ZLG) Vilnius 66.67 % 66.67 %
AS Kanal 2 Tallinn 100.00 % 100.00 %

BUSINESS SEGMENT TV / FILM LOCATION 2005 2004

Metronome Film & Television AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 %
Blarke Sonne Levring A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 %
Brand Selskabet A/S Copenhagen - 65.00 %
Bullet Productions A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 %
C. Wikander Produktion AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 %
Cosmo Televisjon AS Oslo 33.15 % 33.15 %
Decimeter Film & TV AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 %
Drivankaret AB Stockholm 32.50 % 32.50 %
Dropout Productions AS Oslo 65.00 % -
Endemol Entertainment Produktion AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 %
European Film Group A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 %
Filmlance International AB Stockholm 39.00 % 39.00 %
Helikopter A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 %
Helikopter Digital Media AB Gothenburg 65.00 % 65.00 %
Mekano Enterprise AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 %
Mekano Film & Television AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 %
Meteor Films OÛ Tallinn 65.00 % 65.00 %
Meter Fakta AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 %
Meter Film & Television AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 %
Metronome Aps Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 %
Metronome Film & Television Oy Helsinki 65.00 % 63.05 %
Metronome Productions A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 61.75 %
Metronome Spartacus AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 %
Metronome Spartacus AS Oslo 54.16 % 53.95 %
Moland Film Company A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 %
Moland Film Company AS Oslo 65.00 % 65.00 %
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Mutter Media AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 %
Nordic Entertainment A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 %
Nordic Entertainment AS Oslo 65.00 % 65.00 %
Otto Tuotanto Oy Helsinki 65.00 % 65.00 %
Peter Emanuel Falck Produktion AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 %
Post Selskabet A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 %
Rettighetsselskapet Intrige AS (former Intrige Televisjon AS) Oslo 36.14 % 36.40 %
Rubicon TV AS Oslo 65.00 % 65.00 %
Spartacus TV production KB (former TV Spartacus KB) Stockholm 43.33 % 43.55 %
Studios A/S (former Metronome Studios A/S) Copenhagen 65.00 % 63.31 %
Studios AS Oslo 65.00 % 65.00 %
Studios Mekaniken AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 %
TV Spartacus AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 %
Tvålkoppen AB Stockholm 43.33 % 43.55 %

Metronome AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted TV/Film og Forlag AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %

BUSINESS SEGMENT PUBLISHING LOCATION 2005 2004

Schibsted Forlagene AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Boknöje AB Helsingborg 100.00 % 100.00 %
Bullhead AB Stockholm - 100.00 %
Maison Sverige AB Stockholm - 100.00 %
Schibsted Förlagen AB (former Full Stop Media AB) Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %

Svenska Förlaget Holding AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %
Svenska Förlaget AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %

Cesam Bok ANS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %

BUSINESS SEGMENT OTHER OPERATIONS LOCATION 2005 2004

Schibsted Eiendom AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Akersgaten 55 AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
AS Akersgaten 34 Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Jenagade 22 A/S Copenhagen 100.00 % 100.00 %
Sandakerveien 121 AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Stålfjæra 5 ANS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %

Basefarm AS Oslo 73.58% -
Basefarm AB Stockholm 73.58% -

Schibsted Multimedia AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Be Ep AB Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Beep Telekommunikasjon AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Bokkilden AS Oslo - 100.00 %
Compraventa S.L. Madrid 80.00 % -
Inpoc AB Stockholm - 99.96 %
Inpoc ApS Herlev - 100.00 %
Inpoc AS Oslo - 100.00 %
Inpoc Baltics AS Tallinn - 100.00 %
Inpoc Latvia SIA Riga - 100.00 %
Inpoc UAB Vilnius - 100.00 %
Internettkatalogen.no AS Oslo 100.00 % -
Memento SOL AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted Interactive Studio AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted Mobile AB Stockholm - 99.96 %
Schibsted Mobile AS Oslo - 100.00 %
Schibsted Søk AS Oslo 100.00 % -
SI Företagstjänster AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %
SI Företagstjänster Holding AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 %
SMS A/S Copenhagen - 100.00 %
SMS Selskabet af 2001 ApS Copenhagen - 100.00 %

Schibsted Finans AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 %

* Aftonbladet Hierta AB is owned by Schibsted and the Swedish LO (Swedish Labour Union). LO owns 50.1 % of the voting
shares through preference shares with a fixed annual return (SEK 3.6 million). Schibsted owns 49.9 % of the voting shares
and has the industrial and financial ownership responsibility for Aftonbladet’s development. 

Note 28 Supplemental information to the cash flow statement

Interest and dividends included in the cash flow statement are as follows:
2005 2004

In cash flow from operating activities:
Interest paid (67) (77)
Interest received 17 21
Dividends received 166 65
In cash flow from financing activities:
Dividends paid  (to majority) (220) (203)
Dividends paid (to minority interests) (27) (11)

Schibsted’s cash flow statement shows net payments and receipts on the acquisition and sale of subsidiaries and interests in
joint ventures.S
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The liquidity effect of acquisitions is arrived at as follows:
2005 2004

Cash in acquired companies 34 109
Acquisition cost other current assets 54 132
Acquisition cost non-current assets 463 562
Aggregate acquisition cost assets 551 803
Minority interests and liabilities assumed (150) (192)
Deferred payment previous years’ acquisitions 75 -
Gross purchase price 476 611
Cash in acquired companies (34) (109)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 442 502

The liquidity effect of sales is arrived at as follows:
2005 2004

Cash in sold companies 60 -
Carrying amount other current assets 121 -
Carrying amount non-current assets 133 -
Aggregate carrying amount assets 314 -
Minority interests and liabilities transferred 16 -
Gain 384 -
Gross sales price 714 -
Cash in sold companies (60) -
Sale of subsidiaries, net of cash sold 654 -

Note 29 Related parties

For remuneration to management, see note 8, Personnel expenses and average number of employees.

For loans to associated companies and joint ventures, see note 20, Other non-current assets.

Verdens Gang AS has printing contracts with Norwegian regional newspapers that are associated companies to the group.
Total expenditure under these agreements was NOK 121 million in 2005.

Note 30 Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

Schibsted ASA has implemented International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in the consolidated financial statement
for the financial year 2005. The implementation is prepared in accordance with IFRS 1 First Time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards.

Schibsted ASA has prepared an opening balance in accordance with IFRS as at the transition date 1 January 2004. The 
income statement for 2004 and balance sheet as at 31 December 2004 have been restated in accordance with IFRS for 
comparative purposes in 2005.

The financial statements for 2005 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. IAS 32 and 39 regarding Financial
Instruments have been adopted with effect from 1 January 2005 without retrospective application. Previously applied 
accounting policies (NGAAP figures) are thus used as comparative figures for 2004.

The most significant differences in accounting principles between IFRS and NGAAP affecting the consolidated financial 
statements of Schibsted are as follows: 

Dividends
Dividends, as proposed by the Board of Directors, were in accordance with NGAAP recognised as a liability as at 31
December. In accordance with IFRS, dividends are not recognised as a liability until approved by the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting in the following year.

Share-based payment
In accordance with IFRS, fair value, at grant date, of options granted after 7 November 2002 and not fully vested at 31 December
2003, is charged to expense over the vesting period. Under NGAAP, the intrinsic value only would be charged to expense.

Pension liabilities
Under IFRS pension liabilities are recorded as the estimated actual liability as at 1 January 2004. The difference from the 
net pension liability under NGAAP as at 31 December 2003 has been charged to equity. The actuarial assumptions applied in
calculating pension obligations under IFRS as at 1 January 2004 deviate from the assumptions applied under NGAAP as at 
31 December 2003. Among other , the discount rate is reduced mainly as an effect of the NGAAP discount rate being 
determined by reference to long-term yields on corporate bonds while the IFRS discount rate is determined by reference to
long-term yields on government bonds. Net pension expenses under IFRS for 2004 are higher due to the increase in liabilities
and reduction in expected return.

Associated companies
Reporting in accordance with IFRS requires that financial statements of associated companies are restated in accordance
with IFRS. In addition, the cost of acquisition in excess of the share of equity in the associated company is treated in 
accordance with IFRS, including that any excess purchase price allocated to goodwill is not amortised.
The amount charged to equity at 1 January 2004 reflects Schibsted’s share of estimated IFRS-adjustments to equity in asso-
ciated companies, mainly related to pension obligations. Net income for 2004 has been affected by Schibsted’s share of
IFRS-adjustments to net income of associated companies and the reversal of goodwill amortisation included in income from
associated companies in accordance with NGAAP. 

Business combinations / goodwill
Under NGAAP, goodwill is amortised over expected useful life. Under IFRS goodwill is not amortised, but an impairment loss is
recognised if the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount. Amortisation of goodwill as recognised in the NGAAP
financial statements for 2004 has thus been reversed. The impairment loss related to goodwill reflected in the NGAAP financial
statements for 2004 has been increased in the IFRS financial statements to reflect the effect of reversed amortisation in 2004.

Goodwill and other excess values related to business combinations prior to 1 January 2004 are under NGAAP recognised as
assets nominated in the functional currency of the acquiring company. Under IFRS such assets are recognised as assets nominated
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in the functional currency of the acquired company. The translation effect as at 1 January 2004 has been charged to equity.

Other differences
Other differences are related to property, plant and equipment. Generally such assets are recognised in the IFRS balance
sheet as at 1 January 2004 at depreciated cost as recognised under NGAAP. Following the requirement under IFRS to separa-
tely depreciate any significant component of property, plant and equipment, a requirement which is not fully in line with
NGAAP practice the depreciation related to certain material components of property, plant and equipment has been recalcu-
lated and the difference between accumulated recalculated depreciation and actual accumulated depreciation under NGAAP
has been charged to equity as at 1 January 2004. Adjusted depreciation periods have led to an increased depreciation charge
under IFRS in 2004.

Borrowing costs related to assets constructed by the Group are included in the cost of property plant and equipment under
NGAAP. Under IFRS such borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

Deferred tax
No differences have been identified with respect to deferred taxes. 

Some of the adjustments described above create adjusted temporary differences and thereby also affect deferred tax. These
adjustments are presented net of tax in the reconciliations of net income 2004 and equity at 1 January 2004 and 
31 December 2004 as presented below.

Classification and presentation
When preparing income statement and balance sheets in accordance with IFRS certain reclassifications compared to previous
NGAAP presentation have been made. First year repayment of long-term debt, which under NGAAP has been classified under
non-current liabilities, is classified under IFRS as current liabilities. Income from associated companies, which under NGAAP
has been presented as a financial item, is under IFRS, as the investments are considered to be strategic and related to opera-
tions, included in operating profit.

Cash flow statement
The transition to IFRS does not affect the group’s cash flows. IFRS-adjustments to consolidated net income involve some
changes in classification under Cash flow from operating activities.

The reconciliation of reported equity in accordance with Schibsted’s previously reported annual financial statements under
NGAAP and the opening balance under IFRS as at 1 January 2004 can be summarised as follows:

MAJORITY MINORITY 

SHARE SHARE TOTAL

Equity as at 31.12.2003 NGAAP 2 346 184 2 530
IFRS-adjustments:
Dividends accrued 203 4 207
Pension liabilities (net of tax) (189) - (189)
Associated companies (52) - (52)
Business combinations / goodwill (9) - (9)
Other differences (net of tax) (16) - (16)
Equity as at 01.01.2004 IFRS 2 283 188 2 471

The reconciliation of reported equity in accordance with Schibsted’s previously reported annual financial statements under
NGAAP and the balance sheet under IFRS as at 31 December 2004 can be summarised as follows:

MAJORITY MINORITY 

SHARE SHARE TOTAL

Equity as at 31.12.2004 NGAAP 2 273 123 2 396
IFRS-adjustments: -
Dividends accrued 221 15 236
Pension liabilities (net of tax) (209) (2) (211)
Associated companies (46) - (46)
Business combinations / goodwill 70 4 74
Other differences (net of tax) (18) - (18)
Equity as at 31.12.2004 IFRS 2 291 140 2 431

The reconciliation of reported net income in accordance with Schibsted’s previously reported annual financial statements
under NGAAP and the net income 2004 under IFRS can be summarised as follows:

MAJORITY MINORITY 

SHARE SHARE TOTAL

Net income 2004 NGAAP 173 68 241
IFRS-adjustments:
Share-based payment (1) - (1)
Net pension expense (net of tax) (18) - (18)
Associated companies 6 - 6
Business combinations / goodwill 82 4 86
Other differences (net of tax) (1) - (1)
Net income 2004 IFRS 241 72 313
Earnings per share NGAAP (NOK) 2.55
Earnings per share IFRS (NOK) 3.55

Changes in accounting policies
Schibsted has implemented IAS 32 and 39 on Financial instruments from 1.1.2005. In accordance with the exemption in IFRS
1 the changes in accounting policies that follow from these standards are not applied retrospectively. The accounting policies
previously applied (NGAAP) are therefore used in comparative figures for earlier periods for items within the scope of IAS 39.
The effect of  changes in accounting policies are adjusted against equity as at 1.1.2005 and the most significant changes rela-
te to the following matters:
- Investments in shares were under accounting policies previously applied, measured at the lower of cost and fair value with

changes in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. Under IFRS such shares are classified as “available for sale”. The
shares are measured at fair value and changes in fair value are recognised in a separate component of equity. The increase
in equity as at 1.1.2005 reflects the difference between fair value and the carrying amount under previously applied accoun-
ting policies based on the “lower of cost and market principle”. The income statement for 2004 includes income of NOK 9
million relating to the reversal of previous period impairment losses on such shares. Had IAS 39  been applied also in com-
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parable figures for 2004, this change in fair value of NOK 9 million would have had to be adjusted to equity.
- Certain financial instruments were under previously applied accounting policies measured at amortised cost. Under IFRS

these are measured at fair value with change in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
- The implementation of IAS 39 has also affected the equity of certain associated companies. The Schibsted group’s share of

such adjustments has been charged to equity

The effect on equity is NOK 58 million which is shown in the statement of changes in equity.

The tables below show the group’s financial statements in accordance with accounting policies previously applied (NGAAP):

Income statement - Group
NGAAP NGAAP

2004 2003

Operating revenues 9 690 8 555
Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods (1 894) (1 774)
Personnel expenses (2 805) (2 591)
Depreciation and amortisation (374) (354)
Other operating expenses (3 733) (3 057)
Operating profit before goodwill and other revenues and expenses 884 779
Amortisation goodwill (92) (61)
Write-downs goodwill (72) -
Other revenues and expenses (394) (17)
Operating profit 326 701
Income from associated companies 124 34
Financial income 49 92
Financial expenses (87) (146)
Profit before tax 412 681
Taxes (171) (197)
Net income 241 484
Net income attributable to minority interests 68 15
Net income attributable to majority interests 173 469

Earnings per share (NOK) 2.55 6.92
Diluted earnings per share (NOK) 2.55 6.92
Earnings per share - adjusted (NOK) 9.05 7.93
Diluted earnings per share - adjusted  (NOK) 9.05 7.93

Balance sheet at 31 December - Group
NGAAP NGAAP

(NOK MILL) 2004 2003

ASSETS
Deferred tax assets 198 87
Goodwill and other intangible assets 1 243 933
Tangible fixed assets 2 238 2 650
Investments in associated companies 1 313 828
Investments in other shares 165 79
Other financial fixed assets 64 259
Fixed assets 5 221 4 836
Inventories 106 110
Receivables 1 416 1 113
Investments 58 47
Cash and bank deposits 532 810
Current assets 2 112 2 080
Total assets 7 333 6 916

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital 69 69
Own shares (1) (1)
Ohter paid-in capital 81 76
Other equity 2 124 2 202
Majority’s share of equity 2 273 2 346
Minority interests 123 184
Equity 2 396 2 530
Deferred tax liabilities 92 58
Pension liabilities 479 447
Other provisions 7 208
Interest bearing long term debt 1 831 1 624
Other long term liabilities 85 2
Long-term liabilities and provisions 2 494 2 339
Tax payable 180 101
Other current liabilities 2 263 1 946
Current liabilities 2 443 2 047
Total equity and liabilities 7 333 6 916
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Cash flow statement – Group

NGAAP NGAAP

2004 2003

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxes 412 681
Income from associated companies (78) (34)
Dividends received from associated companies 60 68
Taxes paid (135) (179)
Sales losses / (gains) fixed assets (58) 2
Depreciation and write-downs intangible and tangible fixed assets 823 418
Write-downs financial fixed assets 5 11
Change in working capital 57 (13)

Net cash flow from operating activities 1 086 954

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investments in intangible and tangible fixed assets (215) (263)
Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (502) (180)
Proceeds from sale of intangible and tangible fixed assets 18 6
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries, net of cash sold - (2)
Investments in / sale of other shares (540) (18)
Other investments / sales (26) 47

Net cash flow from investing activities (1 265) (410)

Net cash flow before financing (179) 544

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New long term interest bearing debt 352 935
Repayment of long term interest bearing debt (257) (1 101)
Minority’s contribution and withdrawal of capital (11) 2
Purchase / sale of own shares 20 (22)
Dividends paid (203) (135)

Net cash flow from financing activities (99) (321)

Net cash flow for the year (278) 223

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 810 587

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 532 810
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Income statement – Schibsted ASA

(NOK MILLION) NOTE 2005 2004

Operating revenues 2 2 1

Personnel expenses 3 (68) (56)
Depreciation and amortisation 4 (1) (1)
Other operating expenses 5 (72) (57)

Operating profit (loss) (139) (113)

Financial income 6 759 346
Financial expenses 6 (12) (9)
Net financial items 747 337

Profit before taxes 608 224

Taxes 7 (108) (48)

Net income 500 176

Information on:
Proposed dividends (285) (221)
Group contribution payable (gross) (206) (121)
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Balance sheet at 31 December – Schibsted ASA

(NOK MILLION) NOTE 2005 2004

ASSETS

Licences 4 1 1
Deferred tax asset 7 13 13
Intangible fixed assets 14 14

Tangible fixed assets 4 8 6

Investments in subsidiaries 8 1 322 1 075
Investments in associated companies 8 411 388
Investments in other shares 8 25 26
Financial fixed assets 1 758 1 489

Fixed assets 1 780 1 509

Receivables 9 634 294
Cash and bank deposits 10 7 9
Current assets 641 303

Total assets 2 421 1 812

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital 69 69
Treasury shares (2) (1)
Share premium reserve 76 76
Other paid-in capital 10 5
Paid-in capital 153 149

Other equity 997 919
Retained earnings 997 919

Equity 12 1 150 1 068

Pension liabilities 13 35 33
Provisions 35 33

Current liabilities 14 1 236 711

Total equity and liabilities 2 421 1 812



Cash flow statement – Schibsted ASA

(NOK MILLION) 2005 2004

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxes 608 224
Taxes paid (13) -
Depreciation and amortisation 1 1
Gain on sale of fixed assets (5) -
Share-based payment 2 -
Group contributions included in financial income (612) (287)
Change in short-term receivables (15) 95
Change in current liabilities 76 10
Difference between pension cost and cash flow related to pension plans 2 5

Net cash flow from operating activities 44 48 

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments on purchase of tangible fixed assets (3) (1)
Payments on purchase of equity investments (121) (2)
Receipts on sale of shares 5 1

Net cash flow from investing activities (119) (2)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New short-term interest-bearing debt 259 44
Group contributions received (net) 169 97
Dividends paid (221) (203)
Purchase / sale of treasury shares (134) 19

Net cash flow from financing activities 73 (43)

Net cash flow for the year (2) 3

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 9 6

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 7 9
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Notes to the financial statements – Schibsted ASA

All amounts are in NOK million unless otherwise stated.

Note 1: Accounting policies

The financial statements of Schibsted ASA have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Norwegian
Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting principles in Norway.

Revenue recognition 
Operating revenues are recognised when the goods are delivered or the service rendered. 

Classification 
Assets and liabilities related to the normal operating cycle are classified as current assets and current liabilities. Receivables
and liabilities not related to the normal operating cycle are classified as current if they are of a short-term nature, normally
due within one year. Shares and other investments not intended for continued use or ownership are classified as current
assets. Other assets are classified as fixed assets  and other liabilities as long term. 

Shares
Shares are measured at cost and are written down if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The write-down is
reversed if the basis for the write-down is no longer present. 

Group contributions received are included in financial income provided that the group contribution received does not repre-
sent a repayment of capital invested. Group contributions that represent a repayment of capital invested are accounted for as
a reduction in the cost of investments in subsidiaries. Net group contributions payable (gross group contributions less the
associated tax effect) is included in the cost of investments in subsidiaries. Dividends from associated companies are inclu-
ded in financial income. 

Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets 
Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and write-downs. Tangible
fixed assets and intangible assets with limited useful lives are depreciated over the expected useful life. Tangible fixed assets
and intangible assets are written down if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of net sales value and the present value of future cash flows expected to be generated. Write-downs are reversed
if the basis for the write-down is no longer present. 

Leasing 
Leasing agreements are classified as financial or operational based on the actual content of the agreement. Agreements
transferring substantially all the financial rights and obligations related to the leased object to Schibsted are classified as
financial. Tangible fixed assets held under financial lease agreements are recognised in the balance sheet and depreciated
over the estimated useful life of the asset. The present value of lease payments is included in long-term interest-bearing debt.
The debt is reduced by the amount of lease payments less the effective interest rate. Other lease agreements are classified
as operational and the annual leasing fee is charged to expense as a leasing expense. 

Foreign currency 
Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet. Foreign currency gains
and losses are reported in the income statement in the line items Other financial income or financial expenses.

Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are measured at realisable value. Provisions are made for bad debts.

Treasury shares 
The cost of acquisition and proceeds from sale of treasury shares are offset against equity. 

Pension cost
Pension liabilities related to defined benefit plans are measured at the net present value of future pension benefits earned at
the balance sheet date and calculated on the basis of assumptions for, among others, the discount rate, expected future
wage growth and pension adjustments. Plan assets are measured at fair value. Net pension liabilities related to under-funded
plans are recorded as provisions, while the net assets of over-funded plans are recorded in financial fixed assets. Net pension
expense, which is gross pension expense less the expected return on plan assets adjusted for past service cost and the
effects of changes in estimates, are included in personnel expenses. Changes in pension liabilities due to amendments in
pension plans are included in net pension expense over the vesting period or immediately if the benefits are immediately
vested. Changes in pension liabilities and plan assets, due to changes in and deviations from the calculation assumptions, are
included in net pension expense over the average remaining working lives of participants for that part of the accumulated
effect that exceeds 10% of the greater of plan assets or pension liabilities. In the case of pension plans that are defined as
contribution plans for accounting purposes the premiums are charged to pension expenses for the period.

Share-based payment 
The fair value of options granted to employees, measured at grant date, is charged to expense as personnel expenses over
the vesting period. Related social security costs, calculated on the difference between the exercise price and share price at
the balance sheet date, are charged over the vesting period. 

Income taxes
The tax charge is calculated from the profit (loss) before tax and comprises current taxes and the change in deferred taxes.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in accordance with the liability method without discounting and provided for
all differences between the carrying amount in the balance sheet and the tax base of assets and liabilities, and for unused tax
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised only when it is expected that the benefit can be realised through sufficient taxable
profits from expected future earnings. 

Contingent liabilities 
Contingent liabilities are recognised if it is more probable than not that the liability will become effective. The best estimate of
amounts to be paid is included in other provisions in the balance sheet. Other obligations, for which no liability is recognised,
are disclosed in notes to the financial statements. 

Dividend
The dividend for the financial year, as proposed by the Board of Directors,  is recognized as liability as at 31.12.

Cash flow statement 
The cash flow statement is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits and
other monetary instruments with a maturity of less than three months at the date of purchase. 
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Changes in accounting policies
Schibsted ASA, as parent company in a group which presents consolidated financial statements under IFRS, has in 2005
adopted  IAS 19 Employee Benefits for accounting of pension expenses. The change is implemented in accordance with NRS
6A Application of IAS 19 under Norwegian accounting legislation.

The change implies that unrecognised actuarial losses are charged to equity as at 1 January 2004. The change in policy 
involves a reduction in equity as at 1 January 2004 of NOK 7 million (net after tax), see note 12, Equity. Comparative figures
for previous years have been restated and involved increased net pension expense of NOK 1 million.  

Note 2: Operating revenues

Operating revenues consist of:

2005 2004

Operating revenues 2 1
Total 2 1

Operating revenues consist of accounting fees and other fees for assistance Schibsted ASA provides to companies in the
group.  

Note 3: Personnel expenses and average number of employees

Personnel expenses consist of:

2005 2004

Salaries and wages 42 33
Social security costs 8 10
Net pension expense (note 13) 10 8
Other personnel expenses 6 5
Share-based payment 2 -
Total 68 56

The average number of employees in 2005 was 62 including trainees. With regard to salaries and share-based payment to
group management, see notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Note 4: Tangible fixed assets and licences

EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE, VEHICLES LICENCES

Cost as at 1 January 2005 37 1
Additions 3 -
Disposals at cost - -
Cost as at 31 December 2005 40 1

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation 1 January 2005 (31) -
Depreciation and amortisation for the year (1) -
Disposals - -
Accumulated depreciation and amortisation 31 December 2005 (32) -

Carrying amount 31 December 2005 8 1

Depreciation method Linear Linear
Depreciation period 3 – 10 years 3 – 5 years

Depreciation charge includes depreciation of leasehold improvements of NOK 0.8 million.
Annual operating lease payments amounts to NOK 14 million.
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Note 5: Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses consist of:

2005 2004

Rent, maintenance etc 14 15
Office and administrative expenses 15 12
Professional fees 28 20
Travel, meetings and marketing 15 10
Total 72 57

Note 6: Financial items

Financial items consist of:

2005 2004

Group contributions received 612 287
Dividends from associated companies 142 50
Other financial income 5 9
Total 759 346

Financial expenses consist of:

2005 2004

Interest expenses cash pool system (note 10) 12 9
Total 12 9

Note 7: Taxes

Set out below is a specification of the difference between the profit before taxes and taxable income for the year:

2005 2004

Profit before taxes 608 224
Permanent differences (215) (57)
Change in temporary differences - 7
Taxable income 393 174

Tax rate 28 % 28 %

Tax payable and the year’s tax charge is calculated as follows:
2005 2004

Calculated current taxes 110 49
Current taxes related to group contributions payable (58) (34)
Taxes payable 52 15

Calculated current taxes 110 49
Tax related to treasury shares credited to equity - 1
Excess tax provided in previous years (2) -
Change in deferred tax asset - (2)
Tax charge 108 48

The net deferred tax asset consists of the following:
2005 2004

Temporary differences related to:
Tangible fixed assets (4) (5)
Pension liabilities (35) (33)
Other short-term liabilities (6) (7)
Total basis for deferred tax asset (45) (45)

Tax rate 28 % 28 %

Net deferred tax liability (asset) (13) (13)
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Note 8: Investments in shares

OWNERSHIP % CARRYING

31.12.05 LOCATION AMOUNT

Shares in subsidiaries
20 MIN Holding AS 100.00 Oslo 1
Aftenposten AS 100.00 Oslo 30
Basefarm AS 59.11 Oslo 77
Metronome AS 100.00 Oslo 129
Osloavisen AS 100.00 Oslo -
Schibsted Eiendom AS 100.00 Oslo 116
Schibsted Finans AS 100.00 Oslo 290
Schibsted Multimedia AB 100.00 Stockholm -
Schibsted Multimedia AS 100.00 Oslo 196
Schibsted Print Media AS 100.00 Oslo 392
Schibsted TV. Film og Forlag AS 100.00 Oslo 46
SFI Holding AS 70.00 Oslo 20
Verdens Gang AS 100.00 Oslo 25
Total 1 322

Group contributions payable to subsidiaries, NOK 149 million (net), is capitalised as part of investments in subsidiaries.

Shares in associated companies
Adresseavisen ASA 35.73 Trondheim 128
Bergens Tidende AS 22.67 Bergen 79
Fædrelandsvennen AS 25.00 Kristiansand 15
Fædrelandsvennen Trykkeri AS 25.00 Kristiansand -
Stavanger Aftenblad ASA 31.57 Stavanger 61
TV 2 AS 33.37 Bergen 128
Total 411

Other shares
Asker og Bærums Budstikke ASA 10.20 Billingstad 21
Harstad Tidende AS 11.21 Harstad 3
Scanpix Scandinavia AB 13.32 Stockholm 1
Stålfjæra ANS 0.10 Oslo -
Total 25

Ownership (%) equals share of control.

Note 9: Receivables

Receivables consist of:

2005 2004

Short-term receivables from group companies 625 292
Other receivables 9 2
Total 634 294

Note 10: Cash and bank deposits

Schibsted ASA’s bank account is included in the Schibsted Group’s cash pool system with Danske Bank. The cash pool sys-
tem has been established to contribute to an optimal liquidity management for the Schibsted Group. As at 31.12.2005
Schibsted ASA had drawn NOK 583 million on sub-accounts in the cash pool system, which is managed and controlled by
Schibsted Finans AS. The overdraft is included in short-term liabilities in the balance sheet.
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Note 11: Ownership structure

The 20 largest shareholder as at 31 December 2005: 
NUMBER OF SHARES INTEREST IN %

Blommenholm Industrier AS v/Tinius Nagell-Erichsen 18 083 520 26.11 
State Street Bank & Trust Co 6 053 091 8.74
JPMorgan Chase Bank 5 655 497 8.17
Folketrygdfondet 5 522 300 7.97
Fidelity Funds  2 989 800 4.32
Mellon Bank 2 960 800 4.26
Schibsted ASA 2 081 551 3.01
Orkla ASA 2 022 000 2.92
Vital Forsikring ASA 1 167 176 1.69
State Street Bank & Trust Co 901 164 1.30
DnB Nor Bank ASA 699 852 1.01
Guri Scotford’s Schibsted Trust 650 000 0.94
Svenska Handelsbanken 589 541 0.85
Danske Bank AS 509 070 0.74
Fidelity Funds 450 500 0.65
The Northern Trust 445 329 0.64
Euroclear Bank S.A 427 833 0.62
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken 416 312 0.60
Pareto Aksje Norge 369 600 0.56
Citigroup Global 353 313 0.51

Total 20 largest shareholders 52 348 249 75.59

Numbers of shares owned by Board of Directors and Group Management:
NUMBER OF SHARES

Berit Bjerg 742
Monica Birgitta Caneman -
Grete Faremo -
Alexandra Bech Gjørv -
Hilde Harbo 949
Cato A. Holmsen 3 200
Gunnar Nordby 705
Christian Ringnes 10 850
Finn Einar Steen -
Ole Jacob Sunde 75 000
Kjell Aamot 16 749
Trond Berger 5 573
Jan Erik Knarbakk 4 523
Birger Magnus 9 046
Sverre Munck 3 496
Gunnar Strømblad 1 840

Total Board of Directors and Group Management 132 673

The total number of shares outstanding in Schibsted ASA as at 31.12.2005 was 69,250,000 and the number of shareholders
was 4,201. Foreign ownership was 47.21%. Schibsted ASA owned 2.081.551 treasury shares as at 31.12.2005.

Note 12: Equity

The development in the company’s equity in 2004 and 2005 is as follows:

SHARE OTHER

TREASURY PREMIUM PAID-IN OTHER

SHARE CAPITAL SHARES RESERVE CAPITAL EQUITY TOTAL

Equity as at 31.12.2003 69 (1) 76 - 957 1 101
Change in accounting policy pension liabilities 
(net after tax) - - - - (7) (7)
Equity as at 1.1.2004 69 (1) 76 - 950 1 094
Sale of treasury shares - - - 5 14 19
Net income - - - - 176 176
Dividends accrued - - - - (221) (221)
Equity as at 31.12.04 69 (1) 76 5 919 1 068
Sale of treasury shares - - - 3 3 6
Purchase of treasury shares - (1) - - (140) (141)
Share-based payment - - - 2 - 2
Net income - - - - 500 500
Dividends accrued - - - - (285) (285)
Equity as at 31.12.05 69 (2) 76 10 997 1 150

Schibsted ASA’s share capital consists of 69,250,000 shares of NOK 1 par value. The par value of treasury shares is 
presented in a separate line within paid-in capital with a negative amount. 
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Note 13: Pension plans

As at 31.12.2005 the company’s pension plan had 71 members. With regards to a description of the pension plans and the
principal assumptions, se note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The development in the net pension liability has been as follows :
2005 2004

As at 1 January 33 28
Net pension expense 10 8
Contributions / benefits paid (8) (3)
As at 31 December 35 33

Breakdown of net pension expense:
2005 2004

Current service cost 8 6
Interest cost on pension liability 4 4
Expected return on plan assets (3) (3)
Social security tax 1 1
Net pension expense 10 8

Breakdown of net pension liabilities at 31 December:
2005 2004

Present value of funded obligations (74) (73)
Plan assets 51 50
Present value of funded obligations, net (23) (23)
Present value of unfunded obligations (16) (15)
Unrecognised net actuarial losses 8 10
Social security tax (4) (5)
Net pension liability (35) (33)

Note 14: Current liabilities

Current liabilities consist of:

2005 2004

Trade creditors 5 5
Taxes payable (note 7) 52 15
Public duties payable 5 7
Dividends accrued 285 221
Short term liabilities group companies (cash pool system) (note 10) 583 322
Short-term liabilities to group companies 283 122
Other current liabilities 23 19
Total 1 236 711

Note 15: Guarantees and provision of security

2005 2004

Guarantees for loans and drawing facilities on behalf of group companies 3 744 3 889
Other guarantees on behalf of group companies 126 126
Other guarantees 14 14
Total 3 884 4 029

With regard to guarantees for loans and drawing facilities of NOK 3.8 billion, NOK 1.5 billion had been drawn on the loan faci-
lity at the end of 2005. NOK 1.6 billion had been drawn at the end of 2004. Other guarantees on behalf of group companies
relate to guarantees towards Danske Bank for up to NOK 125 million in respect of guarantees for tax withholdings and other
guarantees to Schibsted’s group companies. There are also guarantees for loans to employees in the group of NOK 10 million,
as well as unfunded pension liabilities of NOK 4 million. With regard to loans to group management see note 8 to the consoli-
dated financial statements.
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Company Structure

NEWSPAPERS
20 Min Holding AS 100,0 %
 20 Min Holding AG  100,0 %
 20 Minutos España S.A.  100,0 %
Aftenposten AS 100,0 %

Aftenposten Multimedia AS  100,0 %
 FINN.no AS  62,0 %

Retriever Sverige AB  100,0 %
Aftonbladet Hierta AB *) 100,0 %

Aftonbladet Allt Om AB  100,0 %
Aftonbladet Nya Medier AB  100,0 %

 Blocket AB  68,6 %
 Byt Bil Nordic AB  80,3 %
 Hierta Affärsutveckling AB  100,0 %
 Hittapunktse AB  96,7 %
 TA Teleadress Holding AB  96,7 %
Harstad Tidende Gruppen AS 50,6 %
 Harstad Tidende AS  100,0 %
 Troms Folkeblad AS  100,0 %
Svenska Dagbladet AB 99,4 %
 N24.se AB  99,6 %
Verdens Gang AS 100,0 %

Avisretur AS  50,1 %
 VG Multimedia AS  100,0 %
  
  
REGIONAL NEWSPAPERS

Stavanger Aftenblad ASA  32,4 %
 Fædrelandsvennen AS  25,0 %
 Bergens Tidende AS  24,4 %

Adresseavisen ASA  35,7 %
  
  
SCHIBSTED BALTICS
AS Eesti Meedia 92,5 %

Arjakirjade Kirjastus  50,0 %
AS Postimees  100,0 %
AS SL Õhtuleht  50,0 %

AS Schibsted Baltics 100,0 %
 UAB urnal Leidybos Grup (ZLG)  66,7 %
 UAB Extra Zinos  51,0 %

PRINTING PLANTS
Schibsted Trykk AS 100,0 %
AS Kroonpress  99,7 %
HTG Trykk AS  100,0 %
  
  
PICTURES AND NEWS AGENCIES   
Scanpix Scandinavia AB 88 %

Scanpix Norge AS  50 %
Pressens Bild - Scanpix AB  50 %

NTB 21,8 %
Tidningarnas Telegrambyrå AB 30,0 %

FILM AND TV PRODUCTIONS   
Metronome Film & Television AB 65,0 %
 Blarke Sonne Levring A/S  100,0 %
 Cosmo Televisjon AS  51,0 %
 Decimeter Film & TV AB  100,0 %

European Film Group A/S  100,0 %
 Filmlance International AB  60,0 %
 Metrix Interactive AB  100,0 %
 Meteor Films OÛ  100,0 %
 Meter Film & Television AB  100,0 %
 Metronome Film & Television Oy  100,0 %
 Metronome Productions A/S  100,0 %
 Metronome Spartacus AS  83,3 %
 Moland Film Company A/S  100,0 %
 Moland Film Company AS  100,0 %
 Mutter Media AB  100,0 %
 Otto Tuotanto Oy  100,0 %

Rettighetsselskapet Intrige AS  55,6 %
Rubicon TV AS  100,0 %
Studios A/S  100,0 %
Studios AS  100,0 %
Studios Mekaniken AB  100,0 %

  
DISTRIBUTION AND RIGHTS   
Sandrew Metronome AB 50,0 %

Sandrew Metronome Distribusjon Sverige AB  100,0 %
Sandrew Metronome Internatilonal AB  100,0 %
Sandrew Metronome Danmark A/S  100,0 %
Sandrew Metronome Video Danmark A/S  100,0 %
Sandrew Metronome Bio Danmark A/S  100,0 %
Sandrew Metronome Finland OY AB  95,0 %
Sandrew Metronome Distribusjon Finland OY AB  100,0 %
Sandrew Metronome Norge AS  100,0 %

TV  
TV2 Gruppen AS 33,4 %
TV 4 AB 27,0 %
AS Kanal 2 100,0 %
  
SCHIBSTED PUBLISHING COMPANIES
Schibsted Forlagene AS 100,0 %
 Boknöje AB  100,0 %

Schibsted Förlagen AB  100,0 %
Svenska Förlaget AB  100,0 %

 Manga Media  50,0 %
 Dagens Medisin  50,0 %
    
OTHER
Schibsted Eiendom AS 100,0 %
Basefarm AS 73,6 %
Schibsted Multimedia AS 100,0 %
Compraventa S.L. 100,0 %
Internettkatalogen.no AS 100,0 %
Schibsted Finans AS 100,0 %
Aspiro 43,8 %

Schibsted Ownership
Subsidiary’s Ownership

TV, Film and PublishingNewspapers
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*Aftonbladet Hierta AB is owned by Schibsted and the Swedish Federation of Trade Unions.
The Swedish Federation of Trade Unions owns 50.1% of the voting shares through prefer-
ence shares with a fixed annual yield (SEK 3.6 million). Schibsted owns 49.9% of the voting
shares and is the owner responsible for Aftonbladet’s industrial and financial development.
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Addresses

Aftenposten 
Biskop Gunnerus gate 14
P.O. Box 1
NO-0051 OSLO, Norway
Telephone: + 47 22 86 30 00
Fax: + 47 22 86 40 39
E-mail: aftenposten@aftenposten.no
www.aftenposten.no

Aftonbladet
Arenavägen 63, Globen City
SE-105 18 STOCKHOLM, Sweden
Telephone: + 46 8 725 20 00
Fax: + 46 8 600 01 70 (administration)
+ 46 8 600 01 77 (editorial office)
E-mail: ettan@aftonbladet.se(tips)
lasarservice@aftonbladet.se (readers’ service)
www.aftonbladet.se

Aspiro AB
Gråbrödersgatan 2
SE-211 21 MALMÖ, Sweden
Telephone: +46 40 630 03 00
Fax: +46 40 57 97 71
E-mail: information@aspiro.com
www.aspiro.no

Dagens Medisin 
Apotekergaten 12
P.O. Box. 6970 St. Olavs plass
NO-0130 OSLO, Norway
Telephone: + 47 24 14 68 70
Fax: + 47 24 14 68 71
E-mail: post@dagensmedisin.no
www.dagensmedisin.no

Eesti Meedia Group
Maakri 23a
EE-10145 TALLIN, Estonia
Telephone: + 372 666 2350
Fax: + 372 666 2351
E-mail: mart.kadastik@eestimeedia.ee
www.eestimeedia.ee

FINN.no 
Grensen 5
P.O. Box 1178 Sentrum
NO-0107 OSLO, Norway
Telephone: + 47 22 86 44 10
Fax: + 47 22 82 78 23
E-mail: kundesenter@finn.no
www.finn.no

Harstad Tidende Gruppen 
Storgata 11
P.O. Box. 85
NO-9481 HARSTAD, Norway
Telephone: + 47 77 01 80 00
Fax: + 47 77 01 80 06
E-mail: rolf.erstad@htg.no

Metronome Film & Television
Magasin 5, Frihamnen
P.O. Box 27 837
SE-115 93 STOCKHOLM, Sweden
Telephone: + 46 8 459 73 40
Fax: + 46 8 459 73 49
E-mail: ingemar.olsson@metronome.se
www.metronome.se

Näringsliv24
Mäster Samuelsgatan 56
SE-10517 STOCKHOLM, Sweden
Telephone: + 46 8 13 52 00
E-mail: redaktionen@n24.se
www.n24.se

Sandrew Metronome 
Floragatan 4
P.O. Box 5612
SE-114 86 STOCKHOLM, Sweden
Telephone: + 46 8 762 1700
Fax: + 46 8 762 1780
E-mail:
morten.kongrod@sandrewmetronome.com
www.sandrewmetronome.se
www.sandrewmetronome.no
www.sandrewmetronome.dk
www.sandrewmetronome.fi

Scanpix Sweden AB  Gjörwellsgatan 30
SE-112 88 STOCKHOLM, Sweden
Telephone: + 46 8 738 3800
Fax: + 46 8 738 3870
E-mail: ledningen@scanpix.se
www.scanpix.se

Scanpix Norge
Akergaten 55
P.O. Box 1185 Sentrum
NO-0107 OSLO, Norway
Telephone: + 47 22 00 32 00
Fax: + 47 22 00 32 10
E-mail: salg@scanpix.no
www.scanpix.no

Schibsted Forlagene
Apotekergaten 12
P.O. Box 6974 St. Olavs plass
NO-0130 OSLO, Norway
Telephone: + 47 24 14 68 00
Fax: + 47 24 14 68 01
E-mail:
schibstedforlagene@schibstedforlagene.no
www.schibstedforlagene.no

Schibsted Søk
Apotekergaten 10
P.O. Box 277 Sentrum
NO-0103 OSLO, Norway

Telephone: + 47 23 35 55 30
Fax: + 47 23 35 55 49
E-mail: info@sesam.no
www.sesam.no

Schibsted Trykk 
Sandakerveien 121
P.O. Box 4583 Nydalen
NO-0404 OSLO, Norway
Telephone: + 47 23 39 10 00
Fax: + 47 23 39 10 01
E-mail: schibsted.trykk@strykk.no

Svenska Dagbladet 
Mäster Samuelsgatan 56
SE-105 17 STOCKHOLM, Sweden
Telephone: + 46 8 13 50 00
Fax: + 46 8 13 58 50
E-mail: webmaster@svd.se
www.svd.se

Svenska Förlaget
Döbelnsgatan 21
P.O. Box 3313
SE-103 66 STOCKHOLM, Sweden
Telephone: + 46 8 412 27 00
Fax: + 46 8 411 41 30
E-mail: lena.kjellgren@svenskaforlaget.com
www.svenskaforlaget.com

Verdens Gang 
Akersgaten 55
P.O. Box 1185 Sentrum
NO-0107 OSLO, Norway
Telephone: + 47 22 00 00 00
Fax: + 47 22 42 67 80
E-mail: info@vg.no
www.vg.no

20 Min Holding
Apotekergaten 10
P.o. Box 490 Sentrum
NO-0105 OSLO, Norway
Telephone: + 47 23 10 66 00
Fax: + 47 23 10 66 01
E-mail: info@20minutes.com
www.20minuten.ch
www.20minutes.fr
www.20minutos.es

Schibsted ASA
Apotekergaten 10
P.O. Box 490 Sentrum
NO-0105 OSLO, Norway
Telephone + 47 23 10 66 00
Fax + 47 23 10 66 01
E-mail: schibsted@schibsted.no
www.schibsted.no

The addresses of all Schibsted’s subsidiaries
can be found at www.schibsted.no



Schibsted ASA, Apotekergaten 10, P.O. Box 490 Sentrum, NO-0105 OSLO Norway

Telephone: +47 23 10 66 00 Fax: +47 23 10 66 01

E-mail: schibsted@schibsted.no

www. schibsted.no
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